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Five Year Financial Highlights

(B 5 45 B 15 4F > ¥ LA JC 3 v~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
$°000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $°000
BEEL Results of operations
A Revenue 575,690 760,510 894,240 1,099,994 1,246,262
EH Gross profit 352,461 433,212 524,604 687,375 797,917
ESRE Gross profit margin 61.2% 57.0% 58.7% 62.5% 64.0%
4% (ks 48) % B (Loss)/profit from operations (72,828) (104,525) (112,971) 50,407 185,056
M (ER) Operating margin
T A 2% -12.7% -13.7% -12.6% 4.6% 14.8%
G W AN E Net valuation gains on
W %5 i3 A investment properties 3,770 7,400 5,185 44,950 28,700
EERCECS<EE S Net gain on disposal of an
W %5 i A investment property 4,378 - - - -
R B R Reversal of provision for
35 A 435 ) indemnity liabilities - - - - 30,024
B g A A Net gain on disposal of
W %5 i A8 subsidiaries 220,790 - 29,845 - -
AATIHER K Profit/(loss) attributable to
JRE A 5 A equity shareholders of
(B 18) the Company 151,023 (97,335) (87,871) 81,095 218,702
A (W k5 18) & Net profit/(loss) margin 26.2% -12.8% -9.8% 7.4% 17.5%
Bz F  (518) Eamnings/(loss) per share
— A — basic $0.91 ($0.59) ($0.53) $0.49 $1.32
B 30 B S Interim dividend per share $0.20 - - $0.10 $0.25
% A A i B Final dividend per share $0.50 $0.10 $0.05 $0.30 $0.80
T B Special dividend per share $4.00 - - - -
IR E % Dividend payout 516.5% -16.9% -9.4% 81.6% 79.5%
B 5RO Financial Position
£ FEH (BT 1)~ Cash (used in)/generated from
A2 B4 operations (51,467) 12,494 (49,706) 8,605 159,795
4 M8 AT4517F  Cash and bank deposits less
W AR AT short-term bank loans and
&t overdrafts 234,486 143,877 75,379 176,499 604,652
T Net current assets 177,268 710,865 327,533 437,526 776,349
M Total assets 961,854 1,326,242 1,452,598 1,629,567 1,803,834
N =K Total liabilities 213,205 165,379 164,817 172,999 229,363
Jik R AE 25 Shareholders’ equity 721,752 1,133,004 1,260,706 1,427,123 1,547,185
A FE Bl R Return on total assets 15.7% -7.3% -6.0% 5.0% 12.1%
% S 45 [ R Return on shareholders’ equity 20.9% -8.6% -7.0% 5.7% 14.1%
it B R (%) Current ratio (times) 1.8 5.4 3.0 3.6 4.5
EA A E R Gearing ratio 0.015 0.006 0.021 0.009 0.011
T 35 I A Ay Number of shares
HH (TR outstanding ('000) 165,864 165,864 165,864 165,864 165,864
AT (E Market capitalisation 978,598 1,293,739 812,734 2,069,983 2,653,824
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Chairman’s Statement
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] HAE R R AR M B EEER WM B
E 4 B TAquascutum | &b i B ik T 8l &
B BT A 265 M BEL & RAR B A 0 lk E HE > B 4F
SR —H A RMAA KU ERA > HEL
TR AR > PO R R R S R s o
fiff 3 AP 48 JE JE B SR HE A0 5 1R IR B o AN A R
P g 2 > 3F BB 42 117,000,000
3% 7T (#7912,960,000 # 7©) WL i ~F— &
A —H =+ = H A 5E o e A4
HMEEREK T -EENA -HE _F—&
HE+—H =0 RS R ALE
B Rl B Ui % 9 F 220,790,000 HE T - 3 A
e AN SR = I & & s B S S

# T
5 B 1] BT K Jg 2

AL 2 FEET 5 FE KA K &
e i o A o] B AF RE R R AR AR EKE
TH M EENEA k% - [Ashworth]
[J.Lindeberg | 25 ik ~ 19 Wi {8 3= 2 50 R > 2% 2648
W W KA LR o
AL FE—LAEZH K FE— LA
+ H #f i THarmont & Blainel #IlTommy
Bahama & bt - 5h W SEHS 1 5 R4 > (B B IRE 2
Bk AT U6 R 2 IRF L o AR 4R @R & — L AR —
A 72 o 3] A b HE H T Guy de Guy Laroche | 1) &
TR (RS B B R A SRR s 4R 1%

v PR B RS R A T o

T2 [Guy Laroche ) 1y 2 R i 4 3 2> » 3 & A=

AT -

W& & H B TAquascutum | B9 SE T - 47 i 1 B
WA EYERBEMM MY ESHTEEA R
YEIEHSBEHIREYE] - BAMKZ R IE
Wy 2E A5 AT Al A o A [l AR R
MR FEBN—HBEEYE A B EkGE
#H4,378,000 % o0 - H At #& &Y E 0 & i A
F&E o AN W IE 2% 58 oE 8E R AL T JLBE

T e KA 2098 M LR -

BE & T E e AR sC S - B L R
il & 5 1Y A D > A W B R &
A5 IE AE B T 5 1l B 9 % A W o SR X

P B B SR B/ R S -

AN AF R T P o AR — {8 AR A E R -

CREEMWNC LTS E RN ) 7Ei

A 4%

b& % & T Aquascutum] » &AM IE K RE 45 /N 2
W5 W A AR S o FRAM gL A KT Y S ]
R A e L R o R TE Ak AL

(IS SO PNL TR D

g

AN G UM B 1) AR A AS 4R I ER
TEEIME T RERGMA LS M
J& K 4 H R B EGH -

e
Bk %&
i ~F— /FEAH LA

3 2017/18 Annual Report

g I

&
S

Group Results

The year under review is a period that our Group disposed of its major
business, all operations in relation to the manufacturing and sales of products
under the Aquascutum brand and the intellectual property rights associated
with the brand, which had given us handsome profits for years until about
three years ago. Those were very tough time as sales dropped and expenses
kept increasing resulting in losses. The board of directors of the Company
decided to divest this business and a successful disposal at a cash
consideration of US$117,000,000 (approximately HK$912,960,000) was
completed on 23 November 2017. The Group consolidated the results of
this disposed operation for the period from 1 April 2017 to 23 November
2017 and recognised a net gain on disposal of HK$220,790,000 during the
year, and a special dividend of HK$4 per ordinary share was paid in February
2018.

Business Review and Prospects

The Group’s principal business is retail and wholesaling of branded garments
and accessories. The retail climate in the Group’s principal operating markets
has improved in the second half of the year under review. Ashworth and
J.Lindeberg are the two main remaining brands which recorded a slight
increase in sales and continue to improve over the past few months. Harmont
& Blaine and Tommy Bahama were launched in March 2017 and October
2017 respectively which show good promise but it is too early to see profit.
The Group started e-business of Guy de Guy Laroche in Mainland China in
January 2017 but the development is still slow at the starting stage and
costs were more than expected.

Guy Laroche in Paris had suffered a reduction in royalty income with some
bad debts.

With the disposal of Aquascutum business, the office premise in London
and the shop premise in Macau are reclassified from properties held for own
use to investment properties. We are receiving a good rental income from
both. An investment property in Hong Kong was sold in the year under
review and recorded a net gain on disposal of HK$4,378,000. Rental income
from other investment properties are steady. The Company is contemplating
to re-develop the industrial buildings at No. 20 Tai Yau Street, San Po Kong,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

There is a reduction of profit from Hong Kong Security Printing with the
general move to paperless transactions. Its wholly owned subsidiary NF
System is developing security device using near field technology. Small initial
sales had been achieved but still incurs small losses.

We had closed the last garment manufacturing operation during the year
with a small loss to compensate all workers.

Outlook

With the disposal of Aquascutum, we are in the process of reducing overhead
to suit the reduced business. New brands are added but need to wait for
profits to be achieved. We foresee a significant increase of rental and financial
income in the future.

Appreciation

| would like to take this opportunity to express my appreciation to the Board
of Directors for their valuable guidance and professional advice and to the
management and staff for their hard work and contributions during the year.

Chan Wing Sun, Samuel

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2018
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Management Discussion and Analysis

T ERBEBE Key Performance Indicators
2018 2017 +/(-)
#EILT L Wt T o S )
HK$’000 HK$'000 change
FHRHE Performance Indicators
A Revenue 575,690 760,510 -24.3%
LA Gross profit 352,461 433,212 -18.6%
SR Gross profit margin 61.2% 57.0% +4.2pp
&R Loss from operations (72,828) (104,525) -30.3%
B e 1E R Operating margin -12.7% -13.7% +1.0pp
AR ) HE i B R A Profit/(loss) attributable to equity
i A (s 18) shareholders of the Company 151,023 (97,335) -255.2%
iR GF 18 F Net profit/(loss) margin 26.2% -12.8% +39.0pp
MERFLE - BLIE - TE K EBITDA
i 815 70 1 22 A (EBITDA) 165,956 (69,820) -337.7%
EBITDA % EBITDA margin 28.8% -9.2% +38.0pp
HE E ] R % Return on total assets 15.7% -7.3% +23.0pp
Y 450K O 3 B Financial Health Indicators
B4 T ARAT &5 A7 Cash and bank deposits less
A SR AT B K K short-term bank loans and overdrafts 234,486 143,877 63.0%
T B Net current assets 177,268 710,865 -75.1%
B E Total assets 961,854 1,326,242 -27.5%
AR Total liabilities 213,205 165,379 28.9%
JB SRORE #i Shareholders’ equity 721,752 1,133,004 -36.3%
i SRHE 4 m] i Return on shareholders’ equity 20.9% -8.6% +29.5pp
I B 3 (f) Current ratio (times) 1.8 5.4 -66.7%
HAA MR Gearing ratio 0.015 0.006 150.0%
3 AT EE Shareholders’ Return Indicators
HIRAF (EHE) — A Earnings/(loss) per share — basic $0.91 ($0.59) -254.2%
(5353 ¥s Dividend per share $4.70 $0.10 4,600.0%
IR B % Dividend payout 516.5% -16.9% +533.4pp
B A BB A S Cash Flow and Capital Expenditure
BEEB TR EE Cash (used in)/generated
Z B from operations (51,467) 12,494 -511.9%
A S — A Capital expenditure — other assets 16,167 20,797 -22.3%

i g ]

MANA N F T L= H A NH T
WEAMN W E I R T AN R F
—LHE ] A VH BB AL =05 I R0
B PR e B ERARA R (' FD AT
S TR (Tl & ek ) - 38 A WA
R b [ B 0 B A R A b R AR A
H] 2 & Iff J& 2~ 7 Aquascutum Holdings Limited
(I Aquascutum Holdings|) Z 2 ¥ B # 47 JBEA »
Bl 4 £t {8 % 117,000,000 3 7t ( 47 912,960,000
o) (M B FHIH ) - Aquascutum Holdings & H:
R J 2 W (T H B 4181 ) 7E 25 B T Aquascutum ]
L A R R g B SR S BRLGZ O M A B
BAC B B R T AR B 4 FE T 0 0 A A RE e i
Z—LHFWHTILH AFHEH R E®
Pk O AN A R E e 2 5 B
SFE—LFEF—H = HEM-

Recent Developments

As described in the Very Substantial Disposal Circular issued by the Company
on 28 March 2017, the Company entered into a disposal agreement (the
“Disposal Agreement”) on 28 February 2017 with an independent third party,
Shandong Ruyi International Fashion Industry Investment Holdings Co., Ltd.
(the “Purchaser”), pursuant to which the Group has conditionally agreed to
sell and the Purchaser has conditionally agreed to purchase the entire issued
share capital of Aquascutum Holdings Limited (“Agquascutum Holdings”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, at a cash consideration of
US$117,000,000 (approximately HK$912,960,000) (the “Disposal”).
Aquascutum Holdings and its subsidiaries (the “Disposal Group”) were
engaged in the manufacturing and sales of products under the “Aquascutum”
brand and the intellectual property rights associated with the brand within the
sales of garments and the licensing of trademarks segments. On 19 April
2017, the ordinary resolution to approve the Disposal Agreement was duly
passed by shareholders of the Company. The Disposal was completed on
23 November 2017.

2017/18 4 #
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Bl - B I N2 NN [l
NAE oW HoZE—tE+—H -+ HE -
HEHARNMWERE  AMKEBEASNTHMNALLE
FH 4 A MBRE AERC K ZF— /NE
A=t HFEELG ARG R PR E
A Y H B IR 5 220,790,000 #5 T ©

R TE > A S ) — [ A B A | R
E-bLERAR -BIE =T - HAEHA
B R EMOEFEYERESR L&
ZH R B S TE ST R TR A R L0 R A S0
By Wi FIEA A EMREM
R AR R R B R ) R
SR AT E W T E A 2 R B B
85,797,000 # 7T % 13,432,000 # 7t » i & A A
BB ) & A HoAh A e i 28 R P RERR o

B oEFz—EFEASH T NE AEEH—H2
I A F B — ST = O SR ET — A B
B — [0 A B v 1 T SR 2 Y B I R O
018 £ 14,678,000 76 » &K B E R F— LF
NAT—HIEM - FrE s s & il 254,378,000
Wt CRAF R &S B R PR -

A A5 [ R B 5E B AR E R - TR R B4R
BgEER o F - LFEILHERTHM
IR T 7S A 4 B 7 A 5 48 B # A 511,129,000
W0 (IR B AR A8 R B g e
S B R B M A T A I ) o

e JUE R

AR WE = — A = H R
1 B R 0 o B R e R A R
e 2 15 3

EHEH

A% 4B [ A 7 4F B B W A £ 575,690,000 3 T (-
E— L4 : 760,510,000 J0) © A K H 2 £ 5#
B AR A B B AR 5 471,169,000 G (. E
— £ 4 1 643,482,000 JC) - R HANA KT 2
T EF TR Uk %5 48 BE £ 54,765,000 #5 ot (&
— L 4F 1 73,407,000 ot ) o B H B A XK &
61.2% (—~F—-LE4 1 57.0%) o

A E A AR B B A5 s A 151,315,000 # JG
(= %F — L 4F: 5 18 99,862,000 # JC ) o %
wh K T8 A R BR OB K O ME R R A 0 B A
136,319,000 5 JC » A% 4F B [H & 5 186 8% 15
3§ Ik 5 220,790,000 3 7T » BLAh > B R E
Yy 2E 1) 1 0k 45 4,378,000 %5 JC B A A 4E B ffE 52
N

Following the completion, the Disposal Group ceased to be subsidiaries of
the Company. Accordingly, the assets, liabilities and results of the Disposal
Group ceased to be consolidated into the consolidated financial statements
of the Company since 24 November 2017. A net gain on disposal of
HK$220,790,000 was recognised during the year ended 31 March 2018.

Because of the Disposal, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered
into a lease contract with an independent third party for the lease of the shop
premise in Macau in May 2017 and the Disposal Group continues the lease
of the office premise in London upon the completion of the Disposal.
Accordingly, the shop premise in Macau and the office premise in London
originally held for own use in previous years were reclassified as investment
properties and valuation gains of HK$85,797,000 and HK$13,432,000
respectively were recognised in other comprehensive income during the year.

On 28 June 2017, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered into
the provisional sale and purchase agreement with an independent third party
for the sale of an industrial premise in Hong Kong at a consideration of
HK$14,678,000. The sale was completed on 11 August 2017 and a net gain
on disposal of HK$4,378,000 was recognised during the year.

The Group’s manufacturing plant in Dongguan was closed before the end of
September 2017 due to losses from operation during the past few years.
Total losses and expenses relating to the closure (including employee benefit
expenses and termination of operating lease, offset by proceeds from disposal
of plant and equipment) of HK$1,129,000 was incurred during the year.

Results of the Group’s Operations

The Group recorded a profit for the year ended 31 March 2018 which was
mainly attributable to a net gain on the Disposal.

Group’s Operations

The Group's revenue for the year was HK$575,690,000 (2017:
HK$760,510,000). Total sales of garments, which is the Group’s core
business, was HK$471,169,000 (2017: HK$643,482,000). Total licensing
of trademarks income from external customers was HK$54,765,000 (2017:
HK$73,407,000). Overall gross profit margin was 61.2% (2017: 57.0%).

The Group recorded a profit for the year of HK$151,315,000 (2017: a loss
of HK$99,862,000). A net gain of HK$220,790,000, after accounting for
provisions for potential PRC customs duties and indemnity liabilities of
HK$136,319,000, derived from the Disposal was recorded for the year. In
addition, a net gain on disposal of an investment property of HK$4,378,000
was recognised for the year.
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In the 1980s, Ashworth created what became known as “the new look of golf,” which not only
changed how golfers dressed, it changed how they thought about what they wore. From that arose
a generation of style-conscious loyalists who favored the fit, feel and style of Ashworth off the course

as well as on it.

Ashworth has multiple critical assets that, combined, promise a bright future: the strength of its
name and heritage, the determination of a deeply talented design and marketing team, and the depth
and distribution power of the Group. These advantages have Ashworth poised to differentiate itself
from the pack while adding contemporary relevance and clarity to the golf lifestyle category.

‘The Group has been the exclusive licensee and distributor of Ashworth since 1998. The retail network

currently covers Hong Kong, Macau, Mainland China and Taiwan.

ASHWORTH
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Total operating expenses for the year was HK$452,494,000 (2017:
HK$526,171,000). Total rental and other occupancy expenses was
HK$173,722,000 (2017: HK$207,486,000) which accounted for 30.2%
(2017: 27.3%) of the Group’s revenue. Total staff costs, including directors’
emoluments of HK$26,858,000 (2017: HK$7,759,000), was HK$189,931,000
(2017: HK$198,576,000) and accounted for 33.0% (2017: 26.1%) of the
Group’s revenue. Total advertising and promotion expenses was
HK$24,165,000 (2017: HK$25,443,000) which accounted for 4.2% (2017:
3.3%) of the Group’s revenue.

Cash Flow from Operations

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group used HK$51,467,000 cash
in operations as against HK$12,494,000 cash generated from operations
for the previous year. Inventories as at 31 March 2018 was HK$74,093,000,
a decrease of HK$1,801,000 from the previous year end.

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had cash and bank deposits net of bank
loans and overdrafts of HK$234,486,000 (31 March 2017: HK$143,877,000),
representing an increase of HK$90,609,000 after dividend payments of
HK$710,073,000 during the year, cash receipts of HK$14,678,000 and
HK$847,064,000 from disposal of an investment property in Hong Kong
and the Disposal respectively. At 31 March 2018, the Group had trading
securities with a fair value of HK$16,253,000 (31 March 2017: HK$195,000).

During the year, the Group spent approximately HK$16,167,000 in additions
and replacement of other property, plant and equipment, compared to
HK$20,797,000 for the previous year.

Group’s Financial Position

The Group financed its operations by internally generated cashflows and
banking facilities provided by its bankers. The Group continues to maintain
a prudent approach in managing its financial requirements.

The Group’s net assets as at 31 March 2018 were HK$748,649,000
(81 March 2017: HK$1,160,863,000). The Group’s gearing ratio at the
end of the year was 0.015 (31 March 2017: 0.006) which was calculated
based on total borrowings of HK$10,478,000 (31 March 2017:
HK$6,627,000) and shareholders’ equity of HK$721,752,000 (31 March
2017: HK$1,133,004,000). The Group’s borrowings are mainly on a floating
rate basis.

The Group also maintains a conservative approach to foreign exchange
exposure management. The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily
through income and expenditure streams denominated in United States
Dollars, Pound Sterling, Euros, Renminbi Yuan and Japanese Yen. To
manage currency risk, non Hong Kong Dollar assets are financed primarily
by matching local currency debts as far as possible.
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Black Clover’s Brand Philosophy: Lucky is originated from Choice

Established in 2008, the brand is known for designing high-quality and stylish hats for men, women
and children. It aims to incorporate the attitude of enjoying life and embracing each day into clothing.
Black Clover reflects the philosophy of being fortunate because of our hard work and persistence;
the symbol of clover design represents the choice for a better life.

Black Clover uses a simple and unique hat design, exquisite color stitching, stretchable headband
design, and symbolic four-leaf clover, to provide the best choice to our faithful follower who pursuits

high quality hat.

BLACK CLSGVER
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Operation Review

Sales of Garments

Total revenue of the sales of garment segment was HK$471,169,000 (2017:
HK$643,482,000). The segment recorded a loss of HK$86,208,000 (2017:
HK$119,578,000). Inventory turnover decreased from 245.8 days for the
previous year to 226.6 days.

The Group’s principal business is wholesaling and retailing of branded
garments and accessories. The retail climate in the Group’s principal
operating markets has improved in the second half of the year. However,
rental represents a considerably significant portion of the total retail operating
costs and has continued to place downward pressure on the segment’s
profitability during the year.

A subsidiary in Taiwan, which is 68% owned by the Group, continues the
retailing of Aquascutum garments and accessories in Taiwan after the
completion of the Disposal till the end of December 2018.

With the disposal of Aquascutum during the year, Ashworth and J.Lindeberg
are two main remaining brands which showed continuous improvement in
the past few months. The Group launched Harmont & Blaine and Tommy
Bahama in March 2017 and October 2017 respectively.

As at the end of March 2018, the Group has a distribution network of 98
points of sales (“POSs”) in our operating market comprising 27 POSs in
Hong Kong, 10 POSs in Macau, 33 POSs in Mainland China, 27 POSs in
Taiwan and 1 POS in Paris. The Group will remain prudent with regard to
store network expansion.

Licensing of Trademarks

The Group owns the global intellectual property rights of Guy Laroche and
owned the global intellectual property rights of Aquascutum before the
Disposal. Total income of licensing of trademarks decreased mainly due to
the completion of the Disposal.

Other Business

Both revenue and profit of printing and related services segment dropped
from last year.

With the disposal of Aquascutum, a shop premise in Macau and an office
premise in London originally held for own use in previous years were
reclassified as investment properties. Hence, property rental income
increased from last year.

Outlook

Despite the retail climate in the Group’s principal operating markets has
improved in the second half of the year, we do not expect a strong recovery
in the foreseeable future. Hence, we will continue to control costs and
expenses at all levels of operation, in particular, we are in the process of
reducing overhead to suit the reduced business with the disposal of
Aquascutum. Two new brands, Harmont & Blaine and Tommy Bahama,
were launched but we need to wait for profits to be achieved. We adopt a
very cautious approach to our further expansion and development strategies.
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Guy Laroche is a renowned French label that has long been recognized by its signature elegant style.
Established in 1956 by Guy Laroche himself, the brand launched its first ready-to-wear collection in
1961. The brand offers the world products that range from fashion, to perfume, watches, eyewear,
leather goods, and home fashion. Guy Laroche is well-known for its form-fitting cuttings, accentuating
female bodyline appeal, and thus it has been popular among famous actresses and celebrities. Guy
Laroche designs are for sophisticated and contemporary men & ladies with an appreciation for French
style. Hilary Swank wore a Guy Laroche gown to the Oscar Ceremony when she won her Oscar for

best actress.

The Group acquired Guy Laroche in 2004 and the brand has further developed its presence in Asia
and throughout the world.

Guy Lar

P A R I

oche
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Law and Regulations

Law and regulations in relation to workplace quality and environmental
protection may have a material effect on the Group’s principal activities.

Workplace Quality

The Group believes that continued business success relies on the full
contribution and support of our employees. We are dedicated to promoting
equal opportunities for all of our employees in different areas, including
recruitment, compensation and benefits, training, staff promotion, transfer,
and dismissal. All employees are assessed based on their ability, performance
and contribution, irrespective of their nationality, race, religion, gender, age
or family status.

The Group is committed to the health, safety and welfare of our employees.
We pledge full compliance in all occupational health and safety legislations
and we have implemented an effective and safe working environment for
our employees.

The Group complied with labour or other relevant legislations. We did not
identify any material non-compliance or breach of legislation related to
workplace quality.

Product Safety

The Group places the highest importance on the welfare of its customers
globally, as well as on its broader societal and environmental impact. The
quality and safety of our products is a vital part of this.

All products are safe and fully adhere to international environmental and
safety standards. We did not identify any material non-compliance or breach
of legislation related to product safety.

Environmental Protection

The Group is committed to protecting and sustaining the environment
through reduced consumption of electrical power.

We are committed to upholding high environmental standards to fulfill relevant
requirements under applicable laws or ordinances during the manufacturing
and material disposal processes.

We did not identify any material non-compliance or breach of relevant
standards, rules and regulations on air and greenhouse gas emission,
discharges into water and land, generation of hazardous or non-hazardous
water, etc.

Social Performance

The Group has long been committed to being a responsible corporate citizen
and actively supports various charitable organisations and causes. The
“YGM Volunteer Team” was established in 2014 and, during the reporting
period, participated in various charitable activities to help people in need,
demonstrating its corporate social responsibility and promoting the caring
culture in the society.

Environment, Social and Governance Report

An Environment, Social and Governance report will be published on the
website of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the Company’s
website no later than three months after the publication of the Company’s
annual report.
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Established in 1995, Italian leisurewear brand Harmont & Blaine is renowned for its colorful range of
apparel and accessories created with superior fabrics and distinctive details. It is designed for modern

men and women with discerning taste and the strive for quality and innovation.

Headquartered in the province of Naples, Harmont & Blaine can count upon more than 100 single-
brand stores and shop-in-shops in Italy and all over the world: Milan, Naples, Capri, Portofino, Moscow,
Prague, Dubai, Doha, Miami, Mexico City, Panama, Santo Domingo, Cartagena, Hong Kong, Macau

and Taiwan.

The Group is currently the exclusive distributor of Harmont & Blaine in Hong Kong, Macau, Mainland

China and Taiwan.

Harmont&Blaine
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Risks and uncertainties can affect the Group’s businesses, financial
conditions, operational results or growth prospects leading to a divergence
from expected or historical results. Key risk factors and uncertainties affecting
the Group are outlined below. In dealing with these risk factors and
uncertainties, the Group remains in touch with our stakeholders with the
aim of understanding and addressing their concerns.

These factors are not exhaustive or comprehensive, and there may be other
risks in addition to those shown below which are not known to the Group
or which may not be material now but could become material in the future.

Global Economy and Macro-economic Conditions

The year under review was the best year for global economic recovery since
the global financial crisis in 2008 but uncertainities increased due to Sino-US
trade disputes.

The principal business activities of the Group is retailing and wholesaling of
branded garments and accessories. Despite the retail climate in the Group’s
principal operating markets has improved in the second half of the year
under review following the global economic recovery, the retail industry is
not expected a strong recovery in the foreseeable future in these markets
as it is affected by the economic conditions, shop rent, consumer spending
and currency environment in these markets. Any combination of these factors
or continuing adverse economic conditions in these markets may adversely
affect the Group’s financial position, potential income, asset value and
liabilities.

Currency Markets

The Group’s currency exposure mainly arises from its investments outside
Hong Kong.

The results of the Group are recorded in Hong Kong dollars, however its
subsidiaries outside Hong Kong receive revenue and incur expenses in other
currencies. Any currency fluctuations that occur during the progress of
translation of the results of these subsidiaries or during the repatriation of
earnings, equity investments and loans may have an impact on the Group’s
results.

Impact of Local, National and International Regulations

Local business risks specific to individual countries and cities where the
Group operates could have a material impact on its financing conditions,
operating results and growth prospects.

The Group is, and may increasingly become, exposed to different and
changing political, social, legal, tax, regulatory and listing requirements at
the local, national and international level. New policies or measures enacted
by governments, whether fiscal, tax or regulatory, may pose a risk to the
returns delivered by the Group’s business and may delay or prevent the
commercial operational of an individual business, with a resulting loss in
revenue and profit.

The Group has taken a proactive approach to monitoring changes in
government policies and legislation. Adequate risk mitigation measures are
in place and are constantly reviewed for enhancement.
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Since its first collection in 1997, J.Lindeberg has successfully combined fashion and sportswear.
J.Lindeberg’s main collection and its progressive golf and ski collections are sold in more than 30
countries worldwide. The stores are located in Stockholm, Copenhagen, Kitzbiihel, New York, Los
Angeles, Miami, Hong Kong, Seoul, Osaka and Tokyo. J.Lindeberg apparel is also carried by leading
independent boutiques, upscale departments stores, and some of the world’s most exclusive golf and

ski shops. The brand is headquartered in Stockholm, Sweden.

The Group is currently the exclusive distributor of J.Lindeberg in Hong Kong and Macau.

JL
J.LINDEBERG
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Employment and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had approximately 500 employees (31
March 2017: 1,500). The Group offers competitive remuneration packages
including medical subsidies and retirement scheme contributions to its
employees in compensation for their contribution. In addition, discretionary
bonuses may also be granted to the eligible employees based on the Group’s
and individuals’ performances.

Relationship with Suppliers

Fair and Open Competition

The Group promotes fair and open competition that aims to develop long-
term relationships with suppliers based on mutual trust.

Public Interest and Accountability

The procurement from suppliers or services providers is conducted in a
manner consistent with the highest ethical standards. This helps assure high
products quality at all times to gain the confidence of customers, suppliers
and the public.

Procurement and Tendering Procedures
The contracting of services and the purchase of goods are based solely on

need, quality and price. This ensures compliance with procurement policies
and fosters positive and open competition.

Relationship with Customers and Consumers

Customer Services

The Group seeks to provide efficient and courteous customer service to
maintain customer satisfaction and co-operation. Customers have access
to information about the operation and development of the Group through
annual reports. The Group shall not make any misrepresentation,
exaggeration or overstatement.

Pricing Policies

The Group believes in the economic system of the free market, in which
price is determined by supply and demand. The Group also seeks to provide
customers with the highest quality products at fair prices which allow the
Group a reasonable profit in relation to the value provided.

Important Events Affecting The Group That Have
Occurred Since The End of The Financial Year

We did not identify any important events affecting the Group that have
occurred since the end of the financial year.
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Established in 1976 and being the house brand of the Group, MICHEL RENE represents
high quality yet affordable men’s and women’s fashion. French style and metropolitan elegance

are the distinguishing features of every MICHEL RENE suits and casual wears. The brand
puts emphasis on sophisticated craftsmanship, contemporary styling and fine quality fabrics
on apparel for professionals and executives in town. MICHEL RENE’s classic style takes

today’s men and women from day to night, and from work to weekend.

MICHEL RENE




EXREAHRSE
Corporate Governance Report

Al ERG(EFG)BIHERFRKFZ

HEER EHGR

{550 - M & MM =

VL Ji ) S DR B A o W) 2 R i M B R 2

EEEHEE-

HEE—F - /E=ZHA = —HIEHBEER
AN ARSI A RS A (H
SN e U o TS UV O = S R

i 2 (A 3 IR ST A (v AL D) 8 A9 < J e

SCHLSE > MESF RIS IR SCA. 4.1 TH 2 (i BEBR ST >
PRIE > A2 A JE AT S S A A W AT
A AT R 8 AT o AS 2% A B9 AT HE g 4 R
TE W REAT H) > A8SF ZHMRR AR 2 ) Y 4 R AL AR

= 5 96 ik K 3 105
T LimEEE R EE

o

T A 2 W) e AR AR R

o

e B DL Bl ) e B R R B A 4 % B

L HUE S

S P ES A 3

FUAE K 5 Ws 5 1)~ B2 B R P il L 7 0 % B 55
KB -HEFRFMERKZFEOEFELF
MRt RERMBRE - AT M2 H
R RAL AU - ERWOE LS - EREH
Ja B MR B R OfE A B R R R

B EHEGHRIRA

EHEMEARARF

FA I - Sl A TR LT 2 R

Btk o ML E

'O A T AT T R

BZEEG FMEREG RAZAEEGRAR

EHZERE -

R E S LA AT I R U & S R AT

EH WU IEMTHE

HHBE AR R A

FEIIARAELD REEGMAMN =1tz — -
B8 S JF BUAT 3 A AR £ U5 TR0 B G~ A
RE P A B - A SR B BRI A AR B I A A

ESENEE NS PN

PR SR A SR A1 1) BB

N EREREER -_F—-LHEILA Z+HH
BAKLL B A S B —F — NE— A A
AT o g OB B A R e

B 5l AE DL SEOR L 22

I 5 CH R B
B

ERHE EREA®

REE S NI o DN

TMEZAE RAEAR

B KR B R B % B R B AR A B AT

TRHW S WK =W

1 7 2017/18 Annual Report

WK R e

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company is dedicated to uphold
a high corporate governance standard. The Board firmly believes that the
principles of transparency, accountability and independence are essential
for protecting the interests of the Company and maximising shareholder
value.

The Company has complied with the code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Code”) set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) throughout the financial year ended
31 March 2018, except for the deviation from code provision A.4.1 of the
Code, pursuant to which the non-executive directors of the Company should
be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. The non-executive
directors of Company are not appointed for a specific term but are subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election requirements at the annual general
meeting of the Company in accordance with Articles 96 and 105 of the
Company’s articles of association.

Board of Directors

The Board is committed to act in good faith in the best interests of the
Company and its shareholders. The Board sets the Group’s overall objectives
and strategic directions, monitors and evaluates its operating and financial
performance. It also decides on matters relating to annual and interim resullts,
audited financial statements, notifiable transactions, appointment and re-
appointment of directors, major acquisitions and disposals, material
contracts, risk management, major financings and borrowings, accounting
and dividends policies. The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the
Company to the management of the Group and also instructs the
management to implement the Board’s decisions and resolutions. In addition,
the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Risk
Management Committee.

The Board comprises seven executive directors and four independent non-
executive directors. The number of independent non-executive directors
represents at least one-third of the Board in accordance with Rule 3.10A of
the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive directors bring a diverse
range of expertise, skills and experience to provide effective guidance and
an outside perspective to all major decisions of the Group.

During the year, Mr. Leung Hok Lim retired on 20 September 2017 and Mr.
Sze Cho Cheung, Michael resigned on 2 January 2018. The Board appointed
Mr. So Stephen Hon Cheung and Mr. Li Guangming to fill up these vacancies
immediately.

Details of backgrounds and qualifications of the directors as well as
relationships between them are set out in the section of “Directors and
Management”.

The Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and Risk Management Committee had held 5, 2, 3, 3 and 1
meetings respectively in the year under review.
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Tommy Bahama is the Island-Inspired lifestyle brand that defines relaxed, sophisticated style in
Men'’s and Women’s, Swimwear, Accessories, Footwear, and Homeware. Over 150 retail stores

around the world.

Each Season Tommy Bahama designers create a broad range of unique, colorful prints that are

incorporated into our collections, many of them are hand-drawn by our own artists.

The Group is the exclusive distributor of Tommy Bahama in Hong Kong, Macau and Mainland
China.

A
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The attendance at the Board and respective Board Committees meetings
held in the year ended 31 March 2018 are as follows:

L g 4 B
ZHEH
HBZHA MEZHES REAZHE Risk B K H
W H Audit Remuneration Nomination Management General
Board Committee = Committee =~ Committee =~ Committee  Meeting

HirEF Executive Directors
Bk £ Chan Wing Sun, Samuel 5/5 N/A 3/3 3/3 1/1 2/2
AL B % Chan Suk Ling, Shirley 5/5 N/A N/A N/A 1/1 1/2
7K & Fu Sing Yam, William 5/5 N/A N/A N/A 1/1 2/2
B A A Andrew Chan 5/5 N/A N/A N/A 11 2/2
Bk %8 Chan Wing Fui, Peter 5/5 N/A 3/3 3/3 N/A 2/2
Bt 7k HiE Chan Wing Kee 4/5 N/A N/A N/A N/A 1/2
B K I Chan Wing To 5/5 N/A N/A N/A N/A 1/2
B EHA7#EFE Independent Non-executive Directors
Mg F Lin Keping 5/5 2/2 3/3 3/3 N/A 1/2
FHER Choi Ting Ki 5/5 2/2 3/3 3/3 N/A 2/2
3 & So Stephen Hon Cheung

(R ~%F—-L4 (appointed on 20 September 2017)

JUH Z+HHZED) 2/3 1/1 0N 0/1 N/A N/A
R Li Guangming

(i* =% — )\ (appointed on 2 January 2018)

—HZ HZAT) 2/2 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
7 EL Leung Hok Lim

(f* —~Z&—L 4 (retired on 20 September 2017)

LA Z A HABIK) 11 1/1 1/1 1/1 N/A 2/2
Jita # #E Sze Cho Cheung, Michael

(8 = F— \4E  (resigned on 2 January 2018)

—HZ HE&T) 1/3 0/2 2/3 2/3 N/A 1/2
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During the year, an extraordinary general meeting was held on 19 April 2017
and the 2017 Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) was held on 20 September
2017. The directors’ attendance to these general meetings is listed out on
page 19. The Chairman of the Board, the Chairman of Audit Committee
and Nomination Committee, the members of Remuneration Committee and
the external auditor of the Company attended the AGM to answer questions
raised by shareholders. Proceedings of annual general meeting are reviewed
from time to time to ensure that the Company follows good corporate
governance practices. Voting results were posted on the Company’s and
the Stock Exchange’s website on the day of the AGM.

Each of the independent non-executive directors has confirmed with the
Company in writing his independence from the Company in accordance
with the relevant guidelines set out in Rules 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Nomination Committee and the Board considered that all independent
non-executive directors of the Company are independent with reference to
Rule 3.13.
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Corporate Governance Policy and Duties

The Board is committed to ensure that at good corporate governance
framework and practices are established within the Group. The Board is
responsible for performing the duties on corporate governance functions
as required under code provision D.3.1 of the Code which are set out below:

(

—

) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and making recommendations to the board;

(2) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

(8) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(4) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and directors; and

(5) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Chairman of the Board is Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company is Mr. Fu Sing Yam, William. The roles of
the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
are separated, with a clear division of responsibilities. The Chairman of the
Board is responsible for formulating corporate strategies and overall business
development planning. The Chief Executive Officer’s duty is to oversee the
execution of daily business activities. The division of responsibilities at the
Board level is to ensure a balance of power and authority.

Directors’ Training

According to code provision A.6.5 of the Code, all directors should participate
in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. The Company should be responsible for arranging
and funding suitable training, placing an appropriate emphasis on the roles,
functions and duties of the directors. The Company provides tailored
induction programme to new director upon his appointment to equip him
with the appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the
Group and to ensure that he is fully aware of his responsibilities and
obligations under the relevant law and the Listing Rules.

During the year, the Company circulates materials relating to the legislative
and regulatory environment to the directors on a regular basis for their
information. The Company also encourages directors to attend relevant
seminars, conferences or forums to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. During the year, all directors participated in continuous professional
development in compliance with code provision A.6.5 of the Code.

2017/18 4 #

20



21

EXREABE

Corporate Governance Report

R B

AN > AN F C %P e SR
BERMEENHRE URRER L SREEA
B 15 55 T8 A7 BB R BT AR 9 AE AT AT A
PR b

HRRHA

EFEROMUFERZREG MeZEE &
Z & A e R B E & B e ol MR
ARNFRERBEEY ZNHEREEZREH
AEEmERREE EHE L gEREMA TR
B UR DA AT L R R AT T DT oK
SLHERE R B R A S F A

H#EZHRA

AN A OO B WA R
E e FEER G EE N A IE AT
HE R BN EEREL - R
e R 2SR A ek > I b RR T e AT
BRIy 7 N Rl ol A & N
19K o

FREZREGEHEAREEA LM REN
56 B I A RS R A I A T AT Y
AR 7 B A 2 ) A R B A o RE R AT O
T G BB R A B B - TR B B S 5
5 JEAS I T B w5 Rk RE D7 TR A R
BTHERLERHZESTLH LB TI#ER
R BRI LA BRHA R T AL -

REE_F-NEF=ZA=+t—HILFEER.
R E G OB RO B B AN I R T
b P e A AR SR A DL £R A 4R B B S i
KEF S AR E s B WA T E
BEEEMEARZEPEI T HEINEZH
fill 45 4F W9 U & 1 - DA R E R O AR A9 AT
o] = B % A% SR AT BE R i 9 A o At 3 OH -
W2 B N A BT e SRS T
SEE B HE TR R O R A RS
gREHERMABE - NFE=A=1+—
H 1k o B4 2 A% B

AFEER EREGNEEERZREGER
A MEEEZNELZ B TR ZAM

ok -

2017/18 Annual Report

Directors’ Insurance

During the year, the Company has arranged for the renewal of an insurance
policy on directors’ and officers’ liability to ensure our directors and senior
management are protected from any liability arising from the performance
of their duties.

Board Committees

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Risk Management
Committee, each with mandate to oversee particular aspects of the affairs
of the Company. Each of these four Board committees is set up with written
terms of reference. The Board committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstance at the expenses of the
Company.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee with written terms of
reference. The Audit Committee comprises all four independent non-
executive directors, namely Mr. Lin Keping, Mr. Choi Ting Ki, Mr. So Stephen
Hon Cheung and Mr. Li Guangming. It is chaired by Mr. So Stephen Hon
Cheung. The members’ attendance to the Audit Committee meeting is listed
out on page 19.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for monitoring the integrity of
the Company’s financial statements, reviewing the Company’s internal control
system and its execution through the review of the work undertaken by the
internal and external auditors, evaluating financial information and related
disclosure, reviewing connected transactions and considering the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and their training programmes
and budget.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Audit Committee has, inter alia,
reviewed and discussed with management and the external auditor the
interim and annual results with a view to ensuring that the Group’s financial
statements were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong. The Audit Committee has met with external auditor
twice a year, in the absence of management, to discuss any issues arising
from the audit and any other matters the auditor may wish to raise. The
Audit Committee has also reviewed the independence and quality of work
of KPMG and has recommended to the Board to re-appoint KPMG as
auditor for the year ending 31 March 2019.

During the year, the Board has not taken any view that is different from that
of the Audit Committee nor rejected any recommendation presented by the
Audit Committee.
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Remuneration Committee

The Committee comprises two executive directors, namely Mr. Chan Wing
Fui, Peter and Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, and four independent non-
executive directors, namely Mr. Lin Keping, Mr. Choi Ting Ki, Mr. So Stephen
Hon Cheung and Mr. Li Guangming. It is chaired by Mr. Lin Keping. The
members’ attendance to the Remuneration Committee meeting is listed out
on page 19.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for ensuring formal and
transparent procedures for developing remuneration policies and in
overseeing remuneration packages of the directors. It makes
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration package of individual
executive directors and senior management. It takes into consideration
factors such as salaries and compensation packages paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the directors. It would
also take into account whether the emoluments offered are appropriate
given the duties and performance of the respective individuals concerned
and whether such emoluments are competitive and sufficiently attractive to
retain such individuals.

Details of the directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to the financial
statements.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises two executive directors, namely Mr.
Chan Wing Fui, Peter and Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, and four independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. Lin Keping, Mr. Choi Ting Ki, Mr. So
Stephen Hon Cheung and Mr. Li Guangming. It is chaired by Mr. Choi Ting
Ki. The members’ attendance to the Nomination Committee meeting is listed
out on page 19.

The roles of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board, identify individuals suitably qualified to become
members of the Board, and assess the independence of independent non-
executive directors and make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and re-election of directors and succession planning for
directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executives. The Nomination
Committee will consider the suitability of the candidate on the basis of his
professional qualification, skills, experience and background.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Nomination Committee has
reviewed the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board.

Risk Management Committee

The Risk Management Committee comprises four executive directors,
namely Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley, Mr.
Fu Sing Yam, William and Mr. Andrew Chan. It is chaired by Mr. Chan Wing
Sun, Samuel. The members’ attendance to the Risk Management Committee
meeting is listed out on page 19.

The purpose of the Committee is to oversee the overall design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and the internal
control systems of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”)
and to advise the Board on the Group’s risk-related matters.

2017/18 4 #
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Emoluments of Senior Management

The Senior management of the Group comprises 5 individuals. Details of
backgrounds and qualifications of each senior management are set out in
the section of “Directors and Management”.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the emoluments of the senior
management of the Group fell within the following bands:

4

Emoluments

WA BARYH
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HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000
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Directors’ and Auditor’s Responsibilities in respect
of the Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial
statements of the Group and ensure that the financial statements are
prepared in accordance with all relevant statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards.

The statement of external auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities of the financial statements is set out in the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” on pages 36 to 43.

Auditors’ Remuneration

During the year, total auditors’ remuneration in relation to the statutory audit
of the Group amounted to HK$6,631,000 (2017: HK$5,684,000) of which
a sum of HK$5,697,000 (2017: HK$4,871,000) was paid or payable to the
Group’s principal auditors, KPMG.

The remunerations paid or payable to the Group’s principal auditor, KPMG
and its affiliated firms, for services rendered in statutory audit and non-audit
were HK$5,697,000 (2017: HK$4,871,000) and HK$6,652,000 (2017:
HK$1,340,000) respectively. The non-audit services principally comprise of
tax, internal control, review services and advisory services provided to the
Group.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a Securities Dealing Code regarding director’s
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than required standard set
out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules.
All directors have confirmed, upon specific enquiry by the Company, that
they have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
and its Securities Dealing Code throughout the year under review.
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Internal Control and Risk Management

The Board has an overall responsibility for the risk management framework,
and for determining the significant risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s objectives. Audit Committee is delegated with overseeing the
effectiveness of internal control and risk management, while management
is responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring of such
systems. The Risk Management Committee is responsible for coordinating
risk management activities, and to report at least annually to the Board.
However, the Group’s risk management and internal control systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

Our approach to manage risks involves identification and assessment of
principal risks from the external and internal environments at different
organisation levels. The assessment considers the changes in nature and
extent of significant risks and the Group’s ability to respond to changes in
its business and the external environment. Action plans have been developed
and risk ownership has been assigned for each key principal risk. The risk
owners coordinate the mitigation measures to ensure proper implementation
of these action plans. The process is closely monitored by the Risk
Management Committee.

Taken into consideration the principal risks and mitigation actions, the Board
believes that the Company has the ability to respond to any such changes
in our business and the external environment, and considers that the Group’s
risk management and internal control system was effective and adequate.

Regarding the disclosure of inside information, the Board had implemented
procedures and internal controls for handling and dissemination of inside
information so that potential inside information can be promptly identified
and escalated up for deciding whether an announcement should be made
in order to ensure compliance with the continuous obligations under the
Listing Rules and the statutory obligation to disclose information under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”).

Internal Audit Function

During the year under review, the Board has engaged an external consultant
to perform internal audit services. The external consultant has assisted the
Group to perform a review of the effectiveness of internal controls system
for certain selected processes. The assessment results and proposed
improvement opportunities were discussed and agreed with management
and were reported to the Audit Committee.

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is an employee of the Company and has day-to-
day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The Company Secretary is
responsible for advising the Board through the Chairman and/or the Vice
Chairman on governance matters and also facilitates the induction and
professional development of directors. The Company Secretary also keeps
proper records of all Board and Committee meetings. The biography of the
Company Secretary is set out on page 35. The Company Secretary has
undertaken no less than 15 hours of professional training during the year.
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Shareholders’ Right

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”)

Article 67 of the articles of association of the Company provides that an
extraordinary general meeting shall be convened on requisition, as provided
by the Companies Ordinance. According to section 566 of the Companies
Ordinance, the directors of the Company are required to call a general
meeting if the Company has received requests to do so from shareholders
representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all shareholders having
a right to vote at general meetings of the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at EGM

Pursuant to section 566 of the Companies Ordinance, the request for a
general meeting must state the general nature of the business to be dealt
with at the meeting and may include the text of a resolution that may properly
be moved and is intended to be moved at the meeting. The request may
be sent to the Company in hard copy form at the registered office of the
Company or in electronic form at cs_info@ygmtrading.com and must be
authenticated by the requisitionist(s). The directors must call a general
meeting within 21 days after the date of the receipt of the requests to do
s0. The meeting called must be held on a date not more than 28 days after
the date of the notice convening the meeting.

Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board through the Company
Secretary who will direct the enquiries to the Board for handling. The contact
details of the Company Secretary are as follows:

The Company Secretary
YGM Trading Limited

22 Tai Yau Street,

San Po Kong,

Kowloon,

Hong Kong

E-Mail: cs_info@ygmtrading.com
Telephone: (852) 2351 1111
Facsimile: (852) 2351 5211

Changes in the Company’s constitutional documents

No amendments are made to the articles of association of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2018.
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Directors’ Report

The directors submit herewith their report together with the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2018.

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding and the
provision of management services. Particulars of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries are set out on pages 116 to 117. Further discussion and analysis
of these activities as required by Schedule 5 to Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, including a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties
facing the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) and an
indication of likely future developments in the Group’s business, can be
found in the Management Discussion and Analysis set out on pages 4 to
15 of this Annual Report. This discussion forms part of this directors’ report.

Segment Information

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of the
operations of the Group during the financial year are set out in note 4 to the
financial statements.

Dividends

An interim dividend of 20 HK cents (2017: Nil) per share and a special
dividend of HK$4 (2017: Nil) per share were paid on 22 December 2017
and 9 February 2018 respectively.

The directors recommend to shareholders the payment of a final dividend
of 50 HK cents (2017: 10 HK cents) per share for the year ended 31 March
2018 to those shareholders whose names appear on the register of members
of the Company at the close of business on 12 September 2018.

Share Capital

Details of the movements of the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 23(a) to the financial statements. There were no
movements during the year.

Five Year Financial Highlights

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five
fiscal years is set out on page 2.

Properties

Particulars of the major properties and property interests of the Group are
set out in note 11 to the financial statements.
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Bank Loans and Other Borrowings

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Company and the
Group as at 31 March 2018 are set out in note 19 to the financial statements.

Charitable Donations

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
HK$175,000 (2017: HK$17,000).

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year, the Group’s sales to its five largest customers and purchases
from its five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s
turnover and purchases respectively.

At no time during the year have the directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the directors owns
more than 5% of the Company’s issued shares) had any interest in these
major customers and suppliers.

Directors

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors

Chan Wing Sun, Samuel
Chan Suk Ling, Shirley
Fu Sing Yam, William
Andrew Chan

Chan Wing Fui, Peter
Chan Wing Kee

Chan Wing To

Independent Non-executive Directors

Lin Keping

Choi Ting Ki

Leung Hok Lim (retired on 20 September 2017)

Sze Cho Cheung, Michael (resigned on 2 January 2018)

So Stephen Hon Cheung (appointed on 20 September 2017)
Li Guangming (appointed on 2 January 2018)

A full list of the names of the directors of the Group’s subsidiaries can be
found in the Company’s website at www.ygmtrading.com.

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) would like to take this
opportunity to express its gratitude to Mr. Leung Hok Lim and Mr. Sze Cho
Cheung, Michael for their valuable contribution to the Company during their
tenure of service.
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Article 96 of the Company’s articles of association provides that the Board
shall have power from time to time to appoint any person as a director. Any
director so appointed shall hold office only until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election,
but shall not be taken into account in determining the directors who are to
retire by rotation at such meeting. Mr. So Stephen Hon Cheung and Mr. Li
Guangming were appointed by the Board as independent non-executive
director on 20 September 2017 and 2 January 2018 respectively.
Accordingly, their offices will expire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting. Being eligible, Mr. So and Mr. Li will offer themselves for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Pursuant to Article 105 of the Company’s articles of association, at each
annual general meeting, one-third of the directors of the Company for the
time being shall retire from office by rotation. Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel,
Mr. Fu Sing Yam, William, Mr. Andrew Chan and Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter
will retire from the Board by rotation, being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Biographical details of the directors of the Company as at the date of this
report are set out on pages 32 to 34 of this annual report. Further information
of the retiring directors proposed to be re-elected are set out in the circular.

The Company confirms that it has received from each of the independent
non-executive directors a confirmation of their respective independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) and the Company considers the independent non-executive
directors to be independent.

Directors’ interests in Transaction, Arrangement
and Contracts

Apart from the details disclosed in note 26 to the financial statements, no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which the Company,
or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party,
and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Directors’ Service Contract

The independent non-executive directors were appointed by the board of
directors and their remuneration is determined by the board of directors,
see section headed ‘Compliance with the Code of Best Practice’.

None of the directors who has offered himself for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company has entered into any
service contract with the Company or any other member of the Group which
is not determinable by the relevant employer within one year without payment
of compensation, other than normal statutory compensation.
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in Shares
and Underlying Shares

The directors and chief executive of the Company who held office at 31
March 2018 had the following interests in the issued shares of the Company,
its subsidiaries and other associated corporations (within the meaning of
the SFO) at that date as recorded in the register of directors’ and chief
executives’ interests and short positions required to be kept under section
352 of the SFO:

HaBEH
Number of Ordinary Shares

6 N B 2% 0 XI5 HE 2 2 ) HE 2 - fib B 2
Personal Family Corporate Other
interests® interests interests interests

BE A5 B 2% Beneficial interests
B 7k %% Chan Wing Sun, Samuel 7,476,072 250,000 8,093,775 (ii) & (iii)
Jl BRI Chan Suk Ling, Shirley 6,912,272 328,000 - (ii) & (ii)
7R & Fu Sing Yam, William 2 075,462 - - (i)
Bk 52 & Andrew Chan 392,000 - - -
0 Chan Wing Fui, Peter 24,068 12,630,051 - (i) & (iii)
B 7k A Chan Wing Kee 9,346,776 1,012,035 - (i), (iil) & (iv)
B 7K JF Chan Wing To 11,571,367 - - (i), (iil) & (iv)
M 5 Lin Keping 25,000 - - -

(i)

2017/18 Annual Report

W B LA R A2 2 A
8 -

36,791,700 fi 4% /& & B 443 75 1 Chan Family
Investment Corporation Limited ( H B 7k 4
oA~ BROK BRI A - BRAKIG B A R &
Je A~ JE BRI ES  B H R R R R R
BYEA) K E A R r kA e

120,400 it A& 24 @) ik iy J3 th Hearty
Investments Limited 5 A 5% A #l 1 B 7k
MESE AR~ B K RS0 - BRI S - R B
WY 2 R oAt R G F k B A -

1,597,000 JIiK A& 2w J)& {7 )5 B Super Team
International Limited#§ 7 3% /A &l i B 7k
HE e A~ B KT e A T il B R K IR AR
BEEA -

U

(i)

(i)

(iv)

The shares are registered under the names of the directors who are
the beneficial owners.

36,791,700 shares of the Company were held by Chan Family
Investment Corporation Limited (which is owned by Messrs Chan Wing
Kee, Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, Chan Wing To and Fu Sing Yam, William,
Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley and other members of the Chan family)
and its subsidiaries.

120,400 shares of the Company were held by Hearty Investments
Limited which is owned by Messrs Chan Wing Kee, Chan Wing Sun,
Samuel and Chan Wing To, Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley and other
members of the Chan family.

1,597,000 shares of the Company were held by Super Team
International Limited which is indirectly owned by Messrs Chan Wing
Kee and Chan Wing To and other members of the Chan family.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2018, none of the directors or
their associates had or was deemed to have any interests or short position
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its
holding company, subsidiaries or other associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 352 of the SFO; or as notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code. Furthermore, save as
disclosed above, at no time during the year ended 31 March 2018 was the
Company or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the directors of the Company or any
of their spouses or children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other
body corporate.

Substantial Shareholder’s Interest

As at 31 March 2018, the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO showed that, other than the interests
disclosed above in respect of the directors, no other interests required to
be recorded in the register kept under section 336 of the SFO have been
notified to the Company.

Save as disclosed herein, the directors are not aware of any person who
was, directly or indirectly, interested or had a short position in the shares or
underlying shares which fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock
Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
or, was directly or indirectly, interested in 10% or more of the nominal value
of the issued share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at
general meeting of the Company or any options in respect of such capital
as at 31 March 2018.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Shares

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
March 2018.

Connected Transactions

Details of the connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
are set out in note 26(b) to the financial statements. In the opinion of the
independent non-executive directors, these transactions were entered into
by the Group:

i

=

in the ordinary and usual course of its business;

(i)  conducted either on normal commercial terms (which expression will
be applied by reference to transactions of a similar nature and to be
made by similar entities) or, where there is no available comparison,
on terms that are fair and reasonable so far as the independent
shareholders of the Company are concerned;

(i) in accordance with the terms of the agreements governing the
transactions; and

(iv)  inaccordance with the pricing policies of the Group, where applicable.
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KPMG, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to
Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. KPMG have issued their unqualified letter
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in accordance with
Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditors’ letter has been
provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

Apart from the foregoing, no contract of significance to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

Compliance with the Code of Best Practice

The Company has complied throughout the year with the Code of Best
Practice as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules except that the non-
executive directors of the Company are not appointed for a specific term
but are subject to rotation in annual general meetings pursuant to Articles
96 and 105 of the Company’s articles of association.

Audit Committee

The audit committee comprises four independent non-executive directors
and reports to the board of directors. The audit committee meets with the
Group’s senior management and external auditors regularly to review the
effectiveness of the internal control systems and the annual report of the
Group.

Sufficiency Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the directors, as at the date of this report, the Company
has maintained the prescribed public float required under the Listing Rules.

Auditor

KPMG will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditor of the Company is to
be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By Order of the Board
Chan Wing Sun, Samuel
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2018
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Directors and Management

Directors

Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, aged 70, received a Bachelor’s degree from
the University of Manchester, the United Kingdom in 1970 and qualified as
a Chartered Accountant in 1973. He was the Company Secretary of
Yangtzekiang Garment Limited (stock code: 294) from 1974 to 1988 and
has been an executive director since 1977. Mr. Chan was the Managing
Director of the Company from 1987 to 2006 and the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company from 2006 to 2010. He was the Vice Chairman of the board
of director of the Company from 2010 and was re-designated as the
Chairman of the board of director of the Company in September 2015. Mr.
Chan has been the chairman of the board of director of Crater Gold Mining
Limited, whose shares are listed on Australian Securities Exchange, since
2013.

Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley, BBS, JP., is the Vice Chairman of the board
of director of the Company. She joined Yangtzekiang Garment Limited (stock
code: 294) in 1973 and has been an executive director since 1983. Madam
Chan, aged 67, has extensive experience of management in the garment
retail and wholesale business. She is a Member of Advisory Group on
Implementation of Fashion Initiatives of Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (“HKSAR”), a Member of Fashion Industry Training Advisory
Committee of HKSAR, a Council Member of the Hong Kong Trade
Development Council, (“HKTDC”), the Chairman of Staff & Finance
Committee of HKTDC, the Executive Committee Member of the Chinese
Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong, the Vice President of the
Guangdong Association of Enterprises with Foreign Investment and a Council
Member of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. She received a Bachelor’s
degree from Nottingham Trent University, the United Kingdom in 1973.

Mr. Fu Sing Yam, William, aged 56, received a Bachelor’s degree from the
University of Western Ontario, Canada in 1984 and joined the Group in
1985. Mr. Fu has been an Executive Director of the Company since 1995.
He was the Deputy Managing Director of the Company from 2006 to 2010
and was the Managing Director since 2010. Mr. Fu was re-designated as
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company in September 2015. He has
extensive experience in fashion retailing, wholesaling, marketing and
merchandising. He is a Committee Member of the Heilongjiang Provincial
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference.

Mr. Andrew Chan, aged 40, received a Bachelor’s degree in economics
from the University of Hartford, the USA in 2003 and joined the Group in
the same year. Mr. Chan has been an Executive Director of the Company
since 2014 and was re-designated as the Managing Director in September
2015. He has extensive experience in international brand licensing and
fashion retailing in Far East, the USA and Europe.

Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter, MA, aged 72, received a Master’s degree in
Administrative Science from Yale University, USA in 1969 and joined
Yangtzekiang Garment Limited (stock code: 294) in the same year. He was
appointed as the Director and Managing Director of Yangtzekiang Garment
Limited in 1971 and 1980 respectively and Vice Chairman of the board of
directors of both Yangtzekiang Garment Limited and the Company in 1987.
Mr. Chanis at present the Chairman of the board of directors of Yangtzekiang
Garment Limited. He was the Chairman of the board of directors of the
Company from 2010 to 2015. Mr. Chan has been actively involved in garment
manufacturing and marketing in the Far East and the USA for over 30 years.
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Mr. Chan Wing Kee, GBM, GBS, OBE, JP, aged 71, received a Bachelor’s
degree in Industrial Engineering in 1970 and joined Yangtzekiang Garment
Limited (stock code: 294) in 1970 as Production Manager and later became
Sales Manager. Mr. Chan was appointed as Director of Yangtzekiang
Garment Limited in 1977 and Managing Director in 1987. Mr. Chan has
been an Executive Director of the Company since 1987. He is also an
independent non-executive director of China Travel International Investment
Hong Kong Limited; China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited
and Kingboard Chemical Holdings Limited. Mr. Chan has participated in
many textile negotiations with the USA and Europe for Hong Kong and
Macau. He is a Standing Committee Member of The 10th, 11th and 12th
of The Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference; Deputy of the
8th and 9th National People’s Congress of China; Ex-member of Commission
on Strategic Development of HKSAR, Ex-member of Economic Council of
Macau Special Administrative Region; Ex-member of the Textile Advisory
Board of Hong Kong; Ex-Committee Member of the Preparatory Committee
for Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and Ex-Advisor of Hong Kong
Affairs.

Mr. Chan Wing To, PhD, aged 67, joined YGM Singapore in 1978 and was
appointed as Director of Yangtzekiang Garment Limited (stock code: 294)
in 1983. Mr. Chan has been an Executive Director of the Company since
1987. He received a Doctor of Philosophy degree in economics from the
University of Rochester, USA in 1978. He has extensive experience in the
textile and garment business.

Mr. Lin Keping, aged 79, has been an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company since 2004. Mr. Lin is an engineer, graduated from Beijing
University of Posts and Telecommunications in 1963. He is a Member of
the 8th National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference and an executive member of the 8th All-China Federation of
Industry and Commerce. He has served in postal and telecommunication
research institutes, the Ministry of Posts and Telecommunications and other
organizations for years and was an executive vice president of China
Minsheng Bank Corp Ltd. He is also an independent non-executive director
of Yangtzekiang Garment Limited (stock code: 294).

Mr. Choi Ting Ki, aged 63, is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. In 1978, Mr. Choi graduated from the
Department of Accounting of the Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently known
as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University). He joined KPMG in the same
year and has held various positions, including partner of the audit department
of KPMG Hong Kong Office, Managing Partner of KPMG Shanghai Office,
Senior Partner of KPMG Huazhen Shanghai Office as well as Senior Partner
of KPMG Huazhen in Eastern and Western China. Mr. Choi retired from
KPMG Huazhen in April 2010. Mr. Choi has been an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company since December 2012. He is also an
independent non-executive director of Yangtzekiang Garment Limited (stock
code: 294).
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Directors and Management

Mr. So Stephen Hon Cheung, aged 62, has been a director of an accounting
firm T.M. Ho So & Leung CPA Limited since August 2003. Currently, he is
the Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary of Ying Kee Tea House
Group Limited (stock code on GEM: 8241). He has extensive experience in
the commercial sector of manufacturing, wholesale and trading and in public
practice working for various companies in Hong Kong, China and Canada.
He holds a bachelor degree in commerce from the University of British
Columbia, Canada. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a member of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of Canada and a member of the Society of Management
Accountants of Canada. Mr. So has been an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company since September 2017. He is also an Independent
Non-executive Director of Yangtzekiang Garment Limited (stock code: 294),
Teamway International Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1239) since
August 2017, Pinestone Capital Limited (stock code: 804) since May 2015
and PINE Technology Holdings Limited (stock code: 1079) since September
2002, the shares of those companies are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. Mr. So was an independent non-executive director of Milan
Station Holdings Limited (stock code: 1150) from May 2011 to February
2017, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

Mr. Li Guangming, aged 66, has over 40 years’ experience in the cotton
textile industry. He was appointed as Deputy Chief of No. 1 Cotton Textile
Factory of Wuxi City in July 1984 and chief of factory in February 1991. He
has held various positions in Wuxi City Guolian Development (Group)
Company Limited and its subsidiaries. Among other things, he was appointed
as the General Manager of Wuxi Guolian Textile Group Company Limited
(now known as Wuxi No.1 Cotton Textile Group Company Limited) in October
2005, and subsequently served as the Chairman of its board until December
2014. Mr. Li graduated from Wuxi Professional University (now known as
Jiangnan University) and was a member of the Standing Committee of Wuxi
Municipal People’s Congress of the People’s Republic of China. Mr. Li has
been an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since January
2018. He is also an Independent Non-executive Director of Yangtzekiang
Garment Limited (stock code: 294).

Directors’ relationship with other Directors, senior
management, substantial or controlling shareholders
of the Company

Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter and Madam Chan
Suk Ling, Shirley are siblings.

Mr. Chan Wing Kee and Mr. Chan Wing To are siblings. They are also the
cousins of Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter and
Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley.

Mr. Andrew Chan is the son of Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter.

Mr. Fu Sing Yam, William is the cousin of Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, Mr.
Chan Wing Fui, Peter, Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley, Mr. Chan Wing Kee
and Mr. Chan Wing To.

Save as disclosed herein, the Directors do not have any relationship with
any Directors, senior management, substantial or controlling shareholders
of the Company.
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Management

Mr. Kenneth Hung, aged 51, joined the Group in 1992. Director of Michel
René Enterprises Limited. Mr. Hung graduated from the University of
Minnesota in the USA and has extensive experience in the apparel retailing
industry.

Ms. Ma Chak Ling, May graduated from University of London, the United
Kingdom. She joined the Group in 1995 and has worked with different
international brands of the Group since then. Ms. Ma, aged 55, has extensive
experience of management in the apparel retail and wholesale industry in
the Greater China region and Southeast Asia. She is the Brand Director of
Ashworth and is responsible for overall management, product development
and merchandising, sales and marketing and strategic planning of the brand.

Mr. Hendrik H Penndorf, aged 54, joined the Group in 2007 and was
appointed as the Chief Executive Officer (Directeur General) of Societe Guy
Laroche and the Director of GL Europa S.A.. Mr. Penndorf, trained as a retail
trader, received a MBA degree at Hamburg University, Germany. He worked
for 15 years in senior management of a German department store chain
group based in Hamburg, Germany in various capacities from buying and
merchandising of fashion. He was the general manager of the department
store chain group. Before joining the Group, Mr. Penndorf worked for 2 years
as the managing director of Euro China Group Hong Kong which is a
boutique consultancy with mainly European blue chip clients.

Mr. Kwok Ying Tung, FCPA, FCCA, FCA, HKICS, ICSA, aged 55, joined
the Group in 2003 and was appointed as the Company Secretary and
Financial Controller of the Company in March 2018. Mr. Kwok is a fellow
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow
member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, a fellow
member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales,
a member of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and
a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. He holds
amaster degree of Corporate Governance and a master degree in Business
Administration. Mr. Kwok has over 20 years of experience in fashion garment
manufacturing, retail and wholesale in China and has extensive experience
in general administration, accounting and finance field.

Mr. Ngai Kwai Yung, FCPA, FCPA (Aust.), MBA, aged 60, was appointed
as the Managing Director of Hong Kong Security Printing Limited since
1998. Mr. Ngai holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree and a Master degree
in Business Administration. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of CPA Australia.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Independent auditor’s report to the members of
YGM Trading Limited

(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of YGM Trading
Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages
44 to 117, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2018, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash
flow statement for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2018 and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

lease contracts

Assessment of potential impairment of leasehold improvements in retail stores and provisions for onerous operating

Refer to notes 2(a), 2(c) and 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in notes 1(j)(ii) and 1(r)(ii).

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

The cost of renting retail store premises represents the majority
of the Group’s retail operating costs. The non-cancellable
operating leases for the rental of retail store premises typically
run for an initial period of one to three years.

Local economic conditions impact customer numbers and
spending power such that sales trends for each retail store can
fluctuate during the lease term for that retail store. Therefore,
there is arisk that the value of leasehold improvements in some
retail stores may not be recoverable in full through the future
cash flows to be generated from retail operations of that retail
store or from disposal of the leasehold improvements.

In addition, future cash flows generated from some retail stores
could be lower than the unavoidable costs of meeting the
financial obligations under the operating lease contracts.

Our audit procedures to assess the potential impairment of
leasehold improvements in retail stores and provisions for
onerous operating lease contracts included the following:

e assessing and challenging the Group’s impairment
assessment model. This included challenging
management’s identification of impairment indicators and
cash-generating units as well as considering whether the
discounted cash flow forecasts on a store-by-store basis
supported the carrying value of the relevant assets or
exceeded the value of the future financial obligations under
the non-cancellable operating leases. We also considered
whether the Group’s impairment assessment indicated
that a reversal of a past impairment provision or provision
for onerous operating lease contracts was required;

e comparing the most significant inputs used in the
discounted cash flow forecasts, including future revenue,
margins, staff costs and rental expenses, with the
historical performance of these retail stores, management’s
forecasts and new operating lease terms;
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Assessment of potential impairment of leasehold improvements in retail stores and provisions for onerous operating

lease contracts

Refer to notes 2(a), 2(c) and 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in notes 1(j)(ii) and 1(r)(ii).

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

We identified the potential impairment of leasehold improvements
in retail stores and potential provisions for onerous operating
lease contracts to be a key audit matter because future cash
flows and profits of the retail stores are inherently uncertain and
determining the level of provisions required, if any, involves a
significant degree of management judgement.

e  evaluating the discount rates adopted in the cash flow
forecasts by benchmarking against those of other similar
retailers;

° performing a sensitivity analysis of both discount rates
and cash flows and considering the resulting impact on
the impairment charge and provision of onerous operating
lease contracts and whether there were any indicators of
management bias;

e enquiring of the Chief Executive Officer and senior
members of the sales team about any plans for retail store
closures; and

e considering the Group’s disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of impairment testing of
leasehold improvements in retail stores, including the key
assumptions and sensitivities to changes in such
assumptions, with reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Valuation of inventories

Refer to notes 2(d) and 15 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 1(k).

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Sales of inventories in the fashion industry can be volatile with
consumer demand changing according to current fashion
trends.

The Group typically sells or disposes of off-season inventories
at a markdown from the original price to maintain the strength
of the brand and make room for new season inventories in its
retail stores. Accordingly, the actual future selling prices of some
items of inventory may fall below their purchase costs.

We identified the valuation of inventories as a key audit matter
because the judgement made by management in determining
an appropriate inventory provision involves predicting the
amounts of inventories which will be unsold at the end of each
season and the markdowns necessary to sell such off-season
inventories on a discounted basis through outlets and other
channels in the following years. Both of these factors can be
inherently uncertain.

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of inventories
included the following:

e assessing whether the inventory provision at the reporting
date was consistent with the Group’s inventory provision
policy by recalculating the inventory provision based on
the percentages and other parameters in the Group’s
inventory provision policy;

e assessing, on a sample basis, whether items in the
inventory ageing report were classified within the
appropriate ageing bracket;

e assessing the Group’s inventory provision policy by
comparing management’s forecasts of the amounts of
inventories which will be unsold at the end of each season
and the corresponding forecast markdowns to the
historical sales amounts and markdown data for the
current and prior years;

e comparing inventory balances by season against
respective balances in prior years and the movement by
season against historical movements to identify inventories
which are relatively slow moving; and

e  enquiring of the Chief Executive Officer and senior
members of the sales team about any expected changes
in plans for markdowns or disposals of off-season
inventories and comparing their representations with
actual sales transactions subsequent to the reporting

date.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Assessment of provisions for potential People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) customs duties and indemnity liabilities

Refer to notes 2(e) and 22 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 1(r)(ii).

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

During the year ended 31 March 2018, provisions were made
for potential PRC customs duties and indemnity liabilities to
the purchaser of Aquascutum business in relation to the
business of the disposed Aquascutum subsidiaries.

The Group has received queries and claims from the PRC
customs authorities in respect of the import activities in the
PRC. In addition, the Group has a contractual indemnity
provided to the purchaser of the disposed Aquascutum
subsidiaries if certain events occur within an expiry date of
eighteen months from the completion date i.e. from 23
November 2017.

Management’s estimate of the potential PRC customs duties
and indemnity liabilities of HK$120 million have been recorded
as provisions in the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2018.

We have identified the assessment of provisions for potential
PRC customs duties and indemnity liabilities as a key audit
matter because of its financial significance to the Group and
because the estimates on which these provisions are based
involve a significant degree of management judgements in
interpreting the various relevant rules and practices and
because determining the level of provisions may be subject to
a degree of management bias.

Our audit procedures to assess the provisions included the
following:

e  obtaining and inspecting the disposal agreement and
discussing with management their assessment on the
potential claims from the purchaser;

e  obtaining and inspecting correspondence between the
PRC customs authorities and the Group and discussing
with management to understand the nature and status of
the claims and potential exposures;

e engaging our internal PRC tax specialists to assist us in
assessing the estimates and provisions made by
management, including understanding the arguments and
interpretations made by management of the relevant rules
and practices of the authorities in the PRC and using our
knowledge and experience of the interpretations and
practices of the PRC customs authorities in similar
circumstances, to assess the possibility of error or
management bias;

e challenging the appropriateness of the assumptions
applied and estimates made in relation to the provisions
by considering the range of possible outcomes that may
be assessed under the applicable tax laws and regulations;
and

e  considering the Group’s disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements with reference to the requirements of
the prevailing accounting standards.
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Information other than the consolidated financial
statements and auditor’s report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information included in the annual report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liguidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional

judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

e  FEvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.
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° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence and, where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Hui Sau Yee, Jenny.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

27 June 2018
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

#HE - F— /N4FE=H=+— H I 4F B Forthe year ended 31 March 2018
(L4 i JC 5 7~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

i 2018 2017

Note $°000 $°000
WA Revenue 3&4 575,690 760,510
FEERN N Cost of sales (223,229) (827,298)
EBH Gross profit 352,461 433,212
oAb %2 (ks 48) Other income/(loss) 5 27,205 (11,566)
o84 AR Distribution costs (322,017) (402,767)
TECE T Administrative expenses (127,543) (118,735)
Ho A 58 5 2 T Other operating expenses (2,934) (4,669)
B8 EH Loss from operations (72,828) (104,525)
&) AL (B Ik 2 T A Net valuation gains on investment properties 11(a) 3,770 7,400
H B G W) 2 IR s T AR Net gain on disposal of an investment property 11() 4,378 _
Hy B B JE N T i 3R T R Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries 27(b) 220,790 -
Fil & A Finance costs 6(a) (86) (515)
BewgA OF#|) Profit/(loss) before taxation 6 156,024 (97,640)
BT 15 B Income tax 7(a) (4,709) (2,222)
ARAEERA O 8) Profit/(loss) for the year 151,315 (99,862)
B8 Attributable to:
7N E HE 35 % R Equity shareholders of the Company 151,023 (97,335)
I 2 I HE 2 Non-controlling interests 292 (2,527)
AAEEE R R (5 1) Profit/(loss) for the year 151,315 (99,862)
TREEA O #H) Earnings/(loss) per share 10
N & X Basic and diluted $0.91 $(0.59)

FAOHEFITHZ Mt B AMBEIRK L — a0 o &K
A JEEIE (1 25 2y ] B 25 JR AL 1 JR B T R S A W A 45 23 (b) A -

The notes on pages 49 to 117 form part of these financial statements. Details of dividends
payable to equity shareholders of the Company are set out in note 23(b).
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

#E F— N4E=H =+ — H I 4F & For the year ended 31 March 2018
(L4 # It % 7~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

B RE 2018 2017
Note $°000 $'000

A AR B A Ol 4] Profit/(loss) for the year 151,315 (99,862)
7 A B G Al 2 i W 2 Other comprehensive income for the year

(8 4% B 7 45 %500 4% (after tax and reclassification

adjustments)

AN B 3P o B 2 1A Item that will not be reclassified to profit or

ZIHHA : loss:
FrfE B £ R Surplus on revaluation of land and buildings

TR & Y % held for own use upon change of use to

Z H Al B R investment properties 11(b)() 99,229 _
H % A] GE B H 5 K 4% 18 Item that may be reclassified subsequently

ZIHH : to profit or loss:
T s DL AN R 2 Exchange differences on translation of

TS 3R T E AR Y financial statements of subsidiaries

[ 50, 75 1 based outside Hong Kong 29,277 (21,516)
7% A7 BE I fib 2 i K 2R Other comprehensive income for the year 128,506 (21,516)
7 AR )5 4 1hi L 2k A 7 Total comprehensive income for the year 279,821 (121,378)
0B - Attributable to:
AR ) HE 2 B R Equity shareholders of the Company 278,890 (119,409)
5 I HE Non-controlling interests 931 (1,969)
7 A BE 2 T MK 2 A Total comprehensive income for the year 279,821 (121,378)

FAOHFHENTHZ M it JG AR EZ — B0 -
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The notes on pages 49 to 117 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

= F - NFE=H =+ — H At 31 March 2018

(L4 7 JC 3 7~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Wit 5 2018 2017
Note $000 $'000
Ik i By ¥ Non-current assets
BEY ¥ Investment properties 11 381,580 180,655
HoAh Wy 2 ~ W5 B w% Other property, plant and equipment 11 33,547 112,236
\ 415,127 292,891
Y Intangible assets 12 102,050 102,050
O R Lease premium 13 6,354 6,225
T 4 e 4 Je LA 3K Rental deposits and prepayments 16,616 15,762
E GE Bl JE & Deferred tax assets 21(b) 32,964 35,081
573,111 452,009
W) ¥ Current assets
ERE M ® &I Trading securities 14 16,253 195
1+ 5 Inventories 15(a) 74,093 75,894
JARE S MR 3 B At 8 e 3R Trade and other receivables 16 53,129 40,866
A 3wy AR 1] B TH Current tax recoverable 21(a) 304 1,259
W& RH &5 EY Cash and cash equivalents 17(a) 244,964 150,504
SR BFEEAREN & Assets of a disposal group classified
A & as held for sale 27(a) - 605,515
388,743 874,233
S NER Current liabilities
JRE AT B R e L Ath 1R AT 3K Trade and other payables 18 79,824 112,585
SRATH K S 3L Bank loans and overdrafts 19 10,478 6,627
A A B 1A Current tax payable 21(a) 907 1,035
A Provisions 29 120,266 _
SRR B REAE TR L Liabilities of a disposal group classified
A7 A A as held for sale 27(a) - 43,121
211,475 163,368
R R Net current assets 177,268 710,865
HOF R W B A AR Total assets less current liabilities 750,379 1,162,874
IR ) 11 4% Non-current liability
% SiE B H B H Deferred tax liabilities 21(b) 1,730 2011
¥ NET ASSETS 748,649 1,160,863
JBe AR Be Akt i CAPITAL AND RESERVES
N Share capital 23(c) 383,909 383,909
o8 Reserves 337,843 749,095
A 2 i) HE 2% B R Total equity attributable to equity
M A5 B 23 A8 shareholders of the Company 721,752 1,133,004
Ik P L i 2 Non-controlling interests 26,897 27 859
BE3E B TOTAL EQUITY 748,649 1,160,863
HREREN F - NENH L HBUHE LB Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 June
HE A o 2018.
Bl & %% ) Chan Wing Sun, Samuel )
) )
) W ) Directors
JH BIE % ) Chan Suk Ling, Shirley )
) )

HAOH EHE N7 H Z M il A B K2 —ab

The notes on pages 49 to 117 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

#E - F— /)4 = H =+ — H Il “F ¥ For the year ended 31 March 2018
(L4 # It % 7~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

FRALAERRR
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

It Bk NERE  RERM O EARE  EMEE B FEREE  EEAE

Share Exchange Retained Capital  Revaluation Non-controling
Note capital resenve profits reserve resenve Total interests  Total equity
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
(F¥3E2300))  (WE&E23(d)) &k 23(c)i)  (HF 7E 23(c)in)
(Note 23(c)) ~ (Note 23(d)f) (Note 23(d)(l) ~ (Note 23(d)i)
REF-AENH- Balance at 1 April 2016 383,909 (7280 934,077 - - 1260706 2705 1,287,781
RS : Changes in equity:
FEEER Loss for the year - S T3] - N 1< N X7 N 1)
Kb 2w Other comprehensive income . 22,074) - . . 22074 558 21516
AEERHE AR Total comprehensive incorme - Qo074 (9733 - - (119409 (1969  (121.379)
BEFEECHER Dividends approved and paid in
EfRE respect of the previous year — 23(bj(i - - (8,293 - - (8,293 - (8,293
BT EEREG RS Dividends paid to
non-controling interests - - - - - - (60) (60)
A 3 Loan from non-controling
interests - - - - - - 2813 2813
R-F—LHEZN=T+—~H  Balanceat 31 March 2017
R=F-LENA-H and 1 April 2017 383909 (79354 828449 - - 1133004 27859 1,160863
EREH: Changes in equity:
FER A Proft for the year - - 151028 - - 151023 151315
eI TIe Other comprehensive income - 28,638 - - 99229 107,867 639 128506
AEERHNESEH Total comprehensive income - 28638 151,023 - 929 278890 931 279,821
BEFEECHER Dividends approved and paid in
EfRA respect of the previous year — 23(bj(i - - (16,586) - - (16,586) - (16,586)
AEELERR Interim dividend declared and
Bt 2 HBE paid in respect of the
curent year 230 - - B - - B - B
AEEDERR Special dvidend declared and
EffZ 5K E paid n respect of the
current year 230)f) - - [663459) - - [663459) - [663459)
BT RER RS Dividends paid to
non-controllng interests - - - - - - (343) (343)
TP B Loan from non-controling
interests - - - - - - 918 918
g £330 &0l Acquision of non-controling
interest - - - (1032 - (1,032 (2,468) (3,500)
HEN B AT Release of reserves upon
e disposal of subsiclaries ~~ 97}p) - 23072 - 1,032 - 24,104 - 24,104
RZZ-NEZHZ+—H  Balance at 31 March 2018 383909 [7644) 266258 - 99,229 721,752 26,897 748,649
BAOE EHE T H L Ml B AR MEBREZ — 80 - The notes on pages 49 to 117 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

#E - F— /)4 =H =+ — H It “F ¥ For the year ended 31 March 2018
(L4 7 L 3 7~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

k=3 2018 2017
Note $000 $000
BERD Operating activities
mEEH (TR EEZEE Cash (used in)/generated from operations 17(0) (51,467) 12,494
(B ),/ R B Tex (paid)/refunded
-~ BN EEANEE - Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (2,248) (1,408)
— 7 v DA A o [ O —Tax paid outside Hong Kong (1,874) (2.924)
— 18 [8] 7 1 75 B —Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded 477 2,015
— R[] A i D) A b IR Y I - Tax refunded outside Hong Kong 42 03
(3,603) (2,294)
WEWW ) /R 2 B2 Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities (55,070) 10,200
BEEH nvestingactiviies | [OEEEEEN
g N LAt 4 2 RS AR A AT 3K Payment for the purchase of other property, plant and
equipment (16,167) (20,797)
L UN(S§- ik S g Payment for the purchase of trading securities (18,900) -
W B I 4 P i K Payment for acquisition of non-controlling interests (3,500) -
Hj & f& SR EIEEE e Proceeds from disposals of investment properties 1) 14,678 66,300
EHAM Y BE R B R Proceeds from disposal of other property, plant and
equipment 357 28
HERE AR ZEHER Net cash inflow in respect of disposal of subsidiaries 27(b) 847,064 38,800
HoA B B A B0 15 RO Proceeds received upon maturity of other financial assets - 197
0 R R 2 8 R BT AR R Proceeds from disposal of trading securities 2,879 2959
E KA & Interest received 4,051 155
B i b i il 2 B Dividends received from listed securities 3 10
B 2 B AR Net cash generated from investing activities 830,465 87,382
.81 E}J Financing actvies | L
B RAT B OB 153 50 Proceeds from new bank loans - 13,509
fE % ﬁ% ﬁ f% N Repayments of bank loans 17(0) 2,112) (26,348)
T 2 M M i B K A SOR Proceeds from a loan from non-controling interests 918 2813
FIE S Interest paid 17(0) (86) (515)
C A2 ) 4 i 1R 2 B Dividends paid to equity shareholders of the Company (710,073) (8,241)
I 2 M b i A 2 Dividends paid to non-controling interests (343) (60)
5 ) O ) 2 B R Net cash used in financing activities (711,696) (18,822)
B4 BB A S5 B B I i Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 63,699 78,760
RENZRERRESEN Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning
of the year 17(a) 169,095 90,310
RWEREH S Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 1,692 5
REXZRAERRESHD Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 17() 234,486 169,095
ﬁ SRS R Analysis of the balances of cash and cash equivalents:
SAMBRNEZHE R Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement
He%EY of financial position 244,964 150,504
|ITBEL Bank overdrafts 19 (10,478) (4,515)
NEAFESENLEARRE R Cash and cash equivalents of a disposal group classified
Be%EY as held for sale 27(a) - 93106
SARBERERZHEER Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated cash flow
Be%EY statement 234,486 169,095
FEA9H E A7 H Z ML A B R Z — i i e The notes on pages 49 to 117 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(K% 3 4 Br 15 4b - 2 LIt JC 81 717~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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1 Significant accounting policies

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (‘HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountant (“HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These
financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).
Significant accounting policies adopted by the Group are
disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 1(c) provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods
reflected in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2018 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together
referred to as the “Group”).

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except that the following
assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value as explained in
the accounting policies set out below:

— investment properties (see note 1(f)); and

—  trading securities (see note 1(g)).

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale are stated
at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell
(see note 1(v)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making
the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements (continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs
that have significant effect on the financial statements and major
sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 2.

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued several amendments to HKFRSs that are
first effective for the current accounting period of the Group. None
of these impact on the accounting policies of the Group. However,
additional disclosure has been included in note 17(c) to satisfy
the new disclosure requirements introduced by the amendments
to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows: Disclosure initiative, which
require entities to provide disclosures that enable users of financial
statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and
non-cash changes.

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

Investments in subsidiaries are consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until
the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions
and cash flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiary not
attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect
of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the
holders of those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests
that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each business
combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(d)

(e)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from equity
attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-
controlling interests in the results of the Group are presented on
the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between non-controlling
interests and the equity shareholders of the Company. Loans from
holders of non-controlling interests and other contractual
obligations towards these holders are presented as financial
liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position in
accordance with note 1(m) or (n) depending on the nature of the
liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result
in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions,
whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling and
non-controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the
change in relative interests, but no adjustments are made to
goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for
as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained
in that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition of a financial asset (see note 1(e)) or,
when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an investment
in an associate.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investment in a
subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 1j)).

Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group’s and the Company’s policies for investments in debt
and equity securities, other than investments in subsidiaries, are
as follows:

Investments in debt and equity securities are initially stated an fair
value, which is their transaction price unless it is determined that
the fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction price
and that fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active
market for an identical asset or liability or based on a valuation
technique that uses only data from observable markets. Cost
includes attributable transaction costs, except where indicated
otherwise below. These investments are subsequently accounted
for as follows, depending on their classification:

Investments in securities held for trading are classified as current
assets. Any attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit
or loss as incurred. At the end of each reporting period the fair
value is remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss does not include any dividends or interest earned
on these investments as these are recognised in accordance with
the policies set out in notes 1(s)(iv) and (s)(v).
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e)

(g

Other investments in debt and equity securities (continued)

Dated debt securities that the Group and/or the Company have
the positive ability and intention to hold to maturity are classified
as held-to-maturity securities. Held-to-maturity securities are
stated at amortised cost less impairment losses (see note 1()).

When the investments are derecognised or impaired (see note
1(j)), the cumulative gain or loss recognised in equity is reclassified
to profit or loss. Investments are recognised/derecognised on the
date the Group commits to purchase/sell the investments or they
expire.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are owned
or held under a leasehold interest (see note 1(j)) to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation. These include land held
for a currently undetermined future use and property that is being
constructed or developed for future use as investment property.

Investment properties are stated at fair value, unless they are still
in the course of construction or development at the end of the
reporting period and their fair value cannot be reliably measured
at that time. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value
or from the retirement or disposal of an investment property is
recognised in profit or loss. Rental income from investment
properties is accounted for as described in note 1(s)(iii).

When the Group holds a property interest under an operating
lease to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, the
interest is classified and accounted for as an investment property
on a property-by-property basis. Any such property interest which
has been classified as an investment property is accounted for
as if it were held under a finance lease (see note 1(j)), and the
same accounting policies are applied to that interest as are applied
to other investment properties leased under finance leases. Lease
payments are accounted for as described in note 1(j).

Other property, plant and equipment

The following items of other property, plant and equipment are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see note 1()):

— land classified as being held under finance leases and
buildings thereon (see note 1(i);

—  buildings held for own use which are situated on leasehold
land classified as held under operating leases (see note 1(i));
and

—  other items of plant and equipment.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(2)

(h)

Other property, plant and equipment (continued)

If an item of other property, plant and equipment becomes an
investment property because its use has changed, any difference
between the carrying amount and the fair value of that item at the
date of transfer is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in land and buildings revaluation reserve. On the
subsequent sale or retirement of the asset, the relevant revaluation
reserve will be transferred directly to retained profits.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of other
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual value,
if any, using the straight-line method over their estimated useful
lives as follows:

Leasehold land is depreciated over the remaining term of
the lease.

—  Leasehold land classified as held under finance leases is
depreciated over the unexpired term of lease.

—  Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated over
the shorter of the unexpired term of the lease and their
estimated useful lives, being no more than 50 years after the
date of completion.

—  Plant and machinery 10 years

—  Leasehold improvements, motor vehicles

and furniture and equipment 2to 10 years

Where parts of an item of other property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a
reasonable basis between the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value,
if any, are reviewed annually.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item
of other property, plant and equipment are determined as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item and are recognised in profit or loss on the
date of retirement or disposal. Any related revaluation surplus is
transferred from the revaluation reserve to retained profits and is
not reclassified to profit or loss.

Intangible assets

Trademark acquired and lease premium paid by the Group with
an indefinite estimated useful life are stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 1(j)). Expenditure on internally generated brands
is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives are
assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the useful life of an
intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed annually to determine
whether events and circumstances continue to support the
indefinite useful life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for prospectively from the date of change and in
accordance with the policy for amortisation of intangible assets
with finite lives.



Wi i R B R

Notes to the Financial Statements

(B 573 4 Br 15 4 - # LI JE %1 78~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 3 25k ko (s

(1)

HE & E

i A 45 1 #f € % PE R A TE o E R
A3 AR S By B — AR B AZ B il R
—RERERZHEE MM A
ZEPE (i — R W — R LA
) AR LA A o i IR
5 % PE 2 B8R A R AL AR T
M 2 PR B B IE -

) MEFAREEEEZ DM

AEFRBEHEHRAZEE
v B A HE 2 48 R A B R
Bor M [m] i 3% 5% = A 4R B 2 A
)5 00 B LR ML o R i
B JT A HE 2 58 R HR 4y A1 B A f
Fe o] ¥ A4 1 2 ML R ER
MREEEHE > LU EULEIsh -

- MWRESEHERAEZY
ERGHAREMEZE
2o HI 4% A ) % 2
B B B R W 2 AN bR
MBI E Y ¥ AR R
EHEFA AR (2K
FAMHE) 5 &

- HEEHERHEARNZ T
Moo o Fo fE M kB R
b B 2 MR A A L
2~ e fE o B AR A
B T i SR R A AR R S
AN A BT
il AR 4 AC A B RR A RN BR
COR N AT =
5 ] 2 A% 46 B UCHT o
B 2 W B S R
NI E Z W o

(i) R A R

0 Jag A S DL B T B R E
FE T HE 2 1 DL BB AR
RHEEE XN REHIREHE
£ 3 2 BUAE (DL B AK 35 fy ) 2
SN Ry DY ~ BRSS B s o
85 AE AN B AL B R E
AT AR B (A S A T g
HEEZ AR 2B
1(g) B 1A - % i 8 LR AR BB
FE A ] 2 L A A 3 o
i 48 4 BB SR B 1() E P A 2 &
FE R A MR o B A SR Koz
il A A R I 1 1R AR B
DA 2% & wt 0 ] R Bk 2 28 55
FE A R — Bz i
sARAH e e HE R 2w R
AREEE ] o

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(i) Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines that
the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset or assets
for an agreed period of time in return for a payment or a series of
payments. Such a determination is made based on an evaluation
of the substance of the arrangement and is regardless of whether
the arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.

(i)  Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases which transfer
to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership are classified as being held under finance leases.
Leases which do not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the Group are classified as operating
leases, with the following exceptions:

—  property held under operating leases that would
otherwise meet the definition of an investment property
is classified as investment property on a property-by-
property basis and, if classified as investment property,
is accounted for as if held under a finance lease (see
note 1(f)); and

— land held for own use under an operating lease, the
fair value of which cannot be measured separately from
the fair value of a building situated thereon at the
inception of the lease, is accounted for as being held
under a finance lease, unless the building is also clearly
held under an operating lease. For these purposes, the
inception of the lease is the time that the lease was first
entered into by the Group, or taken over from the
previous lessee.

(i) Assets acquired under finance leases

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under finance
leases, the amounts representing the fair value of the leased
asset, or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease
payments, of such assets are recognised as other property,
plant and equipment. Depreciation is provided at rates which
write off the cost or valuation of the assets over the term of
the relevant lease or, where it is likely the Group will obtain
ownership of the asset, the life of the asset, as set out in
note 1(g). Impairment losses are accounted for in accordance
with the accounting policy as set out in note 1(j). Finance
charges implicit in the lease payments are charged to profit
or loss over the period of the leases so as to produce an
approximately constant periodic rate of charge on the
remaining balance of the obligations for each accounting
period. Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss in
the accounting period in which they are incurred.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(i) Leased assets (continued)

(i)

Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under operating
leases, payments made under the leases are charged to
profit or loss in equal instalments over the accounting periods
covered by the lease term, except where an alternative basis
is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived
from the leased asset. Lease incentives received are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments made. Contingent rentals are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which
they are incurred.

The cost of acquiring land under an operating lease is
amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease
term except where the property is classified as an investment
property (see note 1(f)).

() Impairment of assets

U

Impairment of investments in debt and equity securities and
other receivables

Investments in debt and equity securities and other current
and non-current receivables that are stated at cost or
amortised cost are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period to determine whether there is objective evidence of
impairment. Objective evidence of impairment includes
observable data that comes to the attention of the Group
about one or more of the following loss events:

- significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

— abreach of contract, such as a default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor; and

— asignificant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an
investment in an equity instrument below its cost.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

() Impairment of assets (continued)

U

Impairment of investments in debt and equity securities and
other receivables (continued)

If any such evidence exists, an impairment loss on trade and
other current receivables and other financial assets carried
at amortised cost is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest
rate computed at initial recognition of these assets), where
the effect of discounting is material. This assessment is made
collectively where these financial assets share similar risk
characteristics, such as similar past due status, and have
not been individually assessed as impaired. Future cash
flows for financial assets which are assessed for impairment
collectively are based on historical loss experience for assets
with credit risk characteristics similar to the collective group.

Ifin a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be linked objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised,
the impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss. A
reversal of an impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s
carrying amount exceeding that which would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior
years.

Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding
assets directly, except for impairment losses recognised in
respect of trade debtors included within trade and other
receivables, whose recovery is considered doubtful but not
remote. In this case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts
are recorded using an allowance account. When the Group
is satisfied that recovery is remote, the amount considered
irrecoverable is written off against trade debtors directly and
any amounts held in the allowance account relating to that
debt are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously charged to the allowance account are reversed
against the allowance account. Other changes in the
allowance account and subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off directly are recognised in profit or loss.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

@)

Impairment of assets (continued)

(i) Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may have

decreased:

other property, plant and equipment (other than
properties carried at revalued amounts);

pre-paid interests in leasehold land classified as being
held under an operating lease;

intangible assets; and

investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement
of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. In addition, for intangible assets that have
indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated
annually whether or not there is any indication of impairment.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows
largely independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

() Impairment of assets (continued)

(i) Impairment of other assets (continued)

—  Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating

unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of

cash-generating units are allocated to reduce the

carrying amount of the assets in the unit (or group of

units) on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value

of an asset will not be reduced below its individual fair

value less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in

use (if determinable).

—  Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a

favourable change in the estimates used
the recoverable amount.

Areversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s

to determine

carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.

Reversals of impairment losses are credited to profit or

loss in the year in which the reversals are recognised.

(i) Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to prepare an
interim financial report in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim
financial reporting, in respect of the first six months of the
financial year. At the end of the interim period, the Group
applies the same impairment testing, recognition, and

reversal criteria as it would at the end of the financial year

(see notes 1(j)(i) and (ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect
of available-for-sale equity securities and unquoted equity
securities carried at cost are not reversed in a subsequent

period. This is the case even if no loss, or a

smaller loss,

would have been recognised had the impairment been
assessed only at the end of the financial year to which the
interim period relates. Consequently, if the fair value of an
available-for-sale equity security increases in the remainder
of the annual period, or in any other period subsequently,
the increase is recognised in other comprehensive income

and not profit or loss.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(k)

U]

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost s calculated using the first-in, first-out formula and comprises
all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred
in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down
of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories
are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down or
loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of
inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of
inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the
reversal occurs.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value
and thereafter stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts (see
note 1(j)), except where the receivables are interest-free loans
made to related parties without any fixed repayment terms or the
effect of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the
receivables are stated at cost less allowance for impairment of
doubtful debts.

(m) Interest-bearing borrowings

(n)

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value
less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised
cost with any difference between the amount initially recognised
and redemption value being recognised in profit or loss over the
period of the borrowings, together with any interest and fees
payable, using the effective interest method.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value.
Except for financial guarantee liabilities measured in accordance
with note 1(r)(i), trade and other payables are subsequently stated
at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(0)

(r)

(q9)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are also included as a component of cash and
cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow
statement.

Employee benefits

(i)  Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

(i) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits
and when it recognises restructuring costs involving the
payment of termination benefits.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at
the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable
in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(q) Income tax (continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can
be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may support
the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the same
taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in the same
period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary
difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the
deferred tax asset can be carried forward. The same criteria are
adopted when determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising
from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those differences are
taken into account if they relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a
period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exception to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences relating to investments
in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable differences,
the Group controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable
that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or
in the case of deductible differences, unless it is probable that
they will reverse in the future.

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(f), the
amount of deferred tax recognised is measured using the tax
rates that would apply on sale of those assets at their carrying
value at the reporting date unless the property is depreciable and
is held within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the property
over time, rather than through sale. In all other cases, the amount
of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected
manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the
assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction
is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(q) Income tax (continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the
Company or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company
or the Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either:

—  the same taxable entity; or

—  different taxable entities, which, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets and settle the
current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.

(r) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent liabilities

U

Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer
(i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments to reimburse
the beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the
holder incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the fair value
of the guarantee is initially recognised as deferred income
within trade and other payables. The fair value of financial
guarantees issued at the time of issuance is determined by
reference to fees charged in an arm’s length transaction for
similar services, when such information is obtainable, or is
otherwise estimated by reference to interest rate differentials,
by comparing the actual rates charged by lenders when the
guarantee is made available with the estimated rates that
lenders would have charged, had the guarantees not been
available, where reliable estimates of such information can
be made. Where consideration is received or receivable for
the issuance of the guarantee, the consideration is
recognised in accordance with the Group’s policies
applicable to that category of asset. Where no such
consideration is received or receivable, an immediate
expense is recognised in profit or loss on initial recognition
of any deferred income.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(r) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent liabilities

(continued)

M

(i)

Financial guarantees issued (continued)

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as deferred
income is amortised in profit or loss over the term of the
guarantee as income from financial guarantees issued. In
addition, provisions are recognised in accordance with note
1(r)(ii) if and when (i) it becomes probable that the holder of
the guarantee will call upon the Group under the guarantee,
and (i) the amount of that claim on the Group is expected
to exceed the amount currently carried in trade and other
payables in respect of that guarantee i.e. the amount initially
recognised, less accumulated amortisation.

Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group or the Company has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure
expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(s) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable. Provided it is probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable,
can be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in profit or loss
as follows:

U

Sale of goods

Revenue arising from the sale of garments and printing
products is recognised when goods are delivered to the
customers’ premises or picked up by customers for
domestic sales and when goods are shipped on board for
export sales which is taken to be the point in time when the
customer has accepted the goods and the related risks and
rewards of ownership. Revenue excludes value added tax
or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(s)

®

Revenue recognition (continued)

(i) Royalty income

Royalty income is recognised on an accrual basis in
accordance with the substance of the relevant agreements.

(i)  Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset. Lease
incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss as an
integral part of the aggregate net lease payments receivable.
Contingent rentals are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are earned.

(iv) Dividends

- Dividend income from unlisted investments is
recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive
payment is established.

— Dividend income from listed investments is
recognised when the share price of the investment
goes ex-dividend.

(v) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method.

(vi) Service fee income

Service fee income are recognised when the relevant
services are rendered.

Translation of foreign currencies

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s
subsidiaries are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss.

2017/18 4 #

64



65

B % 4R B st
Notes to the Financial Statements
(B 3 4 Br 15 4F - 2 LI it o€ %1 713~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1

F = 5 BOR (8
(t) Sk (4)

(u)

(v)

2017/18 Annual Report

DA AN R S AR B 2 R B R E
FABERAL S B 2 ERBE - D
SR A RN REARZ K&
EE LA RRT A UE R E
Z MEFRREA -

i A 265 26 AR B S by HTE R A A
Z ME R T MBI DR IE
B2 4550 0 2 ME R4S s e -
Jiv E A 2 B St 2% RS b 4 Tk 4R
N il R S B T BE A P2 A BE fR A
R e

A SERS I - B R AR TERD I
SHLRZ 1 S0 S5 A B 1 B R BE L 22 R
R HE i 5 0B7 2k 51 1R 4R o

1 5 AR

PRI Wi i~ o A A (D
W ZH AR I — BERRR B [ 7 T A 4
& 8 & 2 E ) T E AL 2 E
B RS 2 4B A 5% 4 2 R A AR
oAt £ 508 A 2 7 FE AR R 39 ) B AR
B S -

J& T A A R R — B B
AR TE B R B S A
B R E BN B E T A B8 A BT
WO ZR B HEA TARAEAT T B i B AL -
TE 0 & A% E B B RUE g B
B T 6 ZH 9 4R B 2 HE A T AR A Ik
B 58 B o A B A 1 1
1E&EAAL -

R AE i 8 2 JF i B &

A R B (AR
M THD (L K A7 T BE 98 A 8 1 52 5 i Sl
I 925 o 5 A R Wi Tl o R w% (K
A AR FCBUAR 2 w4 i B
BT R AR R o AL R AR —
ML AN B — 28 oy P gl — B
M B 5% 45 A A B B AR
TR T A

R AR R AT W R R T
J& o~ w2 R 2 # R AN R
AR R AR R B R
Fl 2 R P R i 0w BB 2% W) 2 B
fEE KA G LAy B
P 8 2 A 1 B S 23 820 5 A o

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

®

(u)

v)

Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
that are stated at fair value are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial
position items are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity in
the exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the
exchange differences relating to that foreign operation is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on
disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset is
being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or
sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is
suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or
sale are interrupted or complete.

Non-current assets held for sale

A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified as held for
sale if it is highly probable that its carrying amount will be recovered
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use and
the asset (or disposal group) is available for sale in its present
condition. A disposal group is a group of assets to be disposed
of together as a group in a single transaction, and liabilities directly
associated with those assets that will be transferred in the
transaction.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of
control of a subsidiary, all the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary
are classified as held for sale when the above criteria for
classification as held for sale are met, regardless of whether the
group will retain a non-controlling interest in the subsidiary after
the sale.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(v) Non-current assets held for sale (continued)

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the measurement
of the non-current assets (and all individual assets and liabilities
in a disposal group) is brought up-to-date in accordance with the
accounting policies before the classification. Then, on initial
classification as held for sale and until disposal, the non-current
assets (except for certain assets as explained below), or disposal
groups, are recognised at the lower of their carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell. The principal exceptions to this
measurement policy so far as the financial statements of the Group
and the Company are concerned are deferred tax assets, assets
arising from employee benefits, financial assets (other than
investments in subsidiaries) and investment properties. These
assets, even if held for sale, would continue to be measured in
accordance with the policies set out elsewhere in note 1.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale, and on
subsequent remeasurement while held for sale, are recognised
in profit or loss. As long as a non-current asset is classified as
held for sale, or is included in a disposal group that is classified
as held for sale, the non-current asset is not depreciated or
amortised.

(w) Related parties

(1)  Aperson, or aclose member of that person’s family, is related
to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or the Group’s parent.

(2) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a group of which the other entity is a member).
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(w) Related parties (continued)

(x)

(2) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (continued)

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (1).

(vii) A person identified in (1)(i) has significant influence over
the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(vii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to

the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that
person in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines
of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority
of these criteria.
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Accounting judgements and estimates

Notes 11(b), 12, 13 and 24 contain information about the assumptions
and their risk factors relating to valuation of investment properties, fair
value of intangible assets, lease premium and financial instruments
respectively. Other key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(a)

(b)

(c)

Impairment of other property, plant and equipment, intangible assets
and lease premium

If the circumstances indicate that the carrying values of these
assets may not be recoverable, the assets may be considered
“impaired” and an impairment loss may be recognised in
accordance with HKAS 36, Impairment of assets. Under HKAS
36, other property, plant and equipment are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their
recorded carrying amounts may not be recoverable, while
intangible assets and lease premium with indefinite useful lives
are tested for impairment annually. When such a decline has
occurred, the carrying amount is reduced to recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the greater of its fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In determining the recoverable
amount, expected cash flows generated by the asset are
discounted to their present value, which requires significant
judgement relating to level of sales volume, selling prices and
amount of operating costs. The Group uses all readily available
information in determining an amount that is a reasonable
approximation of the recoverable amount. However, actual sales
volume, selling prices and operating costs may be different from
assumptions which may result in a material adjustment to the
carrying amount of the assets affected. Details of the nature and
carrying amounts of other property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets and lease premium are disclosed in notes 11,
12 and 13 respectively.

Depreciation of other property, plant and equipment

Other property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The Group
reviews the estimated useful lives of the assets regularly in order
to determine the amount of depreciation expense to be recorded
during any reporting period. The useful lives are based on the
Group’s historical experience with similar assets and taking into
account anticipated technological changes. The depreciation
expense for future periods is adjusted if there are significant
changes from previous estimates.

Provision for onerous operating lease contracts

Management estimates the provision for onerous operating lease
contracts being the present obligation of the unavoidable costs
under the operating lease contracts less than the economic
benefits expected to be received from the retail operations of
those retail store. The expected economic benefits are estimated
based on future cash flows generated from those retail stores
during the lease term. The estimations take into account the future
revenue and related expenses. An increase or decrease in the
provision would affect the Group’s profit or loss and net assets
value.
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2 Accounting judgements and estimates (continued)

(d)

(e)

"

(g

(h)

Write down of inventories

The Group performs regular reviews of the carrying amounts of
inventories with reference to aged inventories analyses, projections
of expected future saleability of goods and management
experience and judgement. Based on this review, a write down
of inventories will be made when the estimated net realisable value
decline below their carrying amounts of inventories. Due to
changes in customers’ preferences and actual saleability of goods
may be different from estimation and profit or loss in future
accounting periods could be affected by differences in this
estimation.

Provisions

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(r)(ii),
the Group has recognised provisions in respect of indemnity
liabilities and potential People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) customs
duties as detailed in note 22. Management estimates the
provisions with reference to the signed sales and purchase
agreement, communication with regulatory authority and the
status of the investigation. The provisions are reviewed annually
or when there are changes in management’s estimate of the
possible outflow of economic benefits. Any increase or decrease
in the provisions would affect profit or loss in future years.

Impairment loss for doubtful debts

The Group maintains an allowance for doubtful debts for estimated
losses resulting from the inability of debtors to make required
payments. The Group bases the estimates of future cash flows
on the ageing of the trade receivable balance as disclosed in note
16, debtors’ credit-worthiness and historical write-off experience.
If the financial condition of debtors were to deteriorate, actual
write-offs would be higher than estimated.

Deferred tax assets — future benefit of tax losses

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(q), the
Group has recognised deferred tax assets in respect of cumulative
tax losses as at the year end based on management’s assessment
that it is probable that future taxable profits against which the
losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction
and entity. Where the expectation is different from the original
estimates, such differences willimpact the recognition of deferred
tax assets and income tax charges in the period in which such
estimates are changed.

Valuation of investment properties

The fair value for the Group’s investment properties is calculated
by an independent firm of surveyors by making reference to the
comparable sales evidence in the relevant locality, or otherwise,
by capitalising the current rent derived from the existing tenancies
with provision for any revisionary income potential. The valuation
model used by the property valuer makes use of market inputs.
Should changes be made to the market inputs, the corresponding
investment property valuations would change.
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Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are garment manufacturing,
wholesaling and retailing, trademark ownership and licensing, property
investment and provision of security printing, general business printing
and trading of printing products.

The amount of each significant category of revenue is as follows:

2018 2017

$000 $'000

B B Sales of garments 471,169 643,482
ORI RE 22 K A BRIk 25 Royalty and related income 54,765 73,407
R K A B IR 5 0 22 Income from printing and related services 33,561 35,740
Gy EH S A B Gross rentals from investment properties 16,195 7,881
575,690 760,510
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The Group’s customer base is diversified and no individual customer
with whom transactions have exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue.

Further details regarding the Group’s principal activities are disclosed
in note 4 to these financial statements.

Segment reporting

(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are
organised by business lines. In a manner consistent with the way
in which information is reported internally to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of resources
allocation and performance assessment, the Group has presented
the following four reportable segments. No operating segments
have been aggregated to form the following reportable segments.

—  Sales of garments: the manufacture, wholesale and retail of
garments.

—  Licensing of trademarks: the management and licensing of
trademarks for royalty income.

—  Printing and related services: the manufacture and sale of
printed products.

—  Property rental: the leasing of properties to generate rental
income.
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4 Segment reporting (continued)

(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)
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For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s senior
executive management monitors the results, assets and liabilities
attributable to each reportable segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets and current
assets with the exception of deferred tax assets, trading securities,
club memberships, current tax recoverable, cash and cash
equivalents and other corporate assets. Segment liabilities include
trade and other payables and bank loans and overdrafts with the
exception of current tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and other
corporate liabilities.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments
with reference to sales generated by those segments and the
expenses incurred by those segments or which otherwise arise
from the depreciation of assets attributable to those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment loss/profit is “adjusted
EBITDA”, i.e. “adjusted earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and impairment loss on non-current assets”, where
“interest” is regarded as including investment income. To arrive
at adjusted EBITDA, the Group’s earnings/losses are further
adjusted for items not specifically attributed to individual
segments, such as other head office or corporate administration
costs.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning adjusted
EBITDA, management is provided with segment information
concerning revenue (including inter-segment sales), interest
income and expenses from cash balances and borrowings
managed directly by the segments, depreciation and impairment
losses and additions to non-current segment assets used by the
segments in their operations. Inter-segments sales are priced with
reference to prices charged to external parties for similar orders.
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4 4y ) 4 Segment reporting (continued)

(a) SFEBEH - & E KA (H) (a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)
BEFZT-NFE_F—LF=H Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as
=+ —HIEEE AEHKS BT provided to the Group’s most senior executive management for
A B BAS A B A 4 B 2 W iR the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
AL (DA H 3 47 TR 4 i e 40 38 % performance for the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017 is set
BLEEAR) > BERE QT E out below:

KAMEFZRA
Revenue from external customers
S EIA

Inter-segment revenue

LES Vi 1IN

Reportable segment revenue

HERABZOER) /%A
(B hBR A BB 97
Hi W& A)

Reportable segment (loss)/profit
(adjusted EBITDA)

FERA

Interest income

LS &

Interest expense

REFZH#

Depreciation for the year

B3 BR Rt 2 WE

E#

Impairment loss on other property,
plant and equipment

HEREN 2 W HE#R

Impairment loss on lease premium

VLS Vs 373

Reportable segment assets

REERERRHAIBERE

Additions to non-current segment
assets during the year

ABWAWAM

Reportable segment liabilities

643,482 73,407 35,740 7,881 760,510

16,035 371 9,068 25,474

643,482 89,442 36,111 16,949 785,984

(119,578) 43,925 (64,137)

110 110

(139) (139)

(18,468) (22,480)

(4482) (4,482)

(340) (340)

744,214 477,935 24,930 181,087 1,428,166

20,223 20,797

420,903 447,809
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4 5w E ) 4 Segment reporting (continued)
(b) HEHRPIHUNA- B2 BERA (b) Reconciliation of reportable segment revenues, profit or loss, assets
7 Z HR and liabilities
2018 2017
$°000 $'000
WA Revenue
EL T PN Reportable segment revenue 592,097 785,984
a3 M 2 Jh S Elimination of inter-segment revenue (16,407) (25,474)
el Consolidated revenue 575,690 760,510
7 Profit
JH SR A8 s 1R Reportable segment loss (39,553) (64,137)
3 P 1] 6 ) 2 4 Elimination of inter-segment profits (3,987) (4,063)
S ] ZEE SR Reportable segment loss derived from the
PLAN & F Group’s external customers (43,540) (68,200)
HAbug it/ (ks48) Other income/(loss) 2217 (411)
18 Depreciation (9,845) (22,483)
HibZE - s KMz Impairment loss on other property, plant and
T {E B 1 equipment _ (4,482)
FEMESE R W HEE Impairment loss on lease premium (874) (340)
Erd-L/E INEEN I E TR Net valuation gains on investment properties 3,770 7.400
R E/E /€ R E Net gain on disposal of an investment property 4,378 _
H B B B 2 R i A T Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries 220,790 _
Tl A Finance costs (86) (515)
P UNCIDS & X ¥ Unallocated head office and corporate expenses (20,786) (8,609)
W BT 45 4 3 R Ok 48) Consolidated profit/(loss) before taxation 156,024 (97,640)
473 Assets
EEH G E Reportable segment assets 870,606 1,428,166
1 5 TH] JRE Wik 2 18 Elimination of inter-segment receivables (207,313) (333,533)
663,203 1,004,633
A A ol 0 Deferred tax assets 32,964 55,660
EEE & Z# % Trading securities 16,253 195
o ir e Club memberships 750 750
A% 1 a] AR [e] B TH Current tax recoverable 304 1,376
ReERR&%EY Cash and cash equivalents 244,964 173,610
KO AT R Unallocated head office and corporate assets 3,326 18
GAEMER Consolidated total assets 961,854 1,306,242
<K Liabilities
TH R WA Reportable segment liabilities 407,208 447,809
3 T8 1) B ASF K 2 Elimination of inter-segment payables (207,313) (333,533)
199,895 114,276
7 7 8 AT i 15 B Current tax payable 907 2376
i SIE B TE B & Deferred tax liabilities 1,730 3,054
W B BB A F MMk 4 Deposit received in respect of the proposed
disposal of subsidiaries - 38,800
ROBZBAR RAEAE Unallocated head office and corporate liabilities 10,673 5973
A AT Consolidated total liabilities 213,205 165,379
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4 5 #E E) 4 Segment reporting (continued)
(c) Hb & 5 %5 & (c) Geographic information
2R A Ty A B R () A R The following table sets out information about the geographical
REIRFEF Z WA K (i)A%EHZ location of (i) the Group’s revenue from external customers
BaEWE - Hahy - W5 &t and (ii) the Group’s investment properties, other property, plant
MY I F B RE &R (M4 € FE R and equipment, intangible assets and lease premium (“specified
BEE] o K 2 0 E o i 2 3R non-current assets”). The geographical location of customers is
JIR B £ Ak g ul & 5 % b T e 2 based on the location at which the services were provided or
FmEED > Hh - WE & the goods delivered. The geographical location of the specified
5 K B 2By I ) A R R R B non-current assets is based on the physical location of the asset,
BRI AE b T AR & A ML TR 4 in the case of other property, plant and equipment and lease
i 2 R HL A T A b o premium, and the location to which they are managed, in the

case of intangible assets.

R HA R % P BA ¥ s Ik Wt W &
Revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
2018 2017 2018 2017
$°000 $’000 $°000 $'000
it () Hong Kong (place of domicile) 258,756 312,126 104,452 409,528
f i Taiwan 62,199 61,720 2,349 1,520
e ] A 3 [ Other areas of the PRC 158,808 238,684 100,023 19,788
P The United Kingdom 63,322 110,593 208,010 233,126
Ho At Others 32,605 37,387 108,697 108,354
316,934 448,384 419,079 362,788
575,690 760,510 523,531 772,316
5 Hfbwesi O ) 5 Other income/(loss)
2018 2017
$°000 $'000
AL AEEFT AR Z 2 & Interest income on financial assets not at fair
2 F Bl A value through profit or loss 4,051 155
i 5 e A Service fee income 4,078 3,805
JRE sz B £ Claims receivable 829 644
& ol Alteration charges 110 162
TR BB A Dividend income from listed securities 3 10
BE Sl 25 (5 18) 5 4 Net exchange gain/(loss) 17,867 (20,799)
HEFEE R ZHEHEHRTFE Netloss on disposal of trading securities (14) (141)
EEE M®2EAEEE 2 RE B Net unrealised gain on trading securities
Wi 4 73 R 51 49
HoE H A 4 26 - k= M sk M5 A 2E Net loss on disposal of other property, plant
pal Ei=REE and equipment (1,873) (739)
H A Others 2,103 5,298
27,205 (11,566)

2017/18 4 #
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6 BB Wi WA (s )
3 T 0 O ) E 4B (REA)

6 Profit/(loss) before taxation

Profit/(loss) before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2018 2017
$000 $'000
(@ ME A (@  Finance costs
SRAT 23K S8 A B Interest on bank loans and overdrafts 86 515
b) B T A (b)  Staff costs*
P SN Contributions to defined contribution
Z kK retirement plans 13,129 13,308
Bra - LE RIAbEF Salaries, wages and other benefits 176,802 185,268
189,931 198,576
© HAhiHH ©) Otheritems
73 ¢4 Auditors’ remuneration
— % BURH - audit services
— 515 g S - KPMG 5,697 4,871
— LAt A% B - other auditors 034 813
— BB M B ~ tax services 1,361 547
— oAl i B - other services 5,291 610
13,283 6,841
REHEEm Operating lease charges™:
— e (B A R - minimum lease payments 165,322 197,890
—H AR ~ contingent rental payments 8,400 9,596
173,722 207,486
HoAb 3~ W5 T % i i 85 Depreciation of other property,
(Bft 5E 58 11 () ) plant and equipment* (note 11(a)) 9,845 22 483
Hoth 2 BT R 2 WE s Impairment loss on other property,
(Bt 5155 11() JR) plant and equipment (note 11(a)) - 4,482
TH B 2 H 2 W (A s 1 Impairment loss on lease premium
(W 5E 55 131H) (note 13) 874 340
JRE i B 2R 2 8 (B s 1R Impairment loss on trade debtors
(Bft & 55 16(0) 3H) (note 16(b)) 1,726 4870
JRE ST MR T 2 (T 4 I 4 Reversal of impairment loss on trade
(Bt 3% 55 16(0) ) debtors (note 16(b)) (1,535) (1,974)
BOE W) 3 i 8 el A Rentals receivable from investment
3 143,205,000 7T properties less direct outgoings of
(=& — L4 11,466,000 7C) $3,205,000 (2017: $1,466,000) (12,990) (6,415)
7 B A (B RE 55 15(0) JH) Cost of inventories* (note 15(0)) 223,229 307,298

FOTE R B BB LR 8 * Cost of inventories includes $13,919,000 (2017:
I WE R RS EHE R AR $21,762,000) relating to staff costs, depreciation,
13,919,000 7t (=% — L 4 : 21,762,000 impairment loss and operating lease charges, which
JC) o A B IR T RO A b 3 s AR AR amount is also included in the respective total
6(b) T8 4 Al 51l 7% 2 45 0 2 A 4B A o amounts disclosed separately above or in note 6(b)

for each of these types of expenses.
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B A A AR R BT S 2 B 1 B

7 Income tax in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss

e A RITIZ BIH % (a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss represents:
2018 2017
$000 $'000
AR B — A B Current tax - Hong Kong Profits Tax
A A Provision for the year 2,101 2084
DAVEAEE AR/ Gl o) 8 4l Under/(over)-provision in respect of prior years 835 (456)
2,936 1,828
AR BLIE — U DA A L Current tax - Outside Hong Kong
A L Provision for the year 1,587 1,973
LA 47 48 7R 45 Over-provision in respect of prior years (934) 677)
653 1,296
B #E B8 Deferred tax
EE A 488 (] R 2 Origination and reversal of temporary differences 1,120 (902)
4,709 2,222

T N A B2 B
iz A A B Al FTRE SR B i A 1Y 16.5%
(. F— L4 1 16.5%) 55 -

A s LA S 4 [ S JE 2> W] 2 B JE R LA
AR B B 5 2 BT B ARG o

T BB LR > A B G i E IR
1) 1 2 Bl I 10% TE A0 B - SR T -
JH AR 10% T8 40 BL 0 BB 8 5 ok
B EET AR — H — H B
Rl RN s S [ e S
B AE R R i 2 T AT A B o B
I AT e K TE A0 B R AR o AR B
B B A s R RO M OB W A
£E [ ZH S A 42 B AP S B R S | T
ST B AE AT 1 B % 5% 1Y TE 1 B R A%
fTHEFOBL -

AR B A AR T E O ZE S A R R
F20% (& — L4 20%) - H B A
EEAERBEBL R -F— NFE=H
= H R E BT A B AR
20% ( —F—L4E 1 20%) B KFTHE -

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2018 is calculated
at 16.5% (2017: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for
the year.

Taxation for subsidiaries based outside Hong Kong is charged
at the appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in the relevant
jurisdictions.

Under the tax law of the PRC, a 10% withholding tax shall be
levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the Group’s
PRC subsidiaries, however, only the dividends attributable to the
profits of the financial period starting from 1 January 2008 will
be subject to withholding tax. A lower withholding tax rate may
be applied if there is a tax treaty arrangement between the PRC
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investor. Pursuant to a double
tax arrangement between the PRC and Hong Kong, the Group
is subject to a withholding tax at a rate of 5% for any dividend
payments from its PRC subsidiaries.

The corporate tax rate applicable to the Group’s operations in
the UKis 20% (2017: 20%) for the year. The deferred tax assets
and liabilities as at 31 March 2018 in respect of the Group’s
operations in the UK was calculated using a tax rate of 20%
(2017: 20%).

2017/18 4 #
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7 A M AR R B A Z B 4 B (a0

(b) JF 74 B SC i A gy wl A (kG 18) #%

7 Income tax in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss (continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit/(loss) at

BT B G52 HR - applicable tax rates:
2018 2017
$°000 $000
bR B i L (B 48D Profit/(loss) before taxation 156,024 (97,640)
e IR AH BB R R 2 Notional tax on profit/(loss) before taxation,
Bl AR T 5 R B T U6 AL (s 48) calculated at the rates applicable in the
Z A FEBLH countries concerned 31,901 (17,608)
R0 B S 2 B JE g 2 Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 5,648 8,299
Fe B A 2 B R 2 Tax effect of non-taxable revenue (55,291) (12,566)
AR BEER B Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 17,408 26,794
DA 4E 5 R W SN A 4E N TERR Tax effect of tax losses not recognised in prior
ZBEERZ Y E years recognised during the year - (312)
DR AE R SR T A 4E A E ) Tax effect of tax loss not recognised in prior year
ZBEHE R YR utilised during the year @) (1,252)
KETEFRERI CRERE 2 BiTE K 1H Derecognition of tax losses previously recognised 5,146 _
LU 4R FE 2 8 700 5 e Over-provision in prior years (99) (1,133)
B IE B 3 Actual tax expense 4,709 2992
S HIHM 4L 8 Directors’ emoluments

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are

FRYE A s (A R 55 383(1) e S {7 /) (B
75 A 1 AR BB 2 2 FR 2 K T B
ToHEEMES W

as follows:
Fid WM R
A& iy S|
Salaries, ik
allowances ) 5 A6 41 Retirement
HHHE and benefits Discretionary scheme At
Directors’ fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000  $000  $000  $000  $000
HIFHEF Executive directors
Bk 5 Chan Wing Sun, Samuel 60 30 1,122 1,122 2,906 50 - - 4088 1,02
T B Chan Suk Ling, Shirley 60 30 2,064 2,064 @ 4,079 92 - 15 © 6,208 2,201
R Fu Sing Yam, Wiliam 60 30 2070 2,070 5,053 85 90 90 | 7,218 2275
CEFS Chan Andrew 60 30 | 1,380 1,380 = 3,954 61 60 60 | 5454 1531
Bk % Chan Wing Fui, Peter 60 30 - - 1,700 - - - 1,760 30
B Chan Wing Kee 60 30 - - 200 - - - 260 30
B K 3 Chan Wing To 60 30 - - 200 - - - 260 30
Wi FH#A  Independent
o non-executive directors
TR EL Leung Hok Lim* - 160 - - 200 - - - 200 160
M F Lin Keping 110 80 - - 200 - - - 310 80
i AL K@ Sze Cho Cheung, Michael® 150 120 - - 200 - _ - 350 120
BER Choi Ting Ki 150 100 = - 200 - = - 350 100
BRiE RS So Stephen Hon Cheung® 150 - = - 200 - - - 350 -
&SN Li Guangming® - _ - _ _ _ _ _ _ _
980 670 = 6,636 6,636 19,092 288 150 165 | 26,858 7,759
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PRSI F LA T RREAL A
S I BT HE T o A 28 R RIS
TR -

MR RN ZF
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—NE A T HEAE AL AE
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B L AT o AR 4y A AR RS S A
ETHEELE-

s M A AL

TE I M e 2 A PO (&
— LA L) A E S A B
M REH S W E _F — NE=A
=t —HIEHMA L2 M BEmT

8 Directors’ emoluments (continued)

*

Mr. Leung Hok Lim has retired as independent non-executive director of the Company
on 20 September 2017. No directors’ fee was paid from the Company during the
year.

& Mr. So Stephen Hon Cheung was appointed as independent non-executive director
of the Company on 20 September 2017.

@ Mr. Sze Cho Cheung, Michael has resigned as independent non-executive director
of the Company on 2 January 2018.

# Mr. Li Guangming was appointed as independent non-executive director of the
Company on 2 January 2018. No directors’ fee was paid from the Company during
the year.

Individuals with highest emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, four (2017: four)
are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 8. The
emoluments of the other individual for the year ended 31 March 2018
are as follows:

2018 2017
$°000 $'000
B e SOCH AN 4 Salaries and other emoluments 1,902 2,089

W 72 7L AL
RERE S RN

B & A Ol 1)

(a) TFWRHEBF - (EH)
BB EEARBA (4R iR A
EE 2R S A RE R I R OMEAS &
F1151,023,000 6 ( — & — L 4 5
897,335,000 70) K £ B 17 3% 48 A
# 165,864,000 it ( — & — L 4F:
16&864DOOH£)§+§$

(b) FRBHERF (5 HE)
WE - F—-NFRL_-F—-LF=H
=+ — B IEFEE AN AR
T A W RE T 0 R ot
AR R (ks 48) B A i 38 0 2
/(s 8) M o

Discretionary bonuses 201 281
Retirement scheme contributions — _

2,193 2,370

10 Earnings/(loss) per share

(a) Basic earnings/(loss) per share
The calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share is based on the
profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the Company
of $151,023,000 (2017: loss of $97,335,000) and 165,864,000
(2017: 165,864,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

(b) Diluted earnings/(loss) per share

There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding during
the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017. Accordingly, the diluted
earnings/(loss) per share is the same as basic earnings/(loss) per
share.

2017/18 4 #
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11 B#EYERLBWE - B

11 Investment properties and other property, plant
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& ] and equipment
(a) R 1E Z R (a) Reconciliation of carrying amount
ity
el Y
AR T 00 2t
2Lk Leasehold
e K%  improvements,
Land and %  motorvehicles, 3¢ /Fd
Wt buidingsheld Plantand  fumitureand vt Investment it
Note forownuse  machinery  equipment  Sub-total properties Total
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
BA S AR 1 ¢ Cost or valuation:
REZ=RENA-R At1 Apri 2016 142,503 22,982 136,764 302,249 251,650 553,899
j@éaﬁﬂﬁé’ Exchange adjustments (11,216) (180) (6,348) (17,744) (11,599) (29,339)
hE AQd\twons - 1,118 19,679 20,797 - 20,797
ik ‘ Disposals - (19 (23,038) (23,757) (66,800) (90,957)
PEERERENLERR Reclassifed to a disposal group
classified as held for sale 27a) - - (71,29 (71,29 - (71,29
ARERE Fair value acjusment - - - - 7,400 7400
REZ-tE=ZH=1-0 At 31 March 2017 31287 BT 5576 210253 18065 390908
R#: Representing:
A Cost 131,287 2,201 55,765 210283 - 210258
fili-—% -4 Valuation - 2017 - - - - 180855 180655
131,287 23,201 55,765 210,253 180,655 390,908
RoZ LRI At Al 2017 BT B KT 20258 106D 30908
EiAY Exchange adjustments 6,902 199 2,284 9,385 16,775 26,160
hE Addtions - 7 16,007 16,014 - 16,014
firk ‘ Disposals . ‘ - (6,950) (6,391) (13,341) (10,300) (28,641)
BEERENE Tansfer to investment properes o) (95799 - (439 [(100191) 190680 90489
NRMEHRE Fair value adjustment - - - - 3770 3770
BEF-AF=ZRZF-H ALSI Mach2018 R0 1647 6373 12210 381580 508700
R#: Representing:
ik Cost 42,390 16,457 63,273 122,120 - 122,120
fifi-—F- A Valuation - 2018 - - - - 381580 381580
42,390 16,457 63,273 122,120 381,580 508,700
L HEEE Accumulated depreciation:
REE=RENA-H At1 Apr 2016 85T 16564 98689 14380 - 380
AL Exchange adjustments (10) ) (3519 (3805) - (3805)
KRR Charge for the year 2.3 1168 18931 22483 -
HEER Impaiment osses - 4,109 318 4482 - 4,482
i Eﬂ?;f ] Written back on disposals - (129 22,861) (22,990) - (22,990)
PEARERER L B4R Reclassiied to a disposal group
classified as held for sale 27(8) - - 45,979) (45,973) - (45,973)
REZ—-tEZH=1-H At 31 March 2017 B 1 AT IO Y s B 1)1 A
RoZ—LENA-R A1 Aprl 2017 0763 2168 4662 9017 il
EnE Exchenge adjustments 180 199 1,738 2,117 - 2117
KEETE Gharge for the year 2,061 466 7318 9845 - 9845
EREE Witen back on disposals _ (6,789) 5,879) (12,666) ; (12,666)
BURERENE Transfer to investment properties (o)) (5,729 - (3011) (8.740) - (8,740)
REF-AE=A=t-H  A3IMarch2018 _ a5 15510 45788 8853 - 88673
I i 0 ¢ Net hook value:
REF-AEZA=1-H At31 March 2018 15,115 o7 17,485 BT BB 4517
REF-tE=A=1—H At 31 March 2017 100524 1,568 10144 1122 18065 202,801
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1 B#EYERLBYE - B

we (&)

W& 1 A 2 R (A)
B AE s H

Mo —tLEZH = —HILAEE -
Wi S [ T A ol SN (VAR
IR R WA B B 4 B A R
WAHPME LS HEgFEE
FAZ AL S 5% Al vl fig s Bk (E » R UG
S  ET A B R S &t A A
BT A R0 AR L B s A B BT e [l
SR A B A E AR I O =
HowT g A1 45 #E & 0 © 4,109,000 TG
J% 373,000 7t #9 I {E 5 48 4 Bl 4% [ 84
B AS ] K47 B 0 I RERR AR AT
Wi Il & BE R AG S T R B G TR
B B 4 A B 1) i PR (ELE A =T
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11 Investment properties and other property, plant
and equipment (continued)

(a)

(b)

Reconciliation of carrying amount (continued)

Impairment losses

During the year ended 31 March 2017, certain cash-generating
units of the Group recorded operating losses which indicate the
plant and machinery, leasehold improvements and furniture and
equipment belong to those cash-generating units might have
been impaired. As a result, the management reviewed the
recoverable amount of the relevant plant and machinery, leasehold
improvements and furniture and equipment and the carrying
amount of such assets was written down to their recoverable
amount of $Nil. An impairment loss of $4,109,000 and $373,000
was recognised in “cost of sales” and “administrative expenses”
respectively. The estimates of recoverable amount were based
on value in use of the cash-generating units to which these assets
belong where the Group assessed these cash-generating units
are unable to generate positive cash flows to the Group.

Fair value measurement of investment properties

(i)  Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
investment properties measured at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level
fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value
measurement. The level into which a fair value measurement
is classified is determined with reference to the observability
and significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique
as follows:

—  Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level
1inputsi.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement
date

—  Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2
inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level
1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data
are not available

—  Level 3valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs
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11 BEMEXRLBYE - B
B i B (%10)
(b) #EYWELALR MG E ()
() 2~ RAEZEHE (5

11 Investment properties and other property, plant

and equipment (continued)

(b) Fair value measurement of investment properties (continued)

M

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

REZ—A%  REB-AEZASL AR
=f=+4—H A RAHRABMZER
A oAb Fair value measurements
fealm e RED 31 March 2018 categorised into
31 March % B W=
2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
e PEIE e R Recurring fair value
ZA R measurement
-LE-Fik — Industrial - Hong Kong 85,370 _ _ 85,370
S LE B — Commercial — Macau 88,200 _ _ 88,200
e — Commercial
— The United Kingdom 208,010 - - 208,010
W2 — L4 R_-Z—-t#E=H=1+—-HM
=Z=H=+—H R EiS Tig P
WA fofii Fair value measurements
Fair value at  asat 31 March 2017 categorised into
31 March W% % W=
2017 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
$000 $000 $°000 $°000
WA IS B’ Recurring fair value ‘
ZARE measurement
- L¥-Fik - Industrial - Hong Kong | 91,900 - - 91,900
B - Commercial ‘
— The United Kingdom | 88,755 — _ 88,755

PEE-E - NEFE=ZA =1 —
Hoak 4F B > R 5R — s B 28 — &K
AR 2L R NE L
GVRSIE IS Qe e o S PR
A AR T Y SR A E AR RS 1Y
e AT R S U E R
A S o

REE_E-NANFE=ZH =4 —
Hoak 4F BE > — il A 5 1 A
S W0 3 A0 — I8 AL TE B )
V& W) AR KRR AN
Slf A 5 A AR G [ At 4y 3
i 7 A A T U [ BE
I SN U @ B2 /A1
TR B R BE R %
—tHE=A=+—HEHNH
ERRIEN: S A e Rl
B 45 ME R S5 1398 [ 4 2 (7t #
PIr e 2 =8 SefE R o BRI
Al 7 6% 99,229,000 ¥ T 74 F At
A5 Wi Al R AR RS A MR -

2017/18 Annual Report
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During the year ended 31 March 2018, there were no
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or
out of Level 3 (2017: Nil). The Group’s policy is to recognise
transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end
of the reporting period in which they occur.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, a shop premise in
Macau and an office in the UK originally held for own use in
previous years were reclassified from other property, plant
and equipment to investment properties upon change of
use. Upon the change of use, the fair values were determined
based on the professional valuation made as at 31 March
2017 using direct comparison approach and are categorised
as Level 3 fair value measurements as defined in HKFRS
13, Fair value measurement. As a result, revaluation surplus
of $99,229,000 was recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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11 BEMEXR LB E - B
Bt i ()

(b) HE Y RN A2 (H])
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(i)

NS AE A ()

AL T AREY R F
—NEZA = HEBSE -
il (6L vh 78 52 ) 8 R S 5 T B A
BRRR B Al 3 50 AT R 2 W AT
W w8 TR A U R A e
ERG R HEMAARAEAR
UERLE/ES R DS OES
R BIOR B P E E RSB K
) T A (R A AR

B SE = A S R R

11 Investment properties and other property, plant

and equipment (continued)

(b) Fair value measurement of investment properties (continued)

U)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

All of the Group’s investment properties were revalued as at
31 March 2018. The valuations were carried out by an
independent firm of surveyors, Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory
Limited (“Ravia”), who have among their staff Fellows of the
Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors with recent experience in
the location and category of properties being valued. The
management have discussion with the surveyors on the
valuation assumptions and valuation results when the
valuations were performed at the end of each reporting period.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

Ao Bl
A 1F 8% g L PN € WE O mBETHY
Valuation Unobservable Weighted
techniques inputs Range average
— 1% - Industrial - Hong Kong T ¥ bR Ak (E e LE X (10)% to 0% 5)%
— Market comparison e =x (2017: (5)% (2017: 0%)
valuation approach Discount/premium to 5%)
on quality of
the properties
L E S — Commercial - Macau T 55 b WA {8 YEEE 0% to 20% 15%
— &M Market comparison FeER (2017: N/A) (2017: N/A)
valuation approach Discount/premium
on quality of
the properties
— ¥ - Commercial 35 LAl 8 % ES S 5% to 10% 7.5%
— I — The United Kingdom Market comparison TR (2017:(10% (2017: (4)%)
valuation approach Discount/premium to 10%)
on quality of
the properties

fr 7 s~ WP R e B E
W) 3 2 2 B )5 2 %5 A B i
IR IR R i AN
T 35 {8 (B 5 % 50K BUA MR T
A 2 A 4 e FH A 39 1% BT
FH 4 A AL T E e

o3 T 3 HU ik A E A i A aK
I ol o Ty R E M T BT 0 8 4R
1 b o MR R B - W 1 IS
TR A SRR BT

BEWEN RN REHBRGES
18 1 2 [ 450 W) 36 Al (B i 4 3
JH R A AR AR

The fair value of investment properties located in Hong Kong,
Macau and the United Kingdom is determined on an open
market value basis, by either making reference to the
comparable sales evidence in the relevant locality, or
otherwise, by capitalising the current rent derived from the
existing tenancies with the provision for any revisionary
income potential.

The premium or discount used in market comparison
valuation approach is specific to the building compared to
the recent sales. Higher premium for higher quality buildings
will result in a higher fair value measurement.

Fair value adjustment of investment properties is recognised
in the line item “Net valuation gains on investment properties”
on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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11 #EYWERLBWE W 11 Investment properties and other property, plant

Bt M () and equipment (continued)
(c) 43 By HR I i 1 sk A 1 A0 T 2 F - (c) The analysis of net book value or valuation of properties is as follows:
2018 2017
$°000 $°000
WA In Hong Kong
- IR - medium-term leases 95,044 102,804
s LAk Outside Hong Kong
-RHHE — long-term leases 208,010 170,269
- g - short-term leases 93,641 8,106
396,695 281,179
& Representing:
BRAANESEAR 2 LR Land and buildings held for own use carried at
2 37 cost 15,115 100,524
WAREANEZ R EYE Investment properties as fair value 381,580 180,655
396,695 281,179
(d) KEBREWHEZFHENT : (d) Details of the Group’s investment properties are as follows:
Rl & o 2 Properties held for investment
Term of
b 5 Hui %  #lM Location Existing use lease
JUHE b YE B 7 4 5% /N 1 Unit B, C, D, G and Hon 7/F, and Offices, Medium
e JIE T 3 K L 7 4 TR B Car Parking Space No. 8 on 1/F,  factories and
BC D GMH=E: BE Wah Shun Industrial Building, warehouses
e 1 #8585 45 HE AL 4 Cho Yuen Street, Yau Tong,
Kowloon
JURE B T 15 1 28 T &  Unit No. 4 on 6/F, and Factories Medium
) Bx TR 5L 6 4 Unit Nos. 1 and 2 on 8/F,
4% Jr gt KoE Lee Sum Factory Building,
28 Ng Fong Street, Kowloon
Kam Loi Res-Do-Chao RN 5§ Kam Loi Res-Do-Chao Retail shops Short
H Avenida Do Infante D. H Avenida Do Infante D.
Henrique N26 Em Macau Henrique N26 Em Macau
Nos. 42-43 Great e E £ Nos. 42-43 Great Marlborough Office and Long
Marlborough Street, P&y Street, London W1V, restaurants
London W1V, The United Kingdom

The United Kingdom
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11 BEMEXR LB E - B
B it M ()

() WABHEHMEMBIEETYE

11 Investment properties and other property, plant
and equipment (continued)

(e) Investment properties leased out under operating leases

A DL RS LB A B E W 2k
W — B Al — 2 =+ 5%
HAREEEAZ A REY > u
Fiv A Ao 4 AT E R B E o 4% TH AL
ARG SRS -

DAAE 7 R B A AR At 5 T 3 4
AHREVEERZWE KRB

PN LR NI gl g E =g
H &R 2 KA G ki AT -

The Group leases out investment properties under operating
leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of one to twenty
five years, with an option to renew the lease after that date at
which time all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases includes
contingent rentals.

All properties held under operating leases that would otherwise
meet the definition of investment properties are classified as
investment properties.

Total future minimum lease receipts under non-cancellable
operating leases are receivable as follows:

2018 2017
$°000 $'000
— 4 A Within 1 year 16,611 6,731
—EFAH R4 R After 1 year but within 5 years 23,419 18,615
T AE 1% After 5 years 32,263 34,920
72,293 60,266

) MoFE—-NFZA=Z+—HILFE- (f) During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group disposed a unit

AL H A — I A fe{E 4% 10,300,000

of an investment property in Hong Kong with fair value of

T FEREREWEE L AE A $10,300,000 at a consideration of $14,678,000, resulting in a net
14,678,000 7C » 1 B I 5 1§ %E B gain on disposal of $4,378,000 (2017: Ni).

4,378,000 70 (—~F — L 4F « M)

W oFE L= = — 1R E During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group entered into a

AR AE W BL— 3T 5 = 5 R T A ko
¥k & — JEAC{E £ 66,800,000 I 1 &
HBHEYWE - THEN T NE
A=+t HEMR Z G ER
CE-NERA=ZTHIBEESR
% EE > fil (H W 251,800,000 7T E 1E
& /‘TE?LEEﬂ“ElJLf\{E]HE’J
AEGRNHERA

2 1B

preliminary agreement to sell an investment property in Hong
Kong to a third party at a cash consideration of $66,800,000.
The transaction was completed on 30 December 2016. The
investment property was presented as assets held for sale as at
30 September 2016 and a valuation gain of $1,800,000 was
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the
six months period ended 30 September 2016.

12 Intangible assets

2018 2017
Note $°000 $°000
[ Aquascutum | i 12 Aquascutum trademark - 345 832
[ Guy Laroche J i 1% Guy Laroche trademark 102,050 102,050
102,050 447,882
S EEESFENHELN  Reclassified to a disposal group
classified as held for sale 27(a) - (345,832)
102,050 102,050

The Guy Laroche trademark is considered to have an indefinite
useful life and is accounted for in accordance with accounting policy
note 1(h).

[ Guy Laroche J P 152 % 15 1 7T 4 [R50 1 ) »
S AR B B S 1(n) TH 2 & R EUR AR -
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12 1% & &= (50)

(a)

(b)
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i FR A AT A5 O AR ) R R A B

Laroche ] i) 2 BR 36 %5 > ] & 37 5k Al -

[Aquascutum B & d =& — L4
SH=E1— HEEAMHIRDEZ
ERFERENEEHAN XE R %
—NFEZH=Z+—HILEEHE (R
W 5L S5 27 JA) o

[Guy Laroche | P 422 () AT Wi [B] 42 %8 9
Fe A FUAE W AR DL BB 4 IR
PAEHA o m IR ER A G R R A
AMAAER -FE—-AF=H=+—
HHEAT o 2 FO(H #2 & W I 75 i 5 o
RISE 13982y 72 fH 7 22 ] (2 B Mt 5 46
1)) ) Fr A B2 Z 8P > 8
PEAG B 7 15 T N B0 B w AR
=& o

g RR R DLAH R Oy S E Tk
[o] 5 B A H 2B U0 A AT o] 5 2 AT
AE 4 B - N B A MR (R A L A]
Wi [e] <5 % -

A B = A A R R A
MEITE BB B R R Ik £

12 Intangible assets (continued)

(a)

()

Impairment test for trademark with an indefinite useful economic life

The Guy Laroche trademark services the Guy Laroche worldwide
operations and is separately identifiable.

The Aquascutum trademark was presented as assets of a disposal
group classified as held for sale in the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2017 and was disposed during
the year ended 31 March 2018 (see note 27).

The recoverable amount of the Guy Laroche trademark is based
on fair value less costs of disposal, estimated using discounted
cash flows method. The valuation was carried out by Ravia as at
31 March 2018. The fair value falls within Level 3 of the three-level
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement (see
note 11(b)(i)), based on the inputs in the valuation technique used.

Management believes that any reasonably possible change in the
key assumptions on which the recoverable amount measurement
is based would not cause the carrying amount to exceed its
recoverable amount.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements:

The valuation technique is discounted cash flows method. The

AT BRI R major unobservable inputs are as follows:
[ Guy Laroche ] 7 B2
Guy Laroche trademark
2018 2017
AL ey o B 1 B R Risk-adjusted discount rate 12% 129
KA HE = Terminal growth rate 0% 0%
T BN HE 2 Y R Expected royalty charge rate 8% 8%

R AR R R R B % L O 8t
ez EAME K AMER LEFH
A HE 22 308 = % - T 2 48 el By R B
S B A Ty R T RE T 2 A 2 AR B
B0 REF- 39 A

Management determined the terminal growth rate and expected
royalty charge rate based on the past performance and its
expectations on market development. The risk-adjusted discount
rate used is the risk-adjusted weighted average cost of capital of
the licensing industry.
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LB HE 2 ) 46— R BB 2> ) A BB A
— FT W 3 2 R R T S A 2 WO - i %
Wi 2\ AN 545 % 4 3 - R ARE i AR
BREWE T T W% Fot #HEHE
21 WA B B A A PR AT RS AR
Sl AR 45 B R 565 1(h) JH 22 6w EUR > 3% A
IERCRIEN ZEiEIN

fl & & @\ B S A {E [ Autoentreprise
GENIVALORME AT fili (8 » H4x 11 5 A ) 24
A YR A (B FH T b B RO B A8 B o R
Th S5 VR E R A B S R4S IR DL AE AT o ]
Wi ] 4 BE TS AR S FUAE W AR DL
BB G o 7 AR B AG R - LSRR
N S AE i T s S A e I AE 1895 M4
A 7 (2 BB 11(b)() ) Br 4t 2
Z AR R MR PR A T R A
VR T A = A e TR AT R
2 ] EB B 1% I (L I #5275 874,000 7T (—
& — L 4F 1 340,000 7T) °

EEIEBMBIB &R Tk TEAR
ATBUER T

13 MR RN 13 Lease premium
2018 2017
$000 $'000
WA Cost:
A4 At the beginning of the year 7,885 8,313
e 5t 3 48 Exchange adjustments 1,330 (428)
R At the end of the year 9,215 7,885
Bl 1 - Accumulated impairment losses:
) At the beginning of the year 1,660 1,400
R 54, 37 % Exchange adjustments 327 (80)
ik (E 5 15 Impairment losses 874 340
EE At the end of the year 2,861 1,660
W 1t ¥ AH Net book value:
R At the end of the year 6,354 6,225

Lease premium represents an amount paid by a subsidiary to obtain
the right to lease a property in France. In the event that the subsidiary
vacates the property, the subsidiary would be entitled to sell the right
to the lease to the next tenant. Accordingly, the lease premium is
considered to have an indefinite useful economic life and is carried at
cost less impairment losses in accordance with accounting policy note
1(h).

A valuation of the lease has been performed by an independent valuer,
Autoentreprise GENIVALOR, with recent experience in the location and
category of the lease being valued. The valuation is performed with
reference to the current financial and economic condition. The
recoverable amount is based on fair value less costs of disposal,
estimated using discounted cash flows. The fair value of lease premium
falls within Level 3 of the three-level hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13,
Fair value measurement (see note 11(b)(i), based on the inputs in the
valuation technique use. As a result, an impairment loss of $874,000
(2017: $340,000) was recognised in “other operating expenses”.

The valuation technique is discounted cash flows method. The major
unobservable inputs are as follows:

2018 2017
A% R B 9 R A B R Risk-adjusted discount rate | 4.0% 4.3%
TR H & R &R Expected market rental growth | 0% 0%

B TR AR PR A T R B L BT R 2
HMEEHF T SHEHRE - TAHZ
A% g A R G B A R T 05 2 K8
JeR\ B A R T HE P 34 AR o

Management determined the expected market rental growth based
on the past experience and its expectations on market development.
The risk-adjusted discount rate used is the risk-adjusted weighted
average cost of capital of the leasing industry.
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14 FHE B Z&ER

14 Trading securities

2018 2017
$°000 $000
b T B AR S e A (E Listed equity securities at fair value
(B 5E 25 24(f() ) (note 24(f)(i))
— A Em W —in Hong Kong _ 195
— s A — outside Hong Kong 16,253 -
15 f# 1% 15 Inventories
(a) BEMBRUERNZHFE B : (a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial position
comprise:

2018 2017

$°000 $'000

JEHE R Raw materials 4,731 5,450

e B b Work in progress 954 656

B Finished goods 68,408 69,788

74,093 75,894
(b) TEGRZ B Ol AH w07 B #H (b) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense

AT : and included in profit or loss is as follows:
2018 2017
$’000 $'000
CEFAEZIERM Carrying amount of inventories sold 216,734 355,536
17 & B Write down of inventories 11,885 3,085
A7 B i 33 | Reversal of write-down of inventories (5,390) (32,223)
223,229 327,298
BRI RAEEEE L S ME | The reversal of write-down of inventories made in prior years arose

T B BRI 2 A T 5] BB AR Y T
wF A B (3% n -

16 JE W Bk sk B I fib HE e sk

due to an increase in the estimated realisable value of certain
garments as a result of a change in consumer preferences.

16 Trade and other receivables

2018 2017

$000 $'000

A& WS SR 3K Trade debtors 43,342 39,864
i c B R B A (TSR 16(0)TH)  Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (note 16(b)) (12,536) (10,699)
30,806 29,165

o BT ,EJ’ME e Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 21,573 10,042
JRE W I 2 > ) R IA Amounts due from related companies - 9
o TR Club memberships 750 750
53,129 40,866

%% HoAth 8 Wi 3K A5 3,133,0007T (& —-E4F -
1) DL K G BT & #8 £5750,000 00 (& — &
4 1 750,000 7T) 4h > A [ BT IR IR 2K
Ko G Aty 7 iR TR AT — 4R T i ] Bk e
R K- Qi

87 2017/18 Annual Report

All of the Group’s trade and other receivables, apart from other
receivables of $3,133,000 (2017: $Nil) and club memberships of
$750,000 (2017: $750,000), are expected to be recovered or
recognised as expense within one year.
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16 ME W ik sk B JE fib ME We a3k (a0)

(a) FRE A HT
AR IR B B UOR K (FEA
JFE WA R T B HL Al B WA K AR 4 B 5
Lo BEAT R BT AR < BRI M AT AN T

16 Trade and other receivables (continued)

(a)

Ageing analysis
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade

debtors (which are included in the trade and other receivables),
based on the invoice date and net of allowance for doubtful debts,

is as follows:

2018 2017

$’000 $'000

— @ H N Within 1 month 22,710 22,849
— A\ A L Bl A LA Over 1 month but within 2 months 2,381 2,751
“MMAMUEE=ZMAMRKN Over 2 months but within 3 months 983 2,110
HoE = H Over 3 months 4,732 1,455
30,806 29,165

JRE WS R 7E 3R B H AR A9 30 2 90 H
N E S A B R 2
W % O BT R 5 24(a) A -

(b) WG %k Z 0 1
A T i B R 2 TRk (R M 4R PR
He 7 DL RD B o B IE AR 4 AR 15 i )
W AKIE 2 ] e MR AR > UL
TR (e T R A R R b B (2
] A 5 55 1)) H) -

N BRI 2 B ) (6 R
S B0 R ) T

(b)

Trade debtors are due within 30 days to 90 days from the date
of billing. Details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in note
24(a).

Impairment of trade debtors

Impairment losses in respect of trade debtors are recorded using
an allowance account unless the Group is satisfied that recovery
of the amount is remote, in which case the impairment loss is
written off against trade debtors directly (see note 1j)(i)).

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts during the
year, including both specific and collective loss components, is
as follows:

2018 2017

$°000 $000

i HE ) At the beginning of the year 10,699 10,106

FE b, ] Exchange adjustments 1,646 (557)

e 8 I 1B s 4R Impairment loss recognised 1,726 4,870

CRIEN =K 4E Reversal of impairment loss (1,535) (1,974)

b & N g T o Uncollectible amounts written off - (445)
A EN L E Reclassified to a disposal group classified

FE | as held for sale - (1,301)

TR AR At the end of the year 12,536 10,699

A E - NEZA=Z+—H > A%
H O I BE 3K A 12,536,000 0T (- F
— £ 4 110,699,000 7t ) fifE =& £ 18 Al
WRE o 5% 2R A BT A W(E 2
Wk BB B MBS NS H T AR
P RGBT AN - TE A AT i ] 5% 4R
JEWC R 2 — &y - L > B R 2 4F
E &t HE 3 #5 B 12,536,000 0T ( . F
— L4 : 10,699,000 7C) ©

At 31 March 2018, the Group’s trade debtors of $12,536,000
(2017: $10,699,000) were individually determined to be impaired.
The individually impaired receivables related to customers that
were in financial difficulties and management assessed that only
a portion of the receivables is expected to be recovered.
Consequently, specific allowances for doubtful debts of
$12,536,000 (2017: $10,699,000) were recognised.
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16 ME W Wk =k K 3 b HE W 3k (80 16 Trade and other receivables (continued)

(c) IE J Jif {0 2 JE WL BR % (c) Trade debtors that are not impaired
S 4 R R Bk 42 8 kA A W (E 2 Uk The ageing analysis of trade debtors that are neither individually

AR ZIEE T - nor collectively considered to be impaired are as follows:
2018 2017
$°000 $°000
7 a1 19 8 I (H Neither past due nor impaired 22,559 24,380
i R — (A Less than 1 month past due 2,532 1,137
wmh—E =M\ A 1 to 3 months past due 983 2,400

i A o = H More than 3 months but less than

B+ =8 A 12 months past due 3,469 1,239
a0 A A More than 12 months past due 1,263 9
8,247 4,785
30,806 29,165

8% 4 3 ) B9 (L 2 B ik B R 2
30T 0] R Bk 2 % A B

. 10 {E 91 3 F 2 B i B 2 2
NEFAR ZEREFEALEMZ
R R ok R4 - MM
AR BB RO M E R A ) > HOASBR
A5 A0 A w7 2 i [ ok L g AR
{5 B ZEUE B 45 45 8% 15 Hh BBl (49 Al -

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a
wide range of customers for whom there was no recent history
of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of independent customers that have a good track record
with the Group. Based on past experience, management believes
that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable.

17 B4 R84 %5 MY Kk HfbB 17 Cash and cash equivalents and other cash flow
40w ' R information

(a) HERBHEEHEY B :

(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

2018 2017
$°000 $000
AT ZAE Deposits with banks 126,187 50,038
SRAT A7 3K S B Cash at bank and on hand 118,777 100,466
AR A ORI TR 2 Cash and cash equivalents in
Bl R Bl B Y the consolidated statement of
financial position 244,964 150,504
SRATIE I (M 5E S5 191H) Bank overdrafts (note 19) (10,478) (4,515)
SR B ESE I E AN 2 Cash and cash equivalents of
e kB &5 EY a disposal group classified as
(Bt 5556 27(2) 1) held for sale (note 27(a)) - 23,106
GAEBERERTRZ Cash and cash equivalents in the
Bl R BL4a S EY consolidated cash flow statement 234,486 169,095

Included in the balance of cash and cash equivalents is an amount
of $5,929,000 (2017: $13,521,000) representing Renminbi Yuan
deposits placed with banks in the PRC by the Group. The
remittance of these funds out of the PRC is subject to the
exchange controls imposed by the PRC government.

AR RBEEEEDNE GE
¥ %5,929,000C ( — & — L 4
13,521,000 7C) » /b A< 4 [ 7 v [ 5%
AR AT AF N R WA R e G
B 4 ME BT Ak JH B ST b B BN
Jits Jim £ A1 BEE 4 ) o
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17 & KB & 5EY X3 17 Cash and cash equivalents and other cash flow

W EEH (8) information (continued)
(b) % I BE B 52 (5 18) i B A A8 (b) Reconciliation of profit/(loss) before taxation to cash (used in)/
HEHFH),  EEZHE generated from operations:
Wt 5k 2018 2017
Note $°000 $°000
W B i 36 A (ks 48) Profit/(loss) before taxation 156,024 (97,640)
FIREIEH - Adjustments for:
FLE A Interest income 5 (4,051) (155)
Eigg sz BB KA Dividend income from listed securities 5 @) (10)
ALY BB K Net loss on disposal of other property,

B 2 e 18 plant and equipment 5 1,873 739
B B A w2 i A T R Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries 27(b) (220,790) _
HEREWEZ I Net gain on disposal of an investment

e property 10 (4,378) -
HEFRENRZE S Net loss on disposal of trading

I 15 V% AR securities 5 14 141
FEEH®RZE S EE Net unrealised gain on trading

Z R 5 B 45 securities 5 (51) (49)
il B A Finance costs 6(a) 86 515
I8 Depreciation 8(c) 9,845 22 483
&G W) S AG (I o T BE Net valuation gains on investment

properties 11(a) (3,770) (7,400)
HAl 2 - W m Kk 2 Impairment loss on other property,

RN, F=| plant and equipment 6(c) - 4,482
B HE A 2 WM e 18 Impairment loss on lease premium 8(c) 874 340
BEE 58, (i #) /s 48 Foreign exchange (gain)/loss (3,054) 11,130

R A Changes in working capital:
17 & Wb Decrease in inventories 45,927 60,179
4 e 4 T LAY 3R D Decrease in rental deposits and
prepayments 8,900 7,447
JRE AT B R (B ) b (Increase)/decrease in trade debtors (3,263) 5,401
e 4~ TE AT B R H A R Decrease in deposits, prepayments

W R and other receivables 15,324 17,803

JRE iz B 2 ) ECIE e D Decrease in amounts due from related

companies 9 1
JOE AT B K 8 (il 72) Increase/(decrease) in trade creditors 5,763 (14,638)
JE AT SR 4R (D) B (Decrease)/increase in bills payable (3,578) 542
HAth BE A 2K S E & (Decrease)/increase in other payables

(i ) 3 m and accrued charges (33,318) 639
15 4 9 D Decrease in provisions (16,053) _
JRE 5T B 2 2 W] 3K (Decrease)/increase in amounts due

(b)) /1 to related companies (3,797) 544

mamER TR S E L Cash (used in)/generated from
Z W& operations (51,467) 12494
2017/18 4 #
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(B 3 4 Br 15 4F - 2 LI it o€ %1 713~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

171 E RS R MBI 17
9 E R (s

(c) Hi & % B) 7 2k 2 05 3 i B A
A S5 B A RO B TR AR 2 AR B Y
SE > GEBeRFEREEH > O
FUNE T 3% o H T B A R A
BV 2wz £ 5 8 & ROt AR B &
MAEHNGEER R EXRY > &
B 5 T B 2 B -

Cash and cash equivalents and other cash flow
information (continued)

(¢) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the
Group’s consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from
financing activities.

LT A
Bank loans
$°000
(B ik 5519 95)
(Note 19)
HoZ—LA4ENHA—H At 1 April 2017 2112
MEB SN ES Changes from financing cash flows:
B 7 SR AT B K Repayments of bank loans 2,112)
F B Interest paid 86)
il B O A ) AR Total changes from financing cash flows (2,198)
B 5 W) - Other change:
SRAT BB S SRR S (& Interest on bank loans and overdrafts (note 6(a))
%5 6(2) 1H) 86
REZ-NE=ZH=+—H At 31 March 2018 -
18 HE £ Wk 3% K JC fib HE £ 5k 18 Trade and other payables
2018 2017
$000 $'000
JE Ao 22 4% Bills payable 1,602 5180
JBE A+ R K Trade creditors 24,956 15,686
26,558 20,866
HAth E A5 2 S A Other payables and accrued charges 52,452 87,138
JRE AT B 73 2 W) KA Amounts due to related companies 814 4,581
79,824 112,585

Jv A B A R B KL At IR AT TR A R —
A fE R o

B ARF SR 5K B B A S5 9 (L 436 7 B ST IR A %
At AT 3R ) B AR R R 2 R
S H AT

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled within
one year.

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade
creditors and bills payable (which are included in trade and other
payables), based on the invoice date, is as follows:

2018 2017

$°000 $'000

—f@H N Within 1 month 15,913 15,716
—f# AL EE=M A UK Over 1 month but within 3 months 8,183 2,615
=M H L EHESNMA RN Over 3 months but within 6 months 1,223 1,435
S A Over 6 months 1,239 1,100
26,558 20,866
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(B 73 4 Br 15 4 - # LI JE %1 78~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

B AT £k BB X

WE T NER LN
b H R AR R SR AT YK BB X
e

19

Bank loans and overdrafts

At 31 March 2018 and 2017, the bank loans and overdrafts were as
follows:

2018 2017
$000 $000

— A A B A R Repayable within one year or on demand:
$HE 4K 30 19 SR AT 98 (M 3145 17(2)38)  Unsecured bank overdrafts (note 17(a)) 10,478 4,515
S FE 1) SR AT B R Unsecured bank loans - 2112
10,478 6,627

A R R EEEAS
oA S B AT SR AT (5 B8 TR R W0 R
B 94 0 A

b H 3B 4k R

A A5 | T 4% IR s G i BE A wE
B 2 e - 2 R PR A s CIR 0 1 ) B 7
Z AR B #% S T M A 4w (1R RE &
sH# ) o SR Ak 4wt # Uy — T A 2 i EOR IR
FrE B2 ANE S AR A
awt il R E R B A HIR R B A B
A 2 5% I 7% wF & AF A3k 9 A AT Bk
A2 FFR%30,00070 o [ 3% &5 #4E 2 At
Y B B e o

7 o I 58 A T RS 2 B 4 W 2o
B R 2 R B R 2 A OB R
at B o w4 R FOR SATE A R A A0 ER -
1] % w84 2 4330 B g o

— [ 7E & ¥ SL 2 W 8 2~ FAR 4% 5 3 (55
Bl I e ) 2 B — JH B E AR AR AR R B -
EARE RSN NS 2
WMRAEEEGFAEEMZ(EEg
FHHERD 1998 [ I & 45 7 1 B 5% -

HoAb AE A~ b B K B DSk Rk RE R
B3 K0 R ORI 2 B DA 2 R AR 9 AR I A
RE I 2 K - 2008 L BOR 2 B B AE
Z FE B FOR R EE B o 5% 45 4 R0
ST B AR A0 BR o 1 R R B AR 0 2
AT B o

20

As at 31 March 2018 and 2017, the Group’s banking facilities were
not subject to the fulfilment of any financial covenants.

Employee retirement benefits

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined
contribution retirement scheme administered by independent trustees.
Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
$30,000. Contributions to the scheme vest immediately.

Subsidiaries established in the PRC participate in the defined
contribution retirement schemes operated by the PRC government for
employees in the PRC. Contributions to these schemes are charged
to profit or loss when incurred. Contributions to the schemes vest
immediately.

A subsidiary established in Taiwan participates in a defined benefit
retirement plan established in accordance with the local Labour
Standards Law. The scheme is not material to the Group and, therefore,
the disclosures required by HKAS 19, Employee benefits, issued by
the HKICPA have not been presented.

Subsidiaries established in other jurisdictions other than Hong Kong,
PRC and Taiwan participate in the defined contribution retirement
schemes operated by the local government for employees in
accordance with the ruling in the relevant jurisdictions. Contributions
to these schemes are charged to profit or loss when incurred.
Contributions to the schemes vest immediately.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(% 7 4 Br 15 41 - # LI JE 81 78~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

21 A WMBERIEKZ BB 21 Income tax in the consolidated statement of
financial position

(a) A7 & AR UL 36 B s Z A 3 By 15 Bt (a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of financial position

o represents:

2018 2017
$000 $'000

A JE s RS B A Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax

for the year 2,101 2,284

BT 40 7 s R A5 Provisional Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (2,628) (3,166)

(527) (882)
DU AF B 2 & s A5 B Balance of Hong Kong Profits Tax provision
M A B FH relating to prior years 862 52
s LA A b [ Bl TH Y A Provision for tax outside Hong Kong 782 1,830
1,117 1,000
SRR ENBELN  Reclassified to a disposal group classified as
(b 555 27(a) TH) held for sale (note 27(a)) _ (1,224)

B B JE 2N W) (W 3155 27(0) JH)  Disposal of subsidiaries (note 27(b)) (514) _

AW HEAT  (R] 4B [a]) B TH Current tax payable/(recoverable) 603 (224)

B Analysed as follows:

7 19 a] 3B o] Bl T Current tax recoverable (304) (1,259)

A 1 RE AF B I Current tax payable 907 1,035

603 (224)
(b) T 58 A 4 B JH & A A 6 (b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:

() BERLZEAMBRNERHERZIE ()  The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised
GEBLIE (4 ) A E S XA in the consolidated statement of financial position and the
ST movements during the year are as follows:

Al oA
KB YE
Depreciation REEHZ
in excess of ik
the related wfi % Future
depreciation  Revaluation 1 benefit of ¥ ]
EEBEAKH Deferred tax arising from: allowances  of properties Provisions tax losses Total
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
REZF-AFEMA—H A1 Apil2016 (2,950) 4,480 (8,915) (45,859) (53,244)
[ 5. 77 % Exchange adjustments (269) _ 69 2,640 2,440
FEREENL/GEA) Charged/(credited) to profi
(B3t 56 7(0) R) or loss (note 7(a)) 1,836 _ 1,059 (3.797) (902)
AR RSN EAR Reclassiied to a disposal
(B3t 5 27(0) ) group classffied as held for
sale (note 27a)) (2,685) - 4,556 16,765 18,636
WZE—LF=A=1—H At31March2017 (4,068) 4,480 (3.231) (30,251) (33,070)
REF—~LENA—H At 1 April 2017 (4,069) 4,480 (3,231) (30,251) (33,070)
I 5037 % Exchange adjustments 160 - (295) (5,008) (5,141)
FERERGIA) /9% (Credited)/charged to profit or
(W3 5 7(a) ) loss (note 7(a)) 63) - 2,042 (1,759) 1,120
8 A Disposal of subsidiaries (188) - 011) 6,956 5,857
WoF—AEZF=+—H A3t March2018 (#,157) 4480 (1,495) (30,062 (31,234)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(B 73 4 Br 15 4 - # LI JE %1 78~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

21 5 AWM B R ER 2058 (8)

(b) L 58 A8 AT i I E A AR ¢ (AF)

(c)

() WAEEE A MR R

21 Income tax in the consolidated statement of

financial position (continued)

(b)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (continued)

(i)  Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial

position
2018 2017
$000 $000
TE 45 B IR L A Net deferred tax asset recognised in the
W 2 IRICHIIEEE  consolidated statement of financial position
1 (32,964) (35,081)
TEHEA MBI RN Net deferred tax liability recognised in the
MR IRIEBIIE A consolidated statement of financial position
(ER ! 1,730 2,011
(31,234) (33,070)
R Rz VB HE B IE O A (¢c) Deferred tax assets not recognised

WRPE B sE R 1 (q) T 2 & REBUR > A4
9] A% 519 22 5 1B 5 M $R.258,449,00000 (—
Z — L 4F 1 353,992,000 50 ) i 53 & I
SE B TE EEEE o RLE A B OB BS A i W
A Y s 1R OR K AT RE 8 oK R
LB R o A S K A R BL IE i 1R
BRI RIIE R E - KW PN

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(qg), the
Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of
cumulative tax losses of $258,449,000 (2017: $353,992,000) as
it is not probable that future taxable profits against which the
losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax
jurisdictions. The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets
in respect of tax losses, whose expiry dates are:

(d)

2018 2017

$°000 $°000

E_F—NLFET_H In December 2019 1,518 1,372
E_FE EFELT A In December 2020 29,324 30,160
o E 4+ In December 2021 25,550 34,553
TE_FE 4+ H In December 2022 17,311 26,809
R T ZAE+F A In December 2023 23,664 -
R NFET A In December 2026 4,717 4,543
R LA In December 2027 2,145 2,065
o EZ - NE+H A In December 2028 758 -
ERGBEEHR FAEEM Do not expire under current tax legislation 153,462 254,490
258,449 353,992

M GR Z WE AL BT A

W o E—-NEZHA=Z+—H 1
el Il B RN N 3 il e 1}
I 1k 25 %8 74 26,895,000 G ( — % — &
4E 1 54,541,0007C) o B8 AR 28 F] HE 1l
BN NP IV & N
YNNI SR = T I 3 (TR = I N
b | IO A S 1 A T v
UK 7% %5 PR B8 s I i 2 AR B TE I W K
2 A B B TE A & 451,345,000 00 (&
—-E4F 12,727,000 7C) °

(d)

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

At 31 March 2018, temporary differences relating to the
undistributed profits of subsidiaries based in the PRC amounted
to $26,895,000 (2017: $54,541,000). Deferred tax liabilities of
$1,345,000 (2017: $2,727,000) have not been recognised in
respect of the tax that would be payable on the distribution of
these retained profits as the Company controls the dividend policy
of these subsidiaries and it has been determined that it is probable
that profits will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.

2017/18 4 #

94



B % 4R B st
Notes to the Financial Statements
(B 3 4 Br 15 4F - 2 LI it o€ %1 713~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

95

2017/18 Annual Report

A B R VB A R B BB A B
[ Aquascutum ] Bt J§ 24 7] 19 25 2 o1
355 B 45 A 3E27)

WEE-F-=F=ZA=+—HILFE
Ean |l o i /A N Sl i /A
FoAe B 0 SE AT HO A o R
T-tHE=A=+—H FHEN+PH
B B At — E OB A A 0 R AR S

B 5 0K DL 3R A T 23 0% 5 4 o 5 A B A
MAafml - wE2 —F - NE=H=+—H
ILAE R BEE A E AR L EC
BEREREANLNE R IR A FE
T 2 B B2 ) Bt L B 2 TH] B
WARUL R EREEANANER Hh
B Bl ol B A B 2R T A TR A

M IE A 28 7] B Aquascutum ] B J& 28 71 1
Eﬁ)ﬁ?iﬂ’]ﬁ*%’:% I 5E A H (R

—bHEF+-HZF =) BFHTA
ﬁlﬁ A% T I8 4 WA 4
A€ 34T BB T Aquascutum | & 2 7
)&y e

F R b Al g B A A R 5 A R R B B
EFAquascutumH?ﬁ%/Aﬁj WEBHAHE
Wz MmN G A REE PR EWE LA
Gl @ REEUEi %Afiﬁﬁﬁi‘ﬁﬁﬂ’ﬂiﬁ
K BB RS TTREB AW ATHESE
T fE BE A L BE A HR AL EE R B e R
B NEZ S AN FRBIE, HK
N BE T Bk — B R S ol A -

22 WM 22 Provisions
$°000
W oE—LEMA—H At 1 April 2017 | -
B 1 A (B 53 268 27 (o) 1H) Provisions made (note 27(b)) | 136,319
SRR i Provisions utilised ! (16,053)
RoE— A=A E+—H At 31 March 2018 !

120,266

The provisions for the year represented potential PRC customs duties
and indemnity liabilities in relation to the business of the disposed
Aquascutum subsidiaries (see note 27).

During the year ended 31 March 2013, Gongbei Customs initiated a
field audit on one of the subsidiaries of the Company in respect of its
import activities in the PRC. As at 31 March 2017, a certain amount
of provision for PRC customs duties has been made by the management
which was included in “liabilities of a disposal group classified as held
for sale” on the consolidated statement of financial position. During
the year ended 31 March 2018, as the investigation became more
active, management has sought advice from legal professionals and
more provision for PRC customs duties and related charges was made
during the year with reference to the communication between the
Group and Gongbei Customs, the status of the investigation and advice
from legal professionals.

According to the disposal agreement entered into between the
Company and the purchaser of the disposed Aquascutum subsidiaries,
a contractual indemnity was provided to the purchaser of the disposed
Aquascutum subsidiaries if certain events occur within an expiry date
of eighteen months from the completion date i.e. from 23 November
2017.

As the above customs investigation and indemnity liabilities are related
to the business of the disposed Aquascutum subsidiaries, such
provisions were charged to “net gain on disposal of subsidiaries” on
the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The provisions
were made when reasonably possible losses, additional losses or
ranges of loss are more likely than not and reasonably estimable. Further
provision or releases of provision may be necessary in the future as
developments in such investigation.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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23 e A - Gl M K& B B 23 Capital, reserves and dividends
(a) HE 25 78 40 52 B (a) Movements in components of equity
AR 2 A AR R P& 1 AR ) The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of
AR A TR r B RE 22 S B SR R A A o each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out in
AN ) 225 AR RE 55 5 1 AR A KAR the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the
KB E W T changes in the Company’s individual components of equity
between the beginning and the end of the year are set out below:
AR A Company
JBe A% 5 A
Share Retained M
Bk capital profits Total
Note $000 $000 $000
BEZ-ANEWA—H Balance at 1 April 2016 383909 822102 1,206,011
WA ) Changes in equity:
AR R R AT IR Loss and total comprehensive income for
the year - (68,256) (68,256)
BEEECHERCMRE Dividends approved and paid in respect of
the previous year 23(b)(i) - (8,293 (8,293)
R-F—-tEZH=+—H Balance at 31 March 2017 and 1 April
R=%—tAENA—H 2017 383,909 745553 1,129,462
RS2 : Changes in equity:
A B 36 R R 2 T R Profit and total comprehensive income for
the year - 152,207 152,207
BEFEECHERD R Dividends approved and paid in respect of
the previous year 23(b)(i) - (16,586) (16,580)
AEECERLC MRS Interim dlividend declared and paid in
respect of the current year 23(0)() - (33,173) (33,173)
AEFECEREC MHRRRE Special dividend declared and paid in
respect of the current year 23(b)0) - (663,455) (663,455)
BRoZ—-NEZN=Z1—H Balance at 31 March 2018 383,909 184 546 568 455
(b) BB (b) Dividends
() AS4F BEHEAL 2 BB AT A 28 | RE 45 ()  Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company
J R S attributable to the year
2018 2017
$°000 $°000
IR S £ ARF o A e 2 o ik Interim dividend declared and paid of 20 cents
B0l (=% — L4 ) (2017: Nil) per ordinary share 33,173 _
O E R R A 4 A S A Special dividend declared and paid of $4
B4 (ZF—-LE 8 (2017: Nil) per ordinary share 663,455 _
ARG AR BB EEDIRAY  Final dividend proposed after the end of the
P 5 4 B 4 15011l reporting period of 50 cents (2017: 10 cents)
(ZF—L 4 Fk1ofl) per ordinary share 82,932 16,586
779,560 16,586
AR EM KA ZERR IR The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting
A D R AR AR A WK A period has not been recognised as a liability at the end of
ERR B B o the reporting period.
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23 AR - Gl R B B (s0)

(b) BB (%)
Y 195 1 2 B = I NN -
5 B AR AG I L (2 48 T it

23 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued)

(b) Dividends (continued)

(i)

Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company
attributable to the previous financial year, approved and paid

e & B A during the year
2018 2017
$°000 $'000
FRM B 2 KR E LM% Final dividend in respect of the previous
I TR QA (8 7 4 1A 26 4t o financial year, approved and paid during
R (Z&F—+t4: the year, of 10 cents (2017: 5 cents)
5 Al) per ordinary share | 16,586 8,293
(c) CEHFEAK (c) Issued share capital
2018 2017
JBe ¥ i
No. of No. of
shares shares
(°'000) $°000 ('000) $'000
CBAT R R IRA Ordinary shares, issued and
Ham: fully paid:
RMA—HE=A=+—H At1Aprland31 March ! 165,864 383,909 165,864 383,909

MR8 A s (2 m R ) 55 136 % - Ay
A 2 2 Sz A T o

W A N A RO R 2
BB HEfFf —BHA — SEAR
KE gk b B e BT A
Py A ) R B L A ] AR R A o

(d) iz PEE R %
() 4N EEfit A
A BE i 0 45 T 5 i Ah 2E S B
B R BT R A 22 BT AT R SO 2 o
B AR E I SR 1D TE T E 2
o F B g A o
(i) B A f A

BC A il A 1 s AR 2 D BR e
F B JF 2 B HE 4 BT S A B AUfE
BEL T WA M HE i < A [ 0 22 o
it 45 AR 0 BT 1 (dl) L B o P &
SR iR B

Al fif M

AL AR e s 2 I E Y A
W FE A 2 T gy
1 A7 2 B o Rk A AR DR B R 1()
TE BT 09 & 51 BOK i -
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(i)

(d)

In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, the ordinary shares of the Company do not have a
par value.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends
as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per
share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally
with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

Nature and purpose of reserves

U

)

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of operations outside Hong Kong. The reserve
is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies
set out in note 1(1).

Capital reserve

Capital reserve represents the difference between the
consideration paid for acquiring non-controlling interest in
a subsidiary of the Company and the amount of interest
acquired. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 1(d).

Revaluation reserve

The revaluation reserve represents the surplus on
revaluation of land and buildings held for own use upon
change of use to investment properties. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies set
out in note 1(g).
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23 B A - fifh B % BB (B0)
(e) T HESIRGEM

0]

N oFE - NE=ZHA=+—H,> B
Fi A AR BT A AN A
AR A IR T AN E B RE SRR N G
i 48 %8 5 184,546,000 T ( & — &
4 1 745,553,000 78) © A AR WA K
H & > o 35 8k R 28 oK 1 Ik B & i
o 50 il (=& — L A 104l >
4 %6 F5 82,932,000 G ( & — L 4F ¢
16,586,000 7G) ([t 51 £ 23(0) H)

B AR B

ALEEREAR L TEAER R
A B ) R A0 AR A A 1 A A R R
R8T 75 At SR By K - AR R 2
Je s e fH DA R 4 5 B A EAT RV
A 7y T SR A [ S R A G A ) i
B # A 2 A 2 o

A S B R MR K A K B LR
A > DL A R B SR [ i DL
AT AR BT R R OK R R
AR B A A 2 b g M B B 2 T A
-y o Sl R E AR O BR O 2 B AL B
AT A

WRARAT S ] A 45 [ 42 R0 05 3 AR
REFE G A AR B LB AR - W
G & - A 2 6 (B 13 A 2
W5 (6045 R B 3R S i 8 DL e e A
AR S HAM BT 30 i R FHERIRIBLE. -
W LB EFHY REEAR G
15 T A7 HE 45 803 9 SR R R BB o

BEFE-NE=ZH=+—H - AEH
FOR T — LA Z RS > HEFR MK
K2 S TR B AR
R MERR B RRZ HR R T RE S
BHUR AT T BOR 2 B S R AR o
BEATORT Y ~ 1) B ORI E A~ AR
AR R R DU D S o

23 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued)

(e)

0

Distributability of reserves

At 31 March 2018, the aggregate amount of reserves available
for distribution to equity shareholders of the Company, as
calculated under the provisions of Part 6 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance was $184,546,000 (2017: $745,553,000).
After the end of the reporting period, the directors proposed a
final dividend of 50 cents (2017: 10 cents) per ordinary share,
amounting to $82,932,000 (2017: $16,586,000) (note 23(b)).

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so
that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to
finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholder
returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings
and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light
of changes in economic conditions.

Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors its capital
structure on the basis of a net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio. For
this purpose, the Group defines net debt as total debt (which
includes interest-bearing loans and borrowings and trade and
other payables) plus unaccrued proposed dividends, less cash
and cash equivalents. Adjusted capital comprises all components
of equity less unaccrued proposed dividends.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group'’s strategy, which
was unchanged from 2017, was to maintain a relatively low net
debt-to-adjusted capital ratio. In order to maintain or adjust the
ratio, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares, return capital to shareholders,
raise new debt financing or sell assets to reduce debt.
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23 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued)

(f) Capital management (continued)

The net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio at 31 March 2018 and 2017
was as follows:

it 1 2018 2017

Note $000 $000
WE A Current liabilities:
— JRE ST R B Al A K — Trade and other payables 18 79,824 112,585
— AT R A L - Bank loans and overdrafts 19 10,478 6,627
T 4 Total debt 90,302 119,212
IR RS Add: Proposed dividends 23(b)() 82,932 16,586
B A s R &% Y Less: Cash and cash equivalents 17(a) (244,964) (150,504)
BewH Net cash (71,730) (14,708)
1 4 AR Total equity 748,649 1,160,863
W IR R Less: Proposed dividends 23(0)(i) (82,932) (16,586)
B AR Adjusted capital 665,717 1,144,277
BEHEGHRERNBEALER Net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio N/A N/A

A w) B FLAT Aoy WY 2 ] A 32 A
VS B i 2 A B R A o

24 R B LS M T A
b i
7 42 ] 76 IF 3 3605 98 B2 P o B4 £
TR A EL Y TN EEE Y D)
DR 7% B B 2 A R D R A 5
P 1B D 8 T TR S A L By

AL W KA B R B o i A S O AR DU
B PO A A A B A B LR

(a)
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Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.

24 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in
the normal course of the Group’s business. The Group is also exposed
to equity price risk arising from its equity investments in other entities
and movements in its own equity share price.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk management
policies and practices used by the Group to manage these risks are
described below.

(a) Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables, non-current rental deposits and prepayments, listed
equity securities and deposits with banks. Management has a
credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit risks are
monitored on an ongoing basis.

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over
a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and current ability to pay,
and take into account information specific to the customer as well
as pertaining to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade debtors are due within 30 days to 90 days from
the date of billing. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral
from customers.
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24 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)

(@)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristics of each customer rather than the industry
or country in which customers operate and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk only arise if the Group has significant
exposure to individual customers. At 31 March 2018 and 2017,
no individual customer with whom balance has exceeded 10%
of the Group’s trade and other receivables.

Non-current rental deposits and prepayments primarily comprise
of amounts receivable from the landlords of retail outlets and
shopping malls with no recent history of material defaults.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristic of each landlord of retail outlets and
shopping malls. The Group has worked with a large number of
landlords of retail outlets and shopping malls and there is no
significant concentration of credit risk.

Investments in equity securities are normally only in liquid securities
quoted on a recognised stock exchange, except where entered
into for long term strategic purposes.

Cash and cash equivalents are deposited with financial institutions
with sound credit ratings to minimise credit exposure.

The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of
any collateral held is represented by the carrying amount of each
financial asset in the consolidated statement of financial position
after deducting any impairment allowance.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s exposure
to credit risk arising from trade and other receivables are set out
in note 16.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for
their own cash management, including the short term investment
of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected cash
demands, subject to approval by the Company’s board when the
borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels of authority. The
Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and
its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash and readily realisable marketable
securities and adequate committed lines of funding from major
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.
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24 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)

(b)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities at
the end of the reporting period of the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the end
of the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can be
required to pay.

HHRMBN B AR B
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
—4E N =ZH=+—H
2% 1% 78 n YR T L
Within 1 year or #4745 Carrying amount
on demand Total at 31 March
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
$°000 $'000 $°000 $'000 $°000 $'000
RAT B Bank loans and
%Y overdrafts 10,478 6,627 10,478 6,627 10,478 6,627
JRE A5t B K Trade creditors 24956 150686 | 24,956 15686 | 24,956 15,686
JRE A 5 45 Bills payable 1,602 5,180 1,602 5,180 1,602 5,180
H: Ath 1 A 2K Other payables and
3 k-3 accrued charges 50,079 87,138 50,079 87,138 52,452 87,138
f i Provisions 120,266 - 120,266 - 120,266 -
JE AT BE 2 Amounts due to related
Ak e companies 814 4,581 814 4,581 814 4,581
208,195 119,212 | 208,195 119,212 | 210,568 119,212

F 5% B

AR 2 AR By R A R AT B
WK B ST o W] B R R AR A Z R B
il A 42 1 R 32 B4 U R M) AR RR -
A AR T B [ G M) R R R] B ] R
fif B K> I B R R B E A K
Bz AR e AR

(c)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from bank loans and
overdrafts. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group
to cash flow interest rate risk. The Group monitors the level of its
fixed rate and variable rate borrowings and manages the
contractual terms of the interest-bearing financial assets and
liabilities. The Group’s interest rate profile as monitored by

AL [ R R DL S AT management is set out below:
() FI AN ()  Interest rate profile
T RFES AL 2 EE R AR The following table details the interest rate profile of the
HHIR A Z R R - Group’s borrowings at the end of the reporting period.
2018 2017
BB AR % BRI R %
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
% $°000 % $’000
W 5 R A 1Y Variable rate borrowings: |
HATE R B X Bank loans and overdrafts 0.58 10,478 1.66

6,627
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24 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (continued)

(i) HBORE b

WoE—-NFE=ZH=+—H>
CHEERCERIE 3 QT E PN
FlRFEHE AT BE 1001 5t B
i w9 B 4R B 2 R B AR
/I I S O U I S
b /1N 470,000 76 (— & — &
R R SEE 2 BR B R -
Tb R B B AR BE s A Y 1
Jin %1 48,0000) © & A HE 5 2 H
fib F 43 4 A B R ORI RO
F+ /T Bl A7 5] 5 8 o

b R I T IR A S
B B 5 AR (B 59 )
PR 3 2 T 7 e 2 JE A
EEETONTI T Y
B AR B T R — I
77 -

(d) SN BR

ALEEW K2 SRR EEARA
BOH A G E A 2 N (B Z 38 5 i JF
VAR B 26 85 2 D) Re B Wi 47) iy B
Z MEWSCHR A~ B AT BR AR S BL B 45 A7 o
51 2k 2H i 2 & W B o0
HEE WO AR & HE -

B us OT B 3G ST 8 - A B RE T
J& T Sk U Y RE R A & A BRI
Sl 78 7 3% 7T #9 S0 B B B o SR
B BLRG RS My > AR AR B I At B N
BE < 5 By 2 Jm B o AR B A Y
KA L A SR A b B AR B
B B A H H A DL ORI i L B
L AE R AE AT 1 A2 /Y K F

AL ARSI DU R R R
Z Uife & WEEHE > SR B A
WonZ AL A E > R T 3k
JeRHE o B 4 2 3 AN T 0 A 4R
2 A S W RAT AT B R AU

(d)

(i) Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2018, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, would have decreased/increased
the Group’s profit after tax and retained profits by
approximately $70,000 (2017: increased/decreased the
Group’s loss after tax and decreased/increased the retained
profits by approximately $48,000). Other components of
consolidated equity would not be affected in response to
the general increase/decrease in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the impact on the
Group’s profit/loss after tax (and retained profits) that would
arise assuming that there is an annualised impact on interest
expense or income of such a change in interest rates. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2017.

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales and
purchases which give rise to receivables, payables and cash
balances that are denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency
other than the functional currency of the operations to which the
transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are
primarily United States dollars (“USD”), Pound Sterling (“GBP”),
Euros, Renminbi Yuan and Japanese Yen.

As the Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”) is pegged to the USD,
management does not expect any significant movements in the
USD/HKD exchange rate and considers the exposure to foreign
currency risk in relation to the USD to be low. However,
management acknowledges that it is exposed to fluctuations in
the exchange rate for other currencies and the Group ensures
that the net exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buying or
selling foreign currencies at spot rates where necessary to address
short-term imbalances.

All the Group’s borrowings are denominated in the functional
currency of the entity taking out the loan or, in the case of the
Group’s entities whose functional currency is HKD, in either HKD
or USD. Given this, management does not expect that there will
be any significant currency risk associated with the Group’s
borrowings.
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24 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)

(d)

Currency risk (continued)

M

Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end
of the reporting period to currency risk arising from
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the entity to which they
relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts of the
exposures are shown in HKD, translated using the spot rate

B3 ME R M T o T SO o il

at the year end date. Differences resulting from the translation

1 A 2 W5 2 W 55 ik 3R 40 0 A of the financial statements of operations outside Hong Kong
EHEzRe T EE 28 into the Group’s presentation currency are excluded.

A A ELAEAE A -

T3 Ah s M B (B ¥ 2 51 )

Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in HKD)

103

e b3 AR HE
United States Pound Bt Renminbi Japanese
Dollars Sterling Euros Yuan Yen
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000  $000  $000
JE W IR 2 B Trade and other
HoAl e i 3k receivables 5124 7967 = 235 | 1,783 571 - 271 - 8512
Bak Cash and cash
HaEED equivalents 40474 6,325 139 198 © 6,093 6,188 = 88,273 98 | 1,418 1,145
JEA R 2 R Trade and other
HAt ATk payables (492) (1,730) - (49) (6,103 (7.838)  (17) (73 (1,189) (1,919
45106 12,562 139 63 1,773 (1,079 | 88,256 1,156 229 7738
(i) UK AT (i)  Sensitivity analysis
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The following table indicates the instantaneous change in
the Group’s profit/loss after tax (and retained profits) that
would arise if foreign exchange rates to which the Group
has significant exposure at the end of the reporting period
had changed at that date, assuming all other risk variables
remained constant. In this respect, it is assumed that the
pegged rates between the HKD and the USD would be
materially unaffected by any changes in movement in value
of the USD against other currencies.
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24 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)

(d) Currency risk (continued)

OB 3 b () (i) Sensitivity analysis (continued)
2018 2017
Az R
w¥m,/ #m,/
(R 5) & (8 2) K
PR 8 % A TR 8 3 A
ZHm/ 28y
(W) (45 Jm)
I R Increase/ fE % Increase/
EFt/  (decrease) R/ (decrease)
(F¥) in profit after (F¥)  inloss after
Increase/ tax and Increase/ tax and
(decrease) increase/ (decrease) decrease/
in foreign (decrease) in in foreign (increase)
exchange retained exchange in retained
rates profits rates profits
% $000 % $000
e g Pound Sterling 5 7 20 12
(5) @ (20) (12)
B ot Euros 5 124 5 54
(5) (124) (6) (64)
INE Renminbi Yuan 5 4,114 5 (58)
(5) (4,414) (5) 58
H [ Japanese Yen 5 21 5 (387)
(5) (21) (5) 387

B3R T A U A B AR R
B S TR AR BOR A M
fial I S Re & Wk (R 2 E /Y
O % A 5 R B 22 ME R 5 4
By T0) 2 AN AR I R B AR i A
s 4B R RE 2 2 BV IRe A DF 2 2 -

B 23 BT B30 AD T BE 2 2
SO R O R B A 4R P
R A7 S A e R B A SR
LINON R W e S A
B8 23 AN 645 1 7 s DA SH 36 B
ZHMBRERBARAEE R
Gl EWMEAEZEE —F
— LR AT R - R AT -

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects on
each of the Group entities’ profit/loss after tax and equity
measured in the respective functional currencies, translated
into HKD at the exchange rate ruling at the end of the
reporting period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign
exchange rates had been applied to re-measure those
financial instruments held by the Group which expose the
Group to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting
period. The analysis excludes differences that would result
from the translation of the financial statements of operations
outside Hong Kong into the Group’s presentation currency.
The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2017.
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(e) J 15 Jm Bz (e) Equity price risk
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The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from listed
equity investments classified as trading securities (see note 14).

The Group’s listed investments are listed on the Stock Exchange.
Decisions to buy or sell trading securities are based on daily
monitoring of the performance of individual securities compared
to that of the Hang Seng Index, Taiwan Capitalisation Weighted
Stock Index and other industry indicators, as well as the Group’s
liquidity needs. The portfolio is diversified in terms of industry
distribution, in accordance with the limits set by the Group.

At 31 March 2018, it is estimated that changes in the relevant
stock market index (for listed investments) with all other variables
held constant, would have increased/decreased the Group’s
profit/loss after tax (and retained profits) as follows:

2018 2017
e Z Rz
m, (W),
(R P) % 3 I K AR E
P B i A i Fl 2
ZWm/ (4 m)
(W 4) B

B B Increase/ A B EFE  (Decrease)/
Y WIm,~ (decrease) % BN, increase

(W A4) in profit (s ) in loss
Increase/ after tax Increase/ after tax
(decrease) and (decrease) and
in the increase/ in the (increase)/
relevant (decrease) relevant decrease
risk  in retained risk in retained
variable profits variable profits
% $°000 % $000
Bt Lt EZ Stock market index in respect
B ¥ : of listed investments:
JIRE 45 % Taiwan Capitalisation
Weighted Stock Index 5 679 N/A N/A
(5) (679) N/A N/A
[ERACE=S 14 Hang Seng Index N/A N/A 5 )
N/A N/A 5) 8

TR 23 A R > BRI AR i
ROA B S 8 s o B H e
TP R R AR AR P R AR A )
IR F A B2 ] T I (R Y
& T E S A SR ) BR AR W A
s 18 (X PR Bk ) W] RE B A0 BRI RE
B MERALEERRABE L
FoE A AR U A B A B T A B
AR BR P T EE AR A B > H — U7 H At 2
BOMMERE AN S o Z M )y iR B T E
—LAF BT 2 M R TR A AT o

The sensitivity analysis indicates the instantaneous change in the
Group’s profit/loss after tax (and retained profits) that would arise
assuming that the changes in the stock market index had occurred
at the end of the reporting period and had been applied to
re-measure those financial instruments held by the Group which
expose the Group to equity price risk at the end of the reporting
period. It is also assumed that the fair values of the Group’s equity
investments would change in accordance with the historical
correlation with the relevant stock market index, and that all other
variables remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same
basis for 2017.
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24 Financial risk management and fair values of

financial instruments (continued)

0

Fair value measurement

M

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
Fair value hierarchy

The fair value of the Group’s financial instruments are
measured at the end of the reporting period on a recurring
basis. The fair value of the trading securities falls within Level
1 of the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS
18, Fair value measurement, based on the inputs used in
the valuation technique (see note 11(b)(i)).

During the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017, there were
no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into
orout of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers
between levels of fair value hierarchy at the end of the
reporting period in which they occur.

Fair values of financial instruments carried at other than fair
value

The amounts due from/to related companies are interest
free and have no fixed terms of repayment. Given these
terms, it is not meaningful to measure its fair value. All other
significant financial assets and liabilities are carried at
amounts not materially different from fair values as at 31
March 2018 and 2017.

25 Commitments

At 31 March 2018, the total future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

A5 SRR AL B
2018 2017

L/E S b S oAt
Properties Others  Properties Others
$°000 $°000 $000 $'000
—AE A Within 1 year 94,152 1,248 178,812 1,044
—HERERER After 1 year but within 5 years 80,031 1,961 145317 1,534
HARAR After 5 years 1,063 - 2,280 -
175,246 3,209 326,409 2,578

AEEBBORHRKEEHBERAZWER
NN A N =R il =l 1 ]
A B — & = AE S N H A RE R A E Y
FAR A - e e BT AT Ak K 249 W 30 7 E -

The Group is the lessee in respect of a number of properties and office
equipment held under operating leases. The leases typically run for an
initial period of one to three years, with an option to renew the lease
upon expiry when all terms are renegotiated.
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(b)

25

26

Commitments (continued)

Certain non-cancellable operating leases in respect of properties
included above are subject to contingent rent payments, which are
charged at amounts varying from 8% to 40% (2017: 6% to 40%) of
the monthly gross takings at the leased premises in excess of the base
rents as determined in the respective lease agreements. The above
disclosures in respect of operating lease commitments for properties
exclude contingent rent payments, which are not committed.

Material related party transactions

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in
these financial statements, the Group entered into the following material
related party transactions.

(a) Transactions with key management personnel

Al members of key management personnel are the directors of
the Company, and their emoluments are disclosed in note 8.

(b) Transactions with and amounts paid to Yangtzekiang Garment
Limited, its subsidiaries and associated companies (“Yangtzekiang
Garment Group”) (certain directors of the Company are collectively

+ # 35 5 [R] R A R VL R 4R ) e AR the controlling shareholders of both the Yangtzekiang Garment
L1 PERE IR R ¢ Group and the Group):

2018 2017

$°000 $'000
il A A T Purchases of garment products 19,757 15,410
B A B M A SE A Rental expense paid and payable on properties 7,429 6,966
B A K e A 4 B Management fees paid and payable 804 804
EAF R REATRE4F P % Building management fees paid and payable 261 288
Migh: A FEFRBELIHBALEBLR

VLR AR SE ) S A 4R ) 2 v RE I OR (G 3%
FOE AR > B P E S5 AR
S ] 2 R A T A B (G g R B i AR R
FA4ATE) o LTl BRI S 14A T T KL E 1Y
PEFHEE N E R GRS TRELS ]
4%0

(c) HEnEEARNFA - HHME LR
kg nm (Ten%l) (&n%E
HaAAEE - ZHELFAMN
35% M di) it —F —LFENLH =
A HE AT 2 58 5 Je SR

Note: As certain directors and their associates are collectively the controlling
shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) of Yangtzekiang Garment Group
and the Group, the above transactions constitute continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The disclosures
required by Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are provided in the section
“Connected transactions” in the Directors’ Report.

(¢) Transactions with and amounts paid to Goldstone Development
Limited, its subsidiaries and associated companies (“Goldstone
Group”) (Goldstone Group was beneficially interested in 35% of
a subsidiary of the Group before 22 September 2017):

2018 2017

$°000 $000

[N o Purchases of leather goods 5,017 17,927
B A B A A B Management fees paid and payable 353 720

BEFRE -l 4 A A T A AR I BN G
F& b AL bk 2 B R b TR
A AATE T B E B 5 A B S 5 - SR
M ey LTS 1 4AT B ERHLE

Note: As Goldstone Group is a connected person of the Group (as defined in the
Listing Rules), the above transactions constitute continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, however, they
are exempt from the disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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26 KB B AL X5 (5)

(d)

A E— A=A = AR

26 Material related party transactions (continued)

(d) Outstanding balances due to related companies as at 31 March

HAFSEBRWT 2018:
2018 2017
$000 $'000
JEAT VLR ACHE B 3K TE > 940 Amounts due to Yangtzekiang
Garment Group, net 814 4,587
JEAST < SR T BRI - TR Amounts due to Goldstone Group, net ! N/A 34

L N T 2 & BR D MR AT R B
KA WA B R R o R —F — L AF
ZH=Z4—H BARITRKER
T 4 A 48 T8 #KCE 43 Al A 15,000 76 K&
34,000 7t » M 7E M 5 27(a) #& 1E 75 &
) A A 2 5 -

27 FAE 4y B AL N

(a)

W oE—LEFE A AH AEE
LS = s E AR A A ([H
J5 D) FT S B ok (D B kD) o B
I AL AR L ERETHE
e A1 TR] 5 g 8 A 4 T 4 B WD
Aquascutum Holdings Limited
(T Aquascutum Holdings]) Z 4= £ %
1A B4 ACAE £ 117,000,000 £ 78
(A #7912,960,000 7t ) ([ & 4 &
HIH ) - Aquascutum Holdings A H:
A RECHE EHBD KRFAEH
[ Aquascutum J i K 2 i 1) 54 8 F1 & 8
ST K Bz 5 R R BE AR B S RN
0 43 0 TR Nk EE R o N S F
— L+ —H 1+ = H %R (2R
270 ) -

RoF—-bEF=A=+—H> FH
i AR R R E A R R EL R L
FF A2 JERE AR B 0 B AR B B
R —-F-LtFE=A=+—Huc
Wi - R F—EFE=A=+—H"
e BB IR DL AR 0 8 AL Y B
A E B A DF RS B T
MR R B R BN EE ] R
AR B AR AR -

The outstanding balances with related companies are
unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand. As at 31
March 2017, amounts due to Yangtzekiang Garment Group
and Goldstone Group of $15,000 and $34,000 respectively
were presented as disposal group held for sale in note 27(a).

27 Disposal group held for sale
(@) On 28 February 2017, the Company entered into a disposal

agreement (the “Disposal Agreement”) with an independent third
party, Shandong Ruyi International Fashion Industry Investment
Holdings Co., Ltd. (the “Purchaser”), pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to sell and the Purchaser has
conditionally agreed to purchase the entire issued share capital
of Aquascutum Holdings Limited (“Aquascutum Holdings”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, at a cash consideration
of US$117,000,000 (approximately $912,960,000) (the
“Disposal”). Aquascutum Holdings and its subsidiaries (the
“Disposal Group”) were engaged in the manufacturing and sales
of products under the “Aquascutum” brand and the intellectual
property rights associated with the brand within the sales of
garments and the licensing of trademarks segments. The Disposal
was completed on 23 November 2017 (see note 27(b)).

As at 31 March 2017, the management assessed that the criteria
for the classification of the disposal group held for sale were fulfilled
prior to 31 March 2017 based on the facts and circumstances
specific to the Disposal. All the assets and liabilities of the Disposal
Group are presented as assets of a disposal group classified as
held for sale and liabilities of a disposal group classified as held
for sale in aggregate in the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2017.
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27 FeAE Ay B0 B AL (s 27 Disposal group held for sale (continued)
DR AERFEFEN R EARN S E K The assets and liabilities of the disposal group classified as held
EER - F—-tE=ZH=+—HBZ for sale are presented separately in the consolidated statement
A6 BEBIR DL R 0 B2 40 iR = of financial position as at 31 March 2017 and the major classes
E—LFEZHA=Zt+—HZOMER of assets and liabilities of the Disposal Group as at 31 March 2017
R0 & R E E XA = are as follows:
A
[6f =3 2017
Note $'000
B BHAESEMBBANEE  Assets of a disposal group classified as
held for sale
HoAb W 2 - W B skt Other property, plant and equipment 11(a) 25,319
Y & Intangible assets 12 345,832
T 4% 4 B FELAS K Rental deposits and prepayments 17,880
0% S0 B IH E A Deferred tax assets 21(b)(i) 20,579
B Inventories 106,684
JARE i B R e JEC At R AT K Trade and other receivables 45,998
A 1A AT 4R (R A IH Current tax recoverable 21(a) 117
Bl R BL4a 5 EY Cash and cash equivalents 17(a) 23.106
_ _ _605515
038 B B A A 00 il B AL £ Liabilities of a disposal group classified as
held for sale
JRE AT B B B L Ath R AT 3k Trade and other payables 30,837
A A B IH Current tax payable 21(a) 1,341
I S B TH & AR Deferred tax liabilities 21(0)(i) 1,943
___ s
HERBREESEN G AR Net assets directly associated with the disposal
¥ group held for sale 562,394
fE: E_F—tF=HA=+—H > HFHH Note: Asat 31 March 2017 there was a cumulative foreign currency translation loss
AL ARG 2541 BE He 5 ks 1H 22,084,000 of $22,034,000 recognised in other comprehensive income relating to the
WG HAh 4 Al f5 RAERE AR © Disposal Group.
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27 F¢ M4 80 B AL () 27 Disposal group held for sale (continued)
(b) HiE M A A (b) Disposal of subsidiaries

2B M s 27@IE N> 25 E R As set out in note 27(a), the Disposal was completed on 23
F—LiFEr+—H T =ZH%W- % November 2017. The consideration in the aggregate amount of
18 44 %8 5 117,000,000 3 76 (A 5 7 US$117,000,000 (approximately $912,960,000) has been fully
#1912,960,000% Jo) £ &= % i H 77 LU paid in cash by the Purchaser to the Company.
B AT ARAT -
v B AL R E R B E AR The assets and liabilities of the Disposal Group as at the date of

the Disposal were as follows:

Wi 5 2018
Note $°000
oAy 2 - WS Bk i Other property, plant and equipment 25,429
I Intangible assets 345,832
T 48 ¥ 4 B AT 3K Rental deposits and prepayments 8,126
R I B IE K Deferred tax assets 26,231
ety Inventories 90,163
JRE iz B 3 B Al R Wi 3K Trade and other receivables 63,493
A 3 TR [T B A Current tax recoverable 21(a) 386
B kB a5 EY Cash and cash equivalents 15,259
e A R 3K B Ath e A 3K Trade and other payables (44,766)
A% HA I A B IR Current tax payable 21(a) (900)
8 S B IE B fE Deferred tax liabilities (1,738)
A 2 8 0k N R Net identifiable assets disposed of 527,515
B RF 38 0] £ 1 Release of reserves upon disposal 24,104
th 6 IRF 8 B o A% 3R Vs Realisation of unrealised profits upon disposal (7,605)
R SR A 2 A A Other costs directly attributable to the Disposal 11,837
1A Provisions 22 136,319
H B B N T 2 0 g TR AE Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries 220,790
LB 45 32 AT Satisfied by cash 912,960
el RN AN Rt T e iy An analysis of the net cash inflow in respect of the disposal of
L1 N subsidiaries is as follow:
2018
$°000
O IR 2 A48 - DL B 4 S A Consideration received, satisfied by cash 912,960
I ERN B S KB &5 ED Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (15,259)
897,701
HIZERE® S EIEL R Z Other costs directly attributable to the Disposal
HoAth % A< charged as expenses (11,837)
FEAEE B E AR 4 W2 H 4 & Netinflow of cash and cash equivalents included
Bl EY 2 F A () in cash flows from investing activities (Note) 885,864
Mtz - 2 - F—-tHFE=A=+—H  A%EH Note: As at 31 March 2017, a deposit of $38,800,000 was received and included
£ i B 4 4 38,800,000 ¥k ot M A R & in cash flows from investing activities.
I W) A B AU e
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28 2 W) i W R B R

28 Company-level statement of financial position

Bt E 2018 2017
Note $000 $000
I Ui 8 ¥ A Non-current assets
Wi} Jag 2 W) B 4 Interests in subsidiaries 290,063 978,135
iR A T 15 B Deferred tax assets 10 14
290,073 978,149
i B ¥ Current assets
EHEH &5 Trading securities - 195
At 18 Wi K Other receivables 4,075 768
JRE Wi T Ja 2~ ) I Amounts due from subsidiaries 270,820 185,022
A< ) ] AR [5] B Current tax recoverable - 110
BB EEHY Cash and cash equivalents 162,843 69,467
437,738 256,462
i By 814 Current liabilities
At JBE AT 3K Other payables 103,487 49,756
JEE A WY Ja 2 ] I Amounts due to subsidiaries 55,835 53281
AT H K Bank loans _ 2112
A ] A B IE Current tax payable 34 _
159,356 105,149
W) o A VA Net current assets 278,382 151,313
¥ 3 fiL NET ASSETS 568,455 1,129,462
I8 7S B ik CAPITAL AND RESERVE 23(a)
A Share capital 383,909 383,909
A Reserve 184,546 745,553
B 2 40 TOTAL EQUITY 568,455 1,129,462

HEHERER T /EANA L%

Be 5 HE 2 A
Btk %

£
JH B i 2

—_—— — — —
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LR S F K F N R E N 29 Non-adjusting event after the reporting period
R R 2 4% > A4 B BB L SR = U Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Group entered into
F1 o7 N R EE W ek B A S U HE B o a provisional sale and purchase agreement with an independent third
S 28k A E M — M T XM party for the sale of an industrial premise, Unit No. 4, 6/F., No. 28 Ng
{5 %5 10,880,000 7T » L i B AN AT 4B % 4% Fong Street, San Po Kong, Kowloon, Hong Kong, at a consideration
41,088,000 JC ° THFF A% it — & — N4 L of $10,880,000. A non-refundable deposit of $1,088,000 has been
S RVANE I Al (A T S R T received. The sale is expected to complete on or before 16 July 2018
Wt A A EE®RE —F— /NEFEL and a gain on disposal is expected to be recognised by the Group in
A= B LS| 0 A 8 B R m i the Group’s interim financial report for the six months ending 30
B AR September 2018.

30 A R AEERA 30 Immediate and ultimate controlling party
MR F—NF=ZH=T—H > EHZL At 31 March 2018, the directors consider the immediate and ultimate
A AR KA KRN E B controlling party of the Group to be Chan Family Investment Corporation
Chan Family Investment Corporation Limited, which is incorporated in the Cayman Islands.

Limited » 7% B 2 B & 5E M a2 -

31 OHEMMEMAE®E -F— )\ 31 Possible impact of amendments, new standards
EZH=EZ2t+—-HILEEERZ and interpretations issued but not yet effective
CEIRE R YD &S AR AW for the year ended 31 March 2018
2
BEARMBF SR TIEE A & esim Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has
o A 2 A ET R HE R o R issued a number of amendments, new standards and interpretations
R RO ER M R B E —F— N which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 March 2018 and
FEZAZF—HIEFEEES IFRRAR which have not been adopted in these financial statements. These
o B 3 B A o A BR B T R R HE R include the following which may be relevant to the Group.

T BEALERMARMZIEE -
Effective for
RN R P ] accounting periods
BH e 080 8 sl 300 ) A 3 beginning on or after
BB R ENEIN 2M LA “H—N\4E—H—H0 HKFRS9, Financial instruments 1 January 2018
BTG ERE 1598 KFHEKEF ~&F— N4~ —H HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with 1 January 2018
Bl 3L 6 4 0 JA customers
BB 28 (B3 s R —F—/\UE—H—H  Amendments to HKFRS 2, Shared-based 1 January 2018
R TG 17 G payment: Classification and measurement
of share-based payment transactions
Fil st A4 (BT REYE:  —F—/\4E—H—H Amendmentsto HKAS 40, Investment 1 January 2018
HAREY ¥ property: Transfers of investment property
i (BT RERBR e a8, —F— NE—H—H HK(FRIC) 22, Foreign currency transactions 1 January 2018
S R R and advance consideration
Bl MO R 698 & “E—JUE—~H—H HKFRS 16, Leases 1 January 2019
Al (PR A R A6 %20 —F—LFE—H—H HK(FRIC) 23, Uncertainty over income tax 1 January 2019

I I A I E

treatments
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EZH=1+—HILEEERZ
5 5T ~ 0 v R R 5 RE VT ORE W O
25 ()

A AE 1B BLIE BT Al S B AT - e I
T T A0 IR A T BT EE AR 2 R0 B o B B
AR [ gk B S0 R A9 e J) AT RE AR
AMBEHREMREREE - E- L AR
TERE M A B BN B R A e R A
i SV i o E R 9 SR I A s B S ik
e Q1) 5515 5% /9 7 Al 2O B05E 8 e R
o 4y SE BN YA R T A AR AT AT A
(9 R - PR L BEL RO BR A Y R R R R
BT HE AN A > ) 25 BR AR e LB AR
LEHBE _F - NFEIHA =+ A IEAME
Y o S B B S R B At R
B S WINGIN G o i R )
1538 07 5> B & % 0 Q0 A R R
w0 B A o

EBMBRELNFN AT A

A U BB i YR R SR o R A I B AT A
B & Al TR 2 A e etk e SR 30 8% 2
Al TR R R AL o T W BB R T
HISE Q5% I AT % & Bl & & 7 A 51 i
ZHBLE > G O R W R K
WeEste B —E > ERFEHERES)
HiE2 T HlM B HRGENEIORA A F
e g w5 30 BE Hh B TR Y e R
T e R AN B B B 20 BUR R R A9 A B
BLE »

A B O QIR & — LA
— A — H B AR Bt 2 4 A PR A -
AR B A PR G A bR R I
A ZF — AR H — B2 HE g A
5 il AT AT A0 9 AR

ERUBREEREIGR FFEHUA
A U B 5 i e ) S5 R S T — R e
A H AR Z AR -
F 5 o E S5 B OB A Z i A
HE QI i g A E R A8 B A S (W3
55 T M dR I RS BT A 2 M N) e T
EE Rt SR E A A GT W &k
aRWA Z g Ik -

HRARIZ 5 5€ MU FFAG > A 58 B 2 FF AR
AR R A o S A R R R E AR R
R

and interpretations issued but not yet effective
for the year ended 31 March 2018 (continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these amendments, new standards and interpretations is
expected to be in the period of initial application. So far the Group has
identified some aspects of the new standards which may have a
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements. Further
details of the expected impacts are discussed below. While the
assessment has been substantially completed for HKFRS 9 and HKFRS
15, the actual impacts upon the initial adoption of the standards may
differ as the assessment completed to date is based on the information
currently available to the Group, and further impacts may be identified
before the standards are initially applied in the Group’s interim financial
report for the six months ending 30 September 2018. The Group may
also change its accounting policy elections, including the transition
options, until the standards are initially applied in that financial report.

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments

HKFRS 9 will replace the current standard on accounting for financial
instruments, HKAS 39, Financial instruments: Recognition and
measurement. HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for classification
and measurement of financial assets, including the measurement of
impairment for financial assets and hedge accounting. On the other
hand, HKFRS 9 incorporates without substantive changes the
requirements of HKAS 39 for recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments and the classification and measurement of financial
liabilities.

HKFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2018 on a retrospective basis. The Group plans to use the exemption
from restating comparative information and will recognise any transition
adjustments against the opening balance of equity at 1 April 2018.

HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers

HKFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for recognising
revenue from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will replace the
existing revenue standards, HKAS 18, Revenue, which covers revenue
arising from sale of goods and rendering of services, and HKAS 11,
Construction contracts, which specifies the accounting for revenue
from construction contracts.

Based on the assessment completed to date, the Group has assessed
that the new revenue standard is not likely to have a significant impact
on how it recognises revenue.
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31 Possible impact of amendments, new standards

and interpretations issued but not yet effective
for the year ended 31 March 2018 (continued)

HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

The Group plans to elect to use the cumulative effect transition method
for the adoption of HKFRS 15 and will recognise the cumulative effect
of initial application as an adjustment to the opening balance of equity
at 1 April 2018. As allowed by HKFRS 15, the Group plans to apply
the new requirements only to contracts that are not completed before
1 April 2018. The Group expects that the transition adjustment to be
made upon the initial adoption of HKFRS 15 will not be material.
However, the expected changes in accounting policies as described
above could have a material impact on the Group’s financial results
from 2018 onwards.

HKFRS 16, Leases

As disclosed in note 1(i), currently the Group classifies leases into
finance leases and operating leases and accounts for the lease
arrangements differently, depending on the classification of the lease.
The Group enters into some leases as the lessor and others as the
lessee.

HKFRS 16 is not expected to impact significantly on the way that
lessors account for their rights and obligations under a lease. However,
once HKFRS 16 is adopted, lessees will no longer distinguish between
finance leases and operating leases. Instead, subject to practical
expedients, lessees will account for all leases in a similar way to current
finance lease accounting, i.e. at the commencement date of the lease
the lessee will recognise and measure a lease liability at the present
value of the minimum future lease payments and will recognise a
corresponding “right-of-use” asset. After initial recognition of this asset
and liability, the lessee will recognise interest expense accrued on the
outstanding balance of the lease liability, and the depreciation of the
right-of-use asset, instead of the current policy of recognising rental
expenses incurred under operating leases on a systematic basis over
the lease term. As a practical expedient, the lessee can elect not to
apply this accounting model to short-term leases (i.e. where the lease
term is 12 months or less) and to leases of low-value assets, in which
case the rental expenses would continue to be recognised on a
systematic basis over the lease term.
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and interpretations issued but not yet effective
for the year ended 31 March 2018 (continued)

HKFRS 16, Leases (continued)

HKFRS 16 will primarily affect the Group’s accounting as a lessee of
leases for other properties, plant and equipment which are currently
classified as operating leases. The application of the new accounting
model is expected to lead to an increase in both assets and liabilities
and to impact on the timing of the expense recognition in the statement
of profit or loss over the period of the lease. As disclosed in note 25,
at 31 March 2018 the Group’s future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases amount to $175,246,000 and
$3,209,000 for properties and other assets respectively. Some of these
amounts may therefore need to be recognised as lease liabilities, with
corresponding right-of-use assets, once HKFRS 16 is adopted. The
Group will need to perform a more detailed analysis to determine the
amounts of new assets and liabilities arising from operating lease
commitments on adoption of HKFRS 16, after taking into account the
applicability of the practical expedient and adjusting for any leases
entered into or terminated between now and the adoption of HKFRS
16 and the effects of discounting.

HKFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2019. The standard offers different transition options and practical
expedients, including the practical expedient to grandfather the
previous assessment of which existing arrangements are, or contain,
leases. If this practical expedient is chosen, the Group will apply the
new definition of a lease in HKFRS 16 only to contracts that are entered
into on or after the date of initial application. If the practical expedient
is not chosen, the Group will need to reassess all of its decisions about
which existing contracts are, or contain, leases, using the new definition.
Depending on whether the Group elects to adopt the standard
retrospectively or follow a modified retrospective method of recognising
a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of equity at the
date of initial application, the Group may or may not need to restate
comparative information for any changes in accounting resulting from
the reassessment.

The Group has not yet decided whether it will choose to take advantage
of any practical expedient, and which transition approach to be taken.
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TEWMBE XA
Principal Subsidiaries
W ZFE—/NF=ZH =+ — H At31 March 2018

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group. The class
of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

All of these are controlled subsidiaries as defined under note 1(d) and
have been consolidated into the Group’s financial statements.

g eRT Kk B AR
. B 558 8008 B A B R A%
Place of incorporation/ Particulars  Percentage of
A 4R establishment and of issued and ownership  FEEH
Name of company business paid up capital interest  Principal activities
B MREA R AR &k 10,000 shares 100 gk REE
Michel René Limited Hong Kong Garment wholesaling and retailing
RILIH A PR F ik 2 shares 100 4R EHE M R A R T
YGM Marketing Limited Hong Kong Investment holding, and garment
wholesaling and retailing
YGM Apparel Hong Kong Limited R 2 shares 100 mWORHME KL E
Hong Kong Garment wholesaling and retailing
YGM Asset Management Limited R 2 shares 100 WERERWEHRE
Hong Kong Property investment and property
leasing
YGM 17 35 4 Ji& (L) A B2 w) # 1R 100,000 shares 100 BMAKEE
YGM Marketing (Macau) Limited * Macau Garment retailing
1% VL7 1R B A B W ik 2 shares 100 AR
YGM Clothing International Limited Hong Kong Garment wholesaling
Pi ¥ L8 3E A Ry ) wesress e AR S A B US$1,000,000 100 AUARHEE R EFE
YGM Trading Company Limited ###### The PRC Garment wholesaling and retailing
fi B (L) 0 B A R ) e SiE IN=E i US$1,000,000 100 g EE REE

YGM Marketing (Shanghai) The PRC
Company Limited ###/##
Michel René Enterprises Limited e i A B
** British Virgin Islands
Luk Hop Garments Limited # ik
Hong Kong
Squash International Limited # s
Hong Kong
W7 B A PRA T i
Far East Gate Limited * Hong Kong
T AR AT ik
Parahood Limited * Hong Kong
Trothy Company Limited * ik
Hong Kong
BHLLREARA A" i
Hong Kong Security Systems Limited*  Hong Kong
Ttk 2 2 LR A R A ik

Hong Kong Security Printing Limited* ~ Hong Kong

AR BRI PR W] ¢ &
NF Systems Holding Limited * Hong Kong

Garment wholesaling and retailing

50,000 shares 68 MKHBEREFE
Garment wholesaling and retailing
2 shares 100 WEZE
*10 shares Property investment
2 shares 100 WEEE
Property investment
60,600,000 shares 99  WEHE
Property investment
6,000 shares 80 WEHRE
Property investment
10,000 shares 100 WEKE
Property investment
2 shares 100 fEEER
Investment holding
100 shares 100 ZARHR - — R EDH L EE
BRI 7E i B A% TR

Provision of security printing, general
business printing and trading of
printing products and investment
holding

100,000 shares 95 HEER
Investment holding
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Principal Subsidiaries

o E— N4 = H = | — H At 31 March 2018

b S CET Kk Bif MR
DO B 58 Mo B0 e AR A%
Place of incorporation/ Particulars  Percentage of
RS establishment and of issued and ownership EEEH
Name of company business paid up capital interest  Principal activities
RS ARA A & 1 share 95 R RE TR R 2B
NF Systems Limited * Hong Kong Development of authentication and
electronic forgery detection solutions
Société Guy Laroche peE EUR1,239,000 100 HEA BT T R R R A A A At
France Trademark ownership and licensing,
and garment wholesaling
YGM Studio Limited T 21,061,000 shares 100 #HEHER
Hong Kong 46,800,000 Investment holding
shares
YGM Consortium Limited T ik 2 shares 100 HEFEMR
Hong Kong Investment holding

I B AT AR B A 0 R R AR A > (B DL TR & THBR A1

* Ty 0 0 O S I A o

* B A SR REGE B AR -

All the issued share capital represents ordinary shares or registered capital except where noted by:
* Represent non-voting deferred shares.

> Represent non-voting preference shares.

BEAh = A6 R A ¥ 4L 4% 1 Michel René Enterprises Limited ©
In addition, *** represents Michel René Enterprises Limited which operates in Taiwan.

# 63l I by PG € G T A A A R e

# EE PAGTUES & PN T A A R

G & A b e B A (SR i o

# Companies not audited by KPMG.

## The English translation of the companies name are for reference only. The official name of the companies are in Chinese.
i These are wholly-owned investment enterprises registered in the PRC.
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